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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Li Xiaoxuan (Chairman of the Board)
Mr. Zhao Shuai
Mr. Ding Yu

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Mr. Chen Shuo

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Man Chung Francis
Mr. Hu Jianbo
Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Wong Man Chung Francis (Chairman)
Mr. Hu Jianbo
Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson (Chairman)
Mr. Hu Jianbo
Mr. Li Xiaoxuan

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Li Xiaoxuan (Chairman)
Mr. Wong Man Chung Francis
Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Ding Yu
Mr. Zhao Shuai

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. Wong Wai Ling

LEGAL ADVISORS AS TO HONG KONG LAWS

Luk & Partners

In association with Morgan, Lewis & Bockius
Suites 1902-09, 19th Floor

Edinburgh Tower

The Landmark

15 Queen’s Road Central

Central, Hong Kong

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountant
22/F, CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue

Central

Hong Kong

COMPLIANCE ADVISER

Haitong International Capital Limited
8/F Li Po Chun Chambers

189 Des Voeux Road Central

Hong Kong
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REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive, P.0. Box 2681
Grand Cayman, KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN THE PRC

25F, Tower A, Global Trade Center,
No. 36 North 3rd Ring East Road, Dongcheng District,
Beijing, the PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

40th Floor, Sunlight Tower
No0.248 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai
Hong Kong

CAYMAN ISLANDS SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.0. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong
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PRINCIPAL BANKS

China Minsheng Bank

Citibank

Hang Seng Bank

Kunming Guandu Rural Cooperative Bank
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China

INVESTOR RELATIONS

Investor Relations Department

Email: ir@xingaojiao.com

Address: 25F, Tower A, Global Trade Center,

No. 36 North 3rd Ring East Road, Dongcheng District,
Beijing, the PRC

COMPANY’S WEBSITE

http://www.xingaojiao.com

STOCK CODE
2001

DATE OF LISTING
19 April 2017
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Established Yunnan Einsun Computer
Vocational Training Station and is engaged
in computer basic knowledge training and

education, and entered into the private
education industry
BRYIZMEERAGFTERBERINE RS
ARERERABRZIAE BREARH
BETHE

Ping An invested in
the Group
FRBR

Established Yunnan School and was
upgraded from junior college to
undergraduate school in 2011
EMEREI Y HR20MFRERAKAR
B R

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HEI#HimBEEERAR

Group headquarter moved to
Beijing from Yunnan

SEANHEREELR

Established Guizhou School
offering a three-year junior
college program

EMNEBREI RE=ZFHER
wE



Invested in Central China School And finished
the construction of its new campus in 2016

REENERAE F2016FERFTRE

TERREE®
CORPORATE MILESTONE

Invested in Northeast School

RERLER

2017

Listed on the main board of SEHK
ERABRXAERLT

Included as a constituent stock of the Hang Seng
Composite Small Cap Index, Hang Seng Consumer
Goods & Services Index and MSCI China Small Cap
Index for the first time
BRAEMAEBEGRE P EREBRREEHERRE -
REXEHRDBREMSCHBRPENEEBHGR

CONNECT

'ORE OPPORTUNITIES

Invested in Henan School

RETEER

Included as a constituent stock of Hang Seng Stock
Connect Hong Kong Index, with effect on 5 March 2018
BRAAELEBRBIEHKOR  R2018F3A5BEXK

Cooperation in relation to the Gansu College And
planned the construction of its new campus

BEERETRERLBETRE

Invested in Guangxi Schools

REBEAER

2018 ANNUAL REPORT %
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2018 MAJOR EVENTS

Entered into the land use right transfer agreement to acquire the State-owned
land situated within Lanzhou New Development Zone, Gansu Province, with a
total site area of approximately 390,605 sq. m. the establishment of the Gansu
College Campus. The Group plans to construct certain school buildings on the
Land for the establishment of the new campus of Gansu College

YT ERAENESR RO RERE—BUREREMMNTECE ST L
B EENR390605 FHRHARK - AEBEFERZMR ELBEETERET U
BEEHRERFRE

Invested in Henan School
RETHEER

Entered into a facility agreement with a consortium of three banks to obtain
a 5-year term loan facility in the initial principal amount of HK$500 million,
being the 1st Hong Kong listed higher education company successfully obtain
syndicated loan
H-HRTARNVEZEENSESERA-BEAN-FHERME RERRY
HRERBRECER LTS SHAERH

Included as a constituent stock of Hang Seng Stock Connect Hong Kong Index,
with effect on 5 March 2018
BAAELEBREEEEOKR R2018F3A8EX

Received the approval from MOE for the change of school sponsor of the
Northeast School
BNEHEBMEBRLEBRZEREREEF

Entered into a five-year term strategic cooperation agreements, with several
construction companies, which agreed to offer relatively more preferential
commercial terms so that the Group’s investment at the early stage of the
constructions would decrease

HZREEQRATIANIFRERSFHEZ EEQXACERNERHEHEABERE
MEEGRR RMSEAKRERERVBNRER ZATAL TH D

Received the approval from the Department of Education in Henan Province for
the change of school sponsor of the Henan School

METEERERMHERTHERZERERERE

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIHEXEBERAT
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2018 KR E A
2018 MAJOR EVENTS

Cooperation in relation to the Gansu College

BEERETREER

The Draft Implementation Rules for Laws for Promoting Private Education of the
PRC was published by Ministry of Justice of the PRC for public consultation
AENBRB(FEARANBRBUBRER NERMAA (XFER)UMALIR
B2

Invested in Guangxi Schools

RERBER

Henan School Acquisition Closing

AEERR S T K

Announced the total number of enrolled students of the Schools increased
to 93,548 in the 2018/2019 academic year, representing an increase of
approximately 72% as compared to 54,290 in the 2017/2018 academic
year. Average tuition fees are expected to reach RMB9,947, an increase of
approximately 5% as compared to RMB9,492 in last academic year
AH2018/19B F WA ERE ABILINZE93,548 A B2017/2018 28 F 954,290 A
BMK72% FHEBEHRARKL 47T BLE—BFEHARM402THMA
5%

Northeast School Acquisition Closing

RLEBRXZ TR

2018 ANNUAL REPORT %
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FTEBHZKREH
MAJOR STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS ITEMS

BRARE MR IE S E
Total Revenue and Other income and gains Gross Profit
(BBTARY) (BBTARY)
(RMB million) (RMB million)

727

o\®

| ﬁ
2017844 201881 4F 2017814 2018844
FY2017 FY2018 FY2017 FY2018
BETEREHEHFIB KB FET
EBITDA* Adjusted net profit
(BEETARYE) (BEEBTARY)
(RMB million) (RMB million)
285*
439
N

237

2017815 201881 201781 201881
FY2017 FY2018 FY2017 FY2018
FTEHMIFRBEENAN KRBT RBAERE
Excluding the impairment allowance made for prepayment included in other non-current assets

HBRETERREL WG ZE
Excluding listing expenses and foreign exchange gain

10  CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HEI#fSHEEERAT



BHe
Cash
(ABTARE)
(RMB million)

118.6

2017814
FY2017

EEBEXR
Debt asset ratio
MEE BREE

Total liabilities/Total assets

51.0%

4V

2018 L& 20184
2018 1H 2018 2H

MAJOR STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION ITEMS

349.6

201887 £F
FY2018

EEEER (KRE)
Gearing ratio (adjusted)
(BEaBE-FAURR) BREE

(Total liabilities — receipts in advance)/Total assets

2017814
FY2017

49.2%
40.9%
2018 L& 2018 T4
2018 1H 2018 2H

TEUBARNKRER

BEMREFRA
Operating cash inflows
(BBTARY)
(RMB million)

456.7

287.1

2018814
FY2018

EREE HBEERLE
Ratio of interest bearing liabilities/

Total assets
BREE HBREE

Interest bearing liabilities/Total assets

43.5%
27.7%
2018 L5 2018T#45F
2018 1H 2018 2H

2018 ANNUAL REPORT %
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BRA =
SCHOOL NETWORK

" ’*—a-.; e’

EEIFER (EEER) EMNIEBEER
Yunnan Technology and (EMNER)

Business University
(Yunnan School)

Guizhou Technology
and Business Institute
(Guizhou School)

© O

MRBEEEZER (RILER) L R R B B
Harbin Huade University Bz (EFPER)
(Northeast School) Science and

Technology College of
Hubei Minzu University
(Central China School)

(5 7 )

EENERESR CTEER) B 1 32 T K 2 55 4
Luoyang Science and Technology IREk
Vocational College (Henan School) (H&EER)

College Technology
and Engineering
(Gansu College)

ERREERBESR BEARMEZERBERNTER

| RERREEBRBEEENETE (RBEAER)

Guangxi Yinghua International Occupation College,

Guangxi Qinzhou Yinghua International Occupation and Technology School

and Guangxi Yinghua International Occupation Middle School (collectively, Guangxi Schools)

RENETERDAMBRRRETEINIER

The investment in Central China School by the Group is still pending registration with the provincial civil affairs authorities
WEHBRERNESHENMHEZEHRERNERERE

The acquisition of Gansu College is still pending approval for change of school sponsor of Gansu College by the MOE

2018 ANNUAL REPORT %
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TREMES
CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENTS

FEFESHEEERA A
China New Higher Education
Group Limited

SEEAIBA ESEXRE
RYITES

Founder of the Group, Chairman of
the Board and Executive Director

FEH

Li Xiaoxuan

EHNEFLRR
AANBRRESEMAMEURAELS AEBBREF2018
F12A31 0 L WEEBS

2018F  RAKE[ZXRAIEIFUEERNHEBRZ2F a2
T EENE —EFEBE L AMER  EERREAM
HESANIFEYT AMAEEATELEER Bt
H - EATERAREE BHTRES Ko

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present to the Shareholders
the results report of the Group as of 31 December 2018.

2018 was the inaugurated year of “embarking the second-round
of new journey of entrepreneurship” and also the second year of
operation since our listing. With the support of investors and social
communities in nearly two years after listing, we braved the storms,
faced the world and entered the development fast lane with solid
steps.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIHESXEBERAT
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P BREE
BEABRR019F1BAEKH R SEFERIE
BRRNEAET THERBERR[BEIN-Z—H#X
ERRAIEABEBRBIASRER &EFE
REENREL CEBNANEEEL-E2- 20185
EEB-REFEEANARRESERE TE
HBEZR BABLERNKNERS  REELE
BHNEL TP 2018F3F AABEE+=
EEBRARKER EHERE BEHFURER
EREERELBRE BRBENARSZ LBY
HEFSKHBEXENAF EERERRNYT

BE-

BESH SECERZEEM -EM FBEI
WikIm R BEASTREENAREZERR A
ERREERNEREAHBERERIOBA R
VERTHEER BERTRENEEER-

B It [B) B - R P9 FE 0 AR A IMEE B AR B TR R EX
BTRMRY BERNITFERROERTRE
BRY BMRAEBERSERATEAEORS Bitty
RENLETLAR ZoBRTHSHEERANE
EFERNEEES RRTEHUNEAEN R
MNEZEN RRABETEALBERENRRE
BOoREEELCHBED BEAMERBNERF
MR ZRMOE B ERARERIZE - BRTE
ETEBRRNERSZEMNHEER BLERT H
BHNMBEREMEORFE D -

XENMRBHENERRKE B RB\EHIFH
BEE@Q -REBEZRE FEHHRERSSE

BNFRMAEX L MEESHBERATE -
BRIT=ZHIMI+EAEIRERG BEERERE
BERAZEH - LAEZARIKRENS CHERL
ZH (PEHBERMR2035) (AXBEHERE
BRFR) MEmBBEN (BN IERS) ¥
RRHE BERFHEMT —RI[KBHE] B
BTZAMNFNBRER BHSHEE -EUR
EXTREAABEAENTARFEZSN -HE
MEEBRRME AXERH EQEHA - =H
EEME - AHERE-

FTRBEE
CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENTS

Looking back at 2018, the Group completed the change of sponsorship and
consolidation of Henan School and Northeast School, performed the commitments
that we had made to the investors at the beginning of the year. Subsequently,
the consolidation of Guangxi Schools was completed in early January 2019. As
the leader of our business extension, we proved that the development method
was feasible. Another significant event was, the Group was included in the
Hang Seng Stock Connect Hong Kong Index, which is another milestone of our
development in expanding the investor spectrum and make the Group more well
known. In 2018, we reinitiated the public-private cooperation with a leading
public university and developed Gansu College, which made it another successful
project in developing independent colleges while consolidating the Group’s
advantages in this sector. In March 2018, | was elected as the representative
of the 13th National Congress. | addressed my statement in proposing poverty
relief through education, vocational education and revision of law for promoting
private education. | called on more equitable and higher quality development
in propelling education industry under the new era at the National People’s
Congress that was concluded recently.

As of today, the Group has completed its university layout in over seven
provinces and autonomous regions including Yunnan, Guizhou, Heilongjiang,
Hubei, Henan, Gansu and Guangxi. For the first time, the number of enrolled
students of the school we self-built and invested, had exceeded 100,000, Our
target was well achieved and stable performance growth had been realized.

Meanwhile, the organic and expansion works that we made had also achieved
expected results, precipitated solid momentum for our future sustainable
development. We are a Hong Kong listed company with the broadest coverage
in terms of provinces and geographic regions among the education sector,
which fully demonstrates the strong cross-region replication and management
advantages as well as the outstanding integration capability of the Group.
Our strengths are possessing firm commitment to developing universities by
focusing on applied sciences, giving full play of the advantages of collectivized
school operation, and quickly replicating our matured practices and successful
experiences in education and management to the entire nation, realizing
resources sharing and synergetic development of the schools under the Group
and gradually forming the education brand and core competitiveness of the
Group.

Supporting and regulating private sectors in initiating education by the
government is the clear orientation of the future policy. From a macroeconomic
standpoint, there is still a huge demand for private higher education in China,
albeit local government investments in higher education are insufficient.
Regarding the 13th and 14th Five-Year Plans, there is still a long way to go
towards meeting the goals. It is especially encouraging that according to the
Education Modernization in China in 2035, the Reform Implementation Plan of
National Vocational Education and the Government Work Report delivered by
Premier Li Kegiang, China will initiate “significant actions” on private education
and vocational education. These favorable policies that released match the
development direction of China New Higher Education Group, in which we has
already been focusing on applied vocational education. For the development of
private education, the policy is clearer, the environment is more friendly while
the expectations are more specific.

2018 ANNUAL REPORT %
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FTRBESE
CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENTS

RERK EMAKEIRNBEARMZ2EREHE
BELSESHAEREREIEANEREHARAR
EHBANERER BETETSONE 5—HH
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REZER RMREER - HE-RME =A
MEBE ZBHERBERA - EREAE Hit
WHENEFER

RE BRMFERURREQDVNKRRER  FH
AskERGREAREL RA-—ESHBREHSE
FHBEAN BEURRAERF BRENER-

FENSHEERRAT
2

FEH

2019538 29H

Looking forward, on one hand, we will focus on expanding our national network
layout and continue to conduct investments, mergers and acquisitions and self
establishment of schools in key regions in higher education that has enormous
growth potential in order to increase our market share. On the other hand,
we will improve the quality and conduct expansion by focusing on higher
vocational education. We will firmly concentrate on the objectives such as key
scientific disciplines, social recognition, students’ satisfaction and high-quality
employment, improve students’ intrinsic experience, develop leading faculty
teams and enhance school reputation, striving to achieve simultaneous growth in
terms of tuition fees, number of enrolled students and other income.

Finally, we hope shareholders are confident about the Company’s future
development, profit prospects and strategic layout. We will overcome difficulties
and hardships to achieve our targets, striving to create the best and most stable
returns for Shareholders.

China New Higher Education Group Limited
Li Xiaoxuan

Chairman

29 March 2019

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIHEXEBERAT
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EEENWED N
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW
OVERVIEW

The Group is a leading higher education group with leading graduation
employment rate in China. As of 31 December 2018, the Group operated and
invested six higher education institutes in six provinces in mainland China with
nationwide student enroliment coverage. As at 31 December 2018, our students
attended 84 general undergraduate majors and 76 general junior college majors.
Furthermore, the Group has applied to be a joint school sponsor of Gansu
College and is expected to complete its new campus relocation in September
2019.

For 2018/2019 academic year, total student enrollment increased to 93,548
(excluding student enrollment in Gansu College), representing an increase of
72.3% as compared with last academic year, the details of which are set out
in following student enroliment table. For 2018/2019 academic year, Gansu
College student enroliment was about 8,200 and will relocate to the new school
in September 2019,

FEATURES OF APPLIED SCIENCES

The Group strives to help average students to become excellent talents
through our high-quality employment, as we combine our training model with
local development and demands in order to offer students high-quality higher
education focused on applied science in all sectors.

Our course offerings are designed to equip students with practical experience
and readily applicable skills and prepare them for the job market. At the same
time, the Group implements the “three integrations” strategy, namely integrating
into national strategy, regional development and industrial progress. Meanwhile,
the Group will adjust its course offerings from time to time to satisfy changing
market demand. As a result, we outperformed industry peers in terms of
industry-leading graduate employment rates.

2018 ANNUAL REPORT %k
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

2R
2

Schools

EHER

Yunnan School

BEMER

Guizhou School

RIEER

Northeast School

AR &
Status

BE

Self-founded

B

Self-founded

8-
(FA2018FE128
SERBFR)

Investment
(completed in December
2018)

OUR SCHOOLS

EMEEMRRABRR

BENZEEXENXALLCHSREZESRMETF R BEEN
FEHEHAREENMETFEREAER SR

BRNPEN - ERXBARE
The first private undergraduate school in Yunnan Province

A typical model school for national graduate employment by MOE and also the top 50
universities in terms of employment, received first prize of targeted responsibility
assessment for employment awarded by Yunnan Education Department for 9
consecutive years

Provincial advanced unit and civilized campus

2012F R BiE2018/20192 F > EREB1B16,000A > R2018F HE M
BERERERBANERSERR

018F 2EMERRFAEAESHA [ETHHKeE | BE  [FERKEE
BEZE_-ZR

Established in 2012, for the 2018/2019 academic year, the number of student
enrollment had exceeded 16,000, which is the private higher vocational education
college with largest number of student enrollment in Guizhou Province in Guizhou
Province in 2018

[

Awarded the prize of higher vocational education category’s “E-Commerce Skills”
competition and the second prize of “Nursing Skills” in the 2018 National Skills
Competition of vocational colleges

RAKBMEIXERZRAEER DRIR]INWEEES

2018F EBRIEFIBBH A M ANBE TES KT

REIERERRAELRER

To pursue the teaching tradition of “Strict criterion, Solid basic skills” in Harbin
Institute of Technology

The School successfully passed the assessment of the undergraduate teaching
evaluation by MOE in 2018

A leading college in terms of employment rate in Heilongjiang Province

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIHEXREBERAT
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Schools

A FER

Henan School

EAZER

Guangxi School

EEENWEDN
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

AR
Status
RE AEEETHE-—NRBSEBERR
(H2018%F 108
TR PER) 2EEBEFBEEEEREHEEMEAERR
REZ—FAREZTHTHRERZS UWREFEBEFHEAEER B
T ANEBARLEHS
Investment Henan School is the only private institution of higher vocational education

(completed in October 2018)
First batch of pilot schools of national vocational electronic commerce skills in joint
examination

Henan School completed the construction of a new campus within one year after the
investment, so as to satisfy the enrollment demand in the new academic year,
and the number of student enroliment has reached new high

B’E ERSGMNTmE-HNRERSEBERR
(FA2019F1 A
SERBFR) FrEMNitS e EERERAMARBERE —F— K BREEELHES

EABRENESES

BRZAFFERACMARBEAMKEERE T =R SRRERIALE

AEMER
Investment (completed in Guangxi School is the only private institution of higher vocational education in
January 2019) Qinzhou, Guangxi Province

Located in Beibu Gulf Economic Zone, it is a key development region in Guangxi
Zhuang Autonomous Region under the strategy of the “Belt and Road”, with
radiating regional advantage to the ASEAN

The promotion plan of the schools has been included in the “13th Five-Year Plan” for

universities in Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region and has been filed with the
MOE

2018 ANNUAL REPORT %k
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

2R

Schools

e LB

Central China
School

HEER

Gansu College

AR RE
Status

rE

Investment

BE

Investment

FREAIZEIF - R2018/190B FERE AHEBES500A
HMILEBEMARBSBEKREEAEEEZLENSESR
BEBEBELBURTER

MIEBRBEBRBOA THELEEMN - HLESRBETELEEN

Having been established for three years, the number of student enrollment in the
new campus has exceeded 8,500 in the academic year of 2018/19

Central China School is a higher education college supported by Enshi People’s
Government of Hubei Province which targeted at poverty alleviation and training
medical interns

The School possesses the qualifications to grant bachelor’'s degree in medicine

The School is entitled as the advanced unit of students’ ideological and political
work in Hubei Province, advanced unit of college enroliment in Hubei Province

BRI HREERNERE AELS,200A
20186 A MM REER AT N2019F 8 R AFRE
Currently, the number of student enroliment in Gansu College is about 8,200

In June 2018, the School commenced its new campus construction and it will start
in September 2019

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIHEXREBERAT
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EEENWEDN
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

NUMBER OF ENROLLED STUDENTS

BLEBETESSERBEEZEASL —Z5 ZE2E  In order to be admitted for higher education, a student must pass and attain

certain scores in China’s National Higher Education Entrance Examination. Being
institutions of providing higher education services, the respective education

authorities will specify a quota for the number of new students that each of the
Group’s schools may admit each year.

For the academic year of 2018/2019, many institutes under the Group had
reached new record high in terms of the number of students enrolled. The new
student registration and planned utilization are inspiring, which shows their

strengths and reputations as well as more competitive advanced majors in the

local region.
ERE AH
Number of Enrolled Students
g qzﬁfﬁf@
Academic Year " ©

BR Schools 2018/2019 2017/2018
EMER Yunnan School 25,957 21,849
EMERZ Five-year college programs of

T FH KRERRAED Yunnan School %% () 1,798 1,793
EMER Guizhou School 16,828 15,584
RILER Northeast School 9,261 9,355
STREER Henan School 21,167 -
R B RAEe) Central China School %@ 8,584 5,709
[& 7 B2 R M) Guangxi Schools Yot @ 9,953 -
5t Total 93,548 54,290
HEZE Ry Gansu College "t 8,218 -
5t Total 101,766 54,290
KraF - Notes:
Ol AESHAERREREA01720182F - EFERAMBE (1) Five-year college programs refer to Yunnan School has developed the five-year college

FHRIAERRE ZE2ERNE— —HEEFEEESERR
FRETE Wi N20195F R2020F0 A K EEREKE

REBROEMERBEE-

) FEBREAREPERNAOERRBEEHAARRL @)

3) R019FI1BBAKBECESHMEBLERMELTRAKE (3

BEZER-

4 KWBEERERNESHEBPARELTHR/RERNER )
o

(5) BF-REAZTEFIAHHMGE HBFAJNALER. ()

programs since 2017-2018 academic year. Those students will commence their study in
partner schools during the first and second academic years and will commence their study
in Yunnan School and pay tuition fees to Yunnan School from September 2019 and 2020
onwards.

The investment in Central China School by the Group is still pending registration with the
provincial civil affairs authorities.

The Group has obtained all necessary approvals and completed the acquisition of the Guangxi
Schools on 11 January 2019.

The acquisition of Gansu College is still pending approval for change of school sponsor of
Gansu College by the MOE.

An academic year generally starts from September 1 of each calendar year to August 31 of
the following year.
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BEREBER

BTEEY BHERETRAEEBR SFYT
FEENRERNE  HETIYREF(LIBRI%-8% -
FEREREEMT :

TUITION FEE AND ACCOMMODATION FEES

In terms of industry practice, we will adjust tuition fees of different majors each
year according to their demand. The overall average tuition fee increased by
3%-8% annually. The ranges of tuition fee in schools are as follow:

EHER Yunnan School
EMNER Guizhou School
REER Northeast School
RER Henan School
BAER Guangxi School
EHOER Central China School

EEEH EEEEM

Range of Tuition fee Range of Accommodation fee
2018/2019 2017/2018 2018/2019 2017/2018
(AR#&R) (AR#®) (AR®T) (AR#® )
(RMB) (RMB) (RMB) (RMB)
11,000-22,000 11,000-20,000 750-2,800 750-1,200
8,000-9,380 8,000-9,380 1,200-2,200 1,200
17,000-19,000 14,500-16,500 1,100-2,000 800-1,200
4,600-7,800 2,600-7,800 900-1,600 900-1,400
7,000-8,500 6,000-7,500 880-1,350 880-1,350
8,500-19,000 7,500-18,000 1,200 1,200

e

EARNERESSHARE SEUEXRERNE
RERGERBXEENEERE BEURES
BERINBRLOER ZREHER BEHERM
¥ REGHFS BRBELEEBLANERRE-
SEELRRITHRERSE E2RELHER
BIFEKG HBESBETERERFT L BER
EmEARF BRUSEER-

EMPLOYMENT STATUS

As a private higher education institute focused on applied sciences, the
Group uses graduate employment rate as an important criterion to measure
the teaching results. The Group adheres to its core strategy of “promoting
development by employment”. Through the measures of internship practice,
connection between internship and employment as well as cooperation between
universities and enterprises, the Group assures graduates to master necessary
employability. The Group sets up employment offices in Beijing, optimizes the
employment service system in colleges and helps them to develop employment
competitiveness, so as to achieve high-quality employment and sustainable
development.

BELAGESR
Graduate Employment Rate
BZ12A31A
As of 31 December
20184 20174
BR Schools 2018 2017
EFER Yunnan School 98.2% 98.8%
EMER Guizhou School 97.3% 97.2%
RILER Northeast School 93.5% -
EER (S8) Henan School (higher vocational school) 97.2% -

BEXLIHEXEZRABRNEBEEZANEAARIITHF (BE
EEHXERER FHRAXIMEEEZ)NELEHAK
URIERSEFEENBERHFENL R

Graduate employment rate is defined as a rate calculated by dividing the number of students
who are being employed within six months after their graduation (including students who are
being employed in business entities, start their own businesses or pursue further studies) by
the total number of students graduated from school for the relevant academic year.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIHEXREBERAT
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EEENWEDN
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

INTEGRATION OF INDUSTRY AND EDUCATION,
COOPERATION BETWEEN SCHOOLS AND ENTERPRISES

For the schools under the Group, they established a profound school-corporate
cooperation with many well-known companies including Microsoft, Huawei,
Alibaba, Lenovo, Jingdong, Midea, Gree, Geely, 360, Tedu, iFlytek, China Union,
Chinasoft International, Newland Group and Travelsky Group. They jointly carry
out talents training through many cooperative models such as teacher sharing,
course resources sharing, construction of experimental training bases, joint
formulation of majors as well as college co-found.

POVERTY ALLEVIATION

The institutions of the Group have established various subsidy systems for
poverty-stricken students. The “Not One Less ( —1E#B A~ &E4>) ” policy was
successful implemented, which enabled poverty-stricken students to study and
work during schoolings without any worry. Yunnan School has also set up a
special class for supporting the development of ethnic minorities. In 2018, the
school enrolled 35 students who are ethnic minorities in Yunnan Nujiang. The
school will bear the tuition, teaching materials and accommodation fees for all
students during their college education. The schools under the Group undertook
the project of young innovative talents training in western Yunnan, which
nurtured some villagers in the poverty villages of the rural region to become rich
first, and in turn they can lead the poverty alleviation works.

The Group made donations in public student aid, disaster relief and online
education. Various schools under the Group also made prominent contributions
to educational poverty alleviation. In 2018, chairman of the Group was awarded
the “National Poverty Alleviation Dedication Award ( 2 B fii & T B2 #8 2= f&f
%)

In the 2018/2019 academic year, Mr. Wong Man Chung Francis, the Group’s
independent non-executive director, continued donating its director fees as
scholarship to encourage outstanding students of the college and support
students with financial difficulties.

COLLEGE OF EXCELLENCE

The College of Excellence aims at providing students with modern apprenticeship
training. Within the four to six months during their final academic year,
depending on corporate demands and targeted employment position, the program
enabled students to master equivalent to two years of working experience and
abilities in a company before graduation. Our schools further expanded the
scale of the College of Excellence. For example, in 2018, Yunnan School set up
undergraduate excellent classes covered the majors from construction costing,
civil engineering, computer science and technology, visual communication and
marketing. Meanwhile, Henan School introduced the College of Excellence model
into its E-Commerce Institute and Art Institute.
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HZE2018F12A31B L 1211 BE4LAELEAEFH
FHEELEGHEI BEEMERNIZEELER
EMBRAV488BBE - FH E2018F12831HIE &
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#5601 BERTHKE  RERIZE100%

HEHRERBM@

MH - PEBAEGT (BXBEREREERS
R TERERRGFTLEBEXAFENRESBEHR
FREEEMNMNU MEBRETHESTHENTS
B BRORETERRERBBNVEREE  BRRM
BEBBIRTEANBREN AEHRHSH
SEERREEAELANERXERBERRNS
EHEEE ZAEROBTRAEAFTE —ER
BENERM GASENNBBRREMTES -

(PEIHBHRM2035) K (MREEHFRR(L
Bt = (2018-2022%F) ) & — A JBUR A LAHY
B EIRPSERERBFCEABERAER
BONEZAKS D  KARBEXNS B SI EER
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RAERE
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EHME QRENEAEZTSE ERFRAREAILE
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As of 31 December 2018, 1,211 students had participated in the Group’s
excellent apprenticeship training, including 723 students from Yunnan School
and 488 students from Guizhou School. As of 31 December 2018, the starting
salary of the 2017 fresh graduates from the College of Excellence at Yunnan
School is RMB5,601 per month, which is way above market standard, and its
employment rate is 100%.

EDUCATION POLICY TREND

Recently, the PRC government promulgated the “National Vocational Education
Reform Implementation Plan” (Bl SXEEFE B R EE 5 %) , which places
vocational education on the equal position as general education on the top-level
design. It also clarifies the direction of social diversified school establishment,
and once again strengthens the policy of encouraging private education. The
plan has opened up more development potential for private vocational education,
especially for those higher education groups (such as China New Higher
Education) which have both undergraduate colleges focusing on applied sciences
as well as vocational colleges. The plan not only demonstrates the correctness
of the strategic choice of applied education, it also provides guidance for future
development of school establishment.

The promulgation of a series of policies and documents such as “China
Education Modernization 2035" ( /1 B #( & % X 1£2035) ) and
“Accelerating the Implementation Plan of Education Modernization (2018-2022)”
( ChNREEHBER KRB R(2018-20224 ) ) ) shows that private
higher vocational education has become an important part of the national
education strategy. Relying on encouragement, guidance and standardized
supervision of the PRC government, more development opportunities will emerge
in the private education sector, but also face more demands and expectations
from the national and public levels in improving their own development
standards. In addition, in the government work report, it is mentioned that it will
further reform and improve the examination and enroliment methods for higher
vocational colleges and expand additional one million students enrollment this
year, which reflect the determination of the State to promote the development of
vocational education. All higher vocational colleges will directly benefit therefrom,
in particular schools with brand and competitive advantages will have greater
development opportunities.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

The Group will put into play its advantages and strive to explore the three
major markets that it is facing currently as well as in the future. The markets
include:(1) higher education market focused on applied science. For this, we
plan to establish universities in every province nationwide; (2) the surrounding
markets of universities. The main direction is promoting the integration of
industry and education that are propelling currently; (3) markets of providing
service to other universities or educational institutions. The Group will offer
services including professional construction, ancillary support, management and
information to other educational institutes.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIHEXREBERAT
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EEENWEDN
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY OF “IMPROVEMENT
ENLARGEMENT, LIGHT ASSETS”

It is our primary task to improve quality, including improving talent training
capability focused on applied science and driving the overall quality
improvement. Secondly, we will enlarge income base and enhance the utilization
rate of schools under the Group, focus on traditional principal business, expand
the sectors for external income and enlarge the income from our principal and
secondary businesses, as well as optimize expenditure structure to cut down
operating costs. Thirdly, we will adopt light assets approach, adjust and optimize
its structure and integrate resources comprehensively, and at the same time,
reduce capital expenditure and improve the capability of light assets and strong
management.

INVESTMENT STRATEGY

The Group intends to expand its school network and increase market penetration
and market share in the higher vocational education sector. The Group’s
investment team has rich investment experience and has identified certain
targets for potential quality acquisitions. The Group gives priority to invest in
those provinces with lower gross higher education enrollment rates and gradually
penetrates into education developed regions. In terms of education level, the
Group focuses on undergraduate school especially independent colleges as our
main target and vocational colleges with potential expansion as the support.
The Group plans to use reproducible teaching models to optimize operation
management of schools that we newly invested, so as to enhance educational
level and financial returns.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

REVENUE

The Group’s revenue increased by 35.5% from RMB414.4 million for the
year ended 31 December 2017 to RMB561.5 million for the year ended 31
December 2018. This increase was primarily due to (i) the increase in student
enrollments in Yunnan School and Guizhou School by 13.7%; (i) the increase in
average accommodation fee for student by 9.9%; and (i) the consolidation of
Henan School and Northeast School’s results of operation after completion of
acquisition.

COST OF PRINCIPAL BUSINESS

Cost of principal business increased by 47.1% from RMB186.9 million for the
year ended 31 December 2017 to RMB275.0 million for the year ended 31
December 2018. This increase was primarily due to the increase in the Group’s
teaching investment in Yunnan School and Guizhou School and consolidation of
results from Henan School and Northeast School.
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GROSS PROFIT AND GROSS PROFIT MARGIN

Gross profit increased by 25.9% from RMB227.5 million for the year ended
31 December 2017 to RMB286.4 million for the year ended 31 December
2018. The gross profit margin decreased to 51.0% for the year ended 31
December 2018 from 54.9% for the year ended 31 December 2017, which was
primarily due to the Group’s increase in teaching investment, improve student’s
experience and the consolidation results from new schools.

OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

Other income and gains increased by 29.4% from RMB128.3 million for the year
ended 31 December 2017 to RMB166.0 million for the year ended 31 December
2018. The increase was primarily due to the increase in income from college
examination training services and management service fee income.

SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION EXPENSES

Selling and distribution expenses increased by 49.3% from RMB3.6 million for
the year ended 31 December 2017 to RMB5.4 million for the year ended 31
December 2018. This increase was primarily attributable to the consolidation of
the results of newly acquired schools.

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Administrative expenses decreased from RMB58.1 million for the year ended
31 December 2017 to RMB53.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2018.
In 2018, there was no listing expense, but the employee option incentive costs
increased.

OTHER EXPENSES

Other expenses increased from RMB4.6 million for the year ended 31 December
2017 to RMB38.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2018. The increase
was primarily due to the impairment allowance made for prepayment included in
other non-current assets.

FINANCE COSTS

Finance costs increased by 97.1% from RMB39.6 million for the year ended
31 December 2017 to RMB78.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2018,
which was mainly due to the increase of RMB934.6 million in total financing,
resulting in an increase in financing costs.
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EEENWEDN
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PROFIT BEFORE TAX

As a result of the foregoing, we recognized a profit before income tax of
RMB276.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2018, as compared to a
profit before income tax of RMB250.0 million for the year ended 31 December
2017, representing an increase of 10.7%.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The Group’s income tax expense increased by 35.4% from RMB16.6 million
for the year ended 31 December 2017 to RMB22.5 million for the year ended
31 December 2018, which was primarily due to (1) the service fees from other
income derived from the exclusive technical service and education consultancy
service agreements charged by Huihuang Company, entered into with the schools
invested by the Group, (2) service fees under the Structured Contracts, and (3)
withholding income tax on dividend payout.

PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD

As a result of the above factors, the net profit of the Group was RMB254.3
million for the year ended 31 December 2018, an increase of 9.0% as compared
with RMB233.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2017.

ADJUSTED NET PROFIT

Adjusted net profit for the year ended 31 December 2018, increased by 20.3%
to RMB285.3 million as compared with the year ended 31 December 2017.

HZ12A3BLEE
Year ended 31 December
20184 20174
2018 2017
ARBEER ARBBEER
RMB million RMB million
REFEREER 2 FEF Profit for the year from
continuing operations 254.3 233.3
m:EmEAR Add: Listing expenses - 26.1
et AN EMERBEEN Add: Impairment allowance
BB RAERE for prepayment included in
other non-current assets 31.0 -
B R Less: Exchange gains = (22.3)
285.3 2371
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The Group’s primary uses of cash are to fund our working capital requirements,
purchase of property, plant and equipment and loan repayment and related
interest expenses. As at the date of this announcement, the Group has funded
its operations principally with the cash generated from our operations, bank
borrowings, shareholder contributions and net proceeds from Global Offering.
In the future, the Group believes that our liquidity requirements will be satisfied
with a combination of cash flows generated from our operating activities, bank
loans, other borrowings and other funds raised from the capital markets from
time to time. As of 31 December 2018, the Group had cash and cash equivalents
of RMB349.6 million.

CASH FLOW

The following table sets out a summary of our cash flows for the years indicated:

BZE12B3BLEE
Year ended 31 December
20185 20176
2018 2017
ARBEER ARBBER
RMB million RMB million
RETBMEBRSFE Net cash generated from
operating activities 456.7 287.1
RETHMARSFE Net cash used in investing activities (1,080.6) (697.0)
METBMERSFE Net cash from financing activities 854.5 350.0
HBeRHSEEYER Effect of changes in exchange rate
gaye on cash and cash equivalents 0.4 (0.3)
FORERBREEEY Cash and cash equivalents
at beginning of the year 118.6 178.8
ERESRBSEEY Cash and cash equivalents
at the end of the year 349.6 118.6
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EEENWEDN
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Cash Flows generated from Operating Activities

The Group generates cash from operating activities primarily from tuition fees
and boarding fees. Cash flows from operating activities have reflected (i) profit
before tax; (i) movements in working capital; and (i) other cash items consisting
of income tax paid and interest received.

Cash Flows used in Investing Activities

Investing activities comprise primarily purchases of property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets, prepaid land lease payments, proceeds from purchase and
disposal of wealth management products, and pledged deposits or withdrawals
of pledged time deposits.

Net cash used in investing activities amounted to RMB1,080.6 million for the
year ended 31 December 2018, which had primarily reflected the property, plant
and equipment purchased by Yunnan School and Guizhou School, the investment
prepayments for the acquisition of Henan School and Xinjiang School, and
prepaid rental for the land lease.

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Financing activities primarily include borrowing and repaying bank loans, and the
fund raised from the Group’s listing by way of share offer.

Net cash generated from financing activities amounted to RMB854.5 million for
the year ended 31 December 2018, which had primarily reflected the net new
loans raised by the Group.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES

The Group capital expenditures consisted of purchase or construction costs
relating to property, equipment, prepaid land lease payments and other intangible
assets. For the year ended 31 December 2018, our capital expenditures were
RMB414.7 million. The Group's capital expenditures during the year ended
31 December 2018 were primarily related to the construction of buildings
and school facilities at the new campus, prepaid rental for the land lease and
purchase of equipment and software by the schools of the Group. The Group
financed these capital expenditures primarily using the cash generated from
operations and bank loans.
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B ARERE

SENERAREIEZRWEBYE BERREER -
THREIIRBERMRAPNERAEHRE:

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group’s capital commitments were primarily related to the acquisition of
property, plant and equipment. The following table sets out a summary of our
capital commitments as of the dates indicated:

B Z20185F BZE2017F
12A31H 12H31H
As of As of
31 December 2018 31 December 2017
AREBEETR AREBEETR
RMB million RMB million

EHERCESZ IR Contracted but not provided for:
ME- - BEREE Property, plant and equipment 72.3 30.9
RE Investments 123.0 124.0
195.3 154.9

B ZE2018F 12831 EE U B TAME REEBRET
HHE KRB REIE-

&%

RTERRHEMERK

SENRTERRHMEREIEREEHEES
TERREAZEREFRRENRBEEER -

SEFEZEQRITEERTEEES R A XREM
BEE - BZE2018F12A3BNBTERBEARYE
1286 8B B  HH A BB ERITEMRSIER
A HHR2HUARKHE-

HAREE

HZE2018F12831 0 SEMBEENEALAEE
ERIAEETMAREQRTARRIEBENETME
RFAREE-

As of 31 December 2018, the Group had no significant capital commitment
authorized but not contracted for.

INDEBTEDNESS
BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

The Group’s bank loans and other borrowings primarily consisted of short-term
working capital loans and long-term project loans for the construction of our
school buildings and facilities.

The Group primarily borrows loans from banks to supplement our working capital
and finance our expenditure. The bank loans amounted to RMB1,286.8 million
as of 31 December 2018, among which HK$650 million denominated in Hong
Kong Dollar, while the remaining denominated in Renminbi.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As of 31 December 2018, the Group did not have any material contingent
liabilities, guarantees or any litigations or claims of material importance, pending
or threatened against any member of the Group.
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FEE RELVNERERNITERTERASE
REMEZRBRESRBESEEBYRUERNBRAE
BME-ESENFEE RELEHEZ2017F128
31H H13.5%EME R £2018%F12831H 941.1%
TERARBEERE M.

ER s

EREEENEZFRNEASHERUBRANETE -2
BEXBEMAEFERTERREMMER - KMWE
BEEEHEZ2017F12831BH204%E MEHBZE
2018512831 B 56.5% T EMN A B EHE M-

EXREREXREENARRE

BRAFERIAFEE N REE2018F 128318 LEF
B AEEMEEMERREREREETE -

EXRE-WBRHEE

BRAERFIHEEEN EANBESEEMEARE
FMESEEMNBLTR BEQAAREGELQT R
BZE20ISF1N2ANALEFERATBRESSREAME
ABRESABERAEERENEME -

S B L By B 2

EENEEEABARE ESEATIRMARBEX
B AR EA2018F 128318 & TRITHE
BRUASE T AR B L EHE - AR TE B HNE B R g 0 R
BEAMAEBTETCEMNREHTAZRN SR
TEo

EEEKF
PA2018F 12831 EEEFEEBRUT :
0] REBEM2018F 12831 B REFELAZENS

AR¥E219,024 000tV EF - REREER
EFRE

(i) ERAEFAGEZABRAR - BEAT
¥ 48 /A & ~ Aspire Education Holding Co., Ltd.}
Aspire Education Information Co., Ltd.Z FT & &
i

(i)  REFLBZ73.91%KE;

(iv) REBER20185F12H8318 A K #40,000,000
T FR (20175 : AR #30,000,0007T) °

EEENWEDN
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

NET DEBT TO EQUITY RATIO

Net debt to equity ratio equals total interest-bearing bank loans and other
borrowings net of cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year divided by
total equity at the end of the year. The Group’s net debt to equity ratio increased
from 13.5% as of 31 December 2017 to 41.1% as of 31 December 2018, which
was primarily attributable to the increase in interest bearing debts.

GEARING RATIO

Gearing ratio equals total debt divided by total equity as of the end of the year.
Total debt includes all interest-bearing bank loans and other borrowings. The
Group’s gearing ratio increased from 20.4% as of 31 December 2017 to 56.5%
as of 31 December 2018, which was primarily due to the increase in interest
bearing debts.

FUTURE PLAN FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, for the year ended 31 December 2018,
the Group did not have other plans for material investments and capital assets.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there were no other significant
investments held, no material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures during the year, nor was there any plan authorized
by the Board for other material investments or additions of capital assets during
the year ended 31 December 2018.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK MANAGEMENT

The functional currency of the Group is RMB. The majority of the Group's
revenue and expenditures are denominated in RMB. As at 31 December 2018,
certain bank balances were denominated in USD and HKD. The Group did not
enter into any financial instrument for hedging purpose as it is expected that
foreign exchange exposure will not be material.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s assets pledged are as follow:

(i) the Group’s buildings, furniture and fixtures and electronic devices with
an aggregate net carrying amount of approximately RMB219,024,000 as
at 31 December 2018;

(if) all shares of Yunnan Daai Fangzhou Information Consultancy Co., Ltd.,

Enchang Company, Huihuang Company, Aspire Education Holding Co.,
Ltd. and Aspire Education Information Co., Ltd.;

(ifi) 73.91% equity interest of Haxuan Company;

(iv) deposits of the Group with an amount of RMB40,000,000 at as 31
December 2018 (2017: RMB30,000,000).
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HUMAN RESOURCES

As of 31 December 2018, the Group had approximately 4,610 employees (2,068
as of 31 December 2017). As required by the PRC laws and regulations, the
Group participates in various employee social security plans for our employees
that are administered by local governments, including housing, pension, medical
insurance, maternity insurance and unemployment insurance. The Group believe
we maintain a good working relationship with our employees, and we have not
experienced any material labor disputes during the year ended 31 December
2018.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET COMMITMENTS AND
ARRANGEMENTS

As of the date of this report, the Group had not entered into any off-balance
sheet transactions.

PAYMENT OF FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of a final dividend of
RMBO0.019 per Share for the year ended 31 December 2018. The final dividend
will be declared in Renminbi and paid in Hong Kong dollars. The exchange rate
adopted for conversion was the average middle exchange rate published by the
People’s Bank of China of the five business days prior to the declaration of the
final dividend (i.e. 22 March 2019 to 28 March 2019) (HK$1.0 to RMB0.8557).
Accordingly, the amount of the final dividend payable in Hong Kong dollars will
be HK$0.0222 per Share.

The final dividend will be paid on or about Friday, 21 June 2019 to the
shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of the Company
on Tuesday, 11 June 2019.

CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitiement to attend and vote at the annual general meeting
to be held on Friday, 31 May 2019, the register of members of the Company
will be closed from Tuesday, 28 May 2019 to Friday, 31 May 2019, both days
inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to
be qualified for attending and voting at the annual general meeting, all transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Company’s share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m.
on Monday, 27 May 2019.

In order to be qualified for the final dividend, the register of members of the
Company will be closed by the Group from Thursday, 6 June 2019 to Tuesday,
11 June 2019, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares
of the Company will be effected. All share transfer documents accompanied by
the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Group’s branch share
registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor
Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday,
5 June 2019.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Li Xiaoxuan (Z=Z &), aged 45, the founder of the Group. He was
appointed as a Director of the Company on 8 July 2016. He is the chairman
of the Board. Mr. Li has more than 20 years of experience in education and is
responsible for the overall management and strategic development of the Group.

The following table shows the key working experience of Mr. Li:

HE AL B %
Period Company Position
19994 Z£2004%F £ 3 1k =)
1999 to 2004 Training Station Director
2005 ERS EXEHE e
2005 to present Yun Ai Group Chairman

ER1999F Z2004F BB UMNES - FTHERE
BIMHAEELENEE BN EREEMNE
BERE URBEREEMITHEBNREK

FRER0FIARATERPEEHEETE
BoR20NFBARTESEHEZEENEES
EEE RBFIAATEARBEAGEAERE
EMEET -EZEEEBZEEEZERE UKR2010
FOARTEZEBEFHESEE T —EREEZE-
FREBEFT=ZE2EARRKR RPER2EF
FHEEEZR RAETERARREBESEER
RAEEARMARE (2k) BERESR-

ZEEENR008FATRTEARBHEREZER
HITHEBEARARFRER HER2009F108BREEHR
BEMER ZHEEEBN2010F68 EFErEHE
REERIMEEBELSE M-

HEED S A 395% 0 20044 I AARER IR
2016F8 AR BEZEEARTANEFEATERY
TEE - HELBEERAGENHBELRIESHE
FEEEHERHEER

As a director of the Training Station from 1999 to 2004, Mr. Li was in charge of
the daily operation and management of the Training Station, overall management
and strategic development of the Training Station, as well as decision-making on
significant operational and administrative matters.

Mr. Li became the first vice president of the China Private Education Association*
in March 2010, a council member of the 6th China Higher Education
Association™ in August 2012, a member of the standing committee of the 11th
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference Yunnan Province* in January
2013 and a member of the 11th Committee of the All-China Youth Federation*
in August 2010. Mr. Li is currently a representative of the 13th National
People’s Congress*, and a member of the Standing Committee of All-China
Youth Federation*. He also serves as the vice president of Chinese Society of
Educational Development Strategy*, and the vice president of Association of
Universities (Colleges) of Applied Science™.

Mr. Li completed his undergraduate studies in administrative management at
the Army Officer Academy of PLA (FRFE] A RE M E B EFR) |, the PRC,
in June 2008, and subsequently obtained the qualification as senior economist
in October 2009. Mr. Li was subsequently awarded a master degree in business
administration from Nankai University (Fa B8 A2 ) | the PRC, in June 2010.

Mr. Zhao Shuai (#4Eb) , aged 39, joined the Group in April 2004, and was
appointed as the chief executive officer and an executive Director of the
Company on 19 August 2016. Mr. Zhao has more than 15 years of experience
in education and is responsible for setting annual operational targets and
day-to-day management.
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TRIIFEBEENTETHELR:

The following table shows the key working experience of Mr. Zhao:

B AT B AEREMR
Period Company Position Roles and responsibilities
200454 B Z2008F8 A ERHER BEEMT BERE

April 2004 to August 2008

20085F9H 2014534

September 2008 to March 2014

201454 A £20155%4A

April 2014 to April 2015

201555 £20165%3A4

May 2015 to March 2016

2016F3AES

March 2016 to present

Yunnan School

ZHER

Yunnan School

EEKE

Y

Yun Ai Group

BEMER

Guizhou School

uﬂi

EEKE

Yun Ai Group

Student recruitment director

L=

Associate dean

1T AR AR AR 1R

General manager of
administration department

HITR &

Executive dean

BRARE

Senior president

In charge of student
recruitment

BERE -THNEHS

%

In charge of student
recruitment, administrative
and logistics matters

EERB RHNERS
it}

In charge of procurement,
logistics and infrastructures

EEEEMEMKER.
THERHEMT IBZ%?T%
In charge of management and
strategic development,
staff recruitment and other
administrative matters

B EEE AR
BR

In charge of management and
strategic development

HAEER0IBFI2EMESREEMEL - M Mr. Zhao obtained the qualification as senior economist in December 2013. He

04F7RERTEEREI KEMM T EEL was awarded a bachelor degree in Mechanical Engineering Automation from

BBy RR2017FcAESEMAERME IR Kunming University of Science and Technology ( 2 BA¥E T K2 ) | the PRC, in

L& July 2004, and in June 2017 awarded a master degree in software engineering
at Jilin University ( 5k K &) .
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Mr. Ding Yu, aged 45, has over 20 years of work experience in commercial and
financial market. Mr. Ding has excellent ability in capital management, with
extensive interdisciplinary working experience and business acumen. He had
served in senior management positions in various renowned corporates and
financial institutions. Prior to joining the Group, he was the general manager of
capital management of Grand Baoxin Auto Group Limited (stock code: 1293),
a company listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, and China
Grand Automotive Services Co., Ltd. (stock code: 600297), a company listed on
Shanghai Stock Exchange, responsible for the capital management functions
of the two listed companies. From July 2005 to January 2011, he was head
of finance department and senior management of Guo Sheng Pawn Co., Ltd, a
subsidiary of Shanghai International Group, Meihao Holdings Group Co., Ltd.,
and Sinar Mas Paper (China) Investment Company Limited. Mr. Ding worked in
two commercial banks, China Merchants Bank and Industrial Bank Co., Ltd.,
for ten years from July 1995 to June 2005. He graduated from East China
Normal University in July 1995, majored in International Accounting under
the International Finance Faculty, and obtained a master degree in business
administration from the University of Canberra, Australia, in November 2006.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Chen Shuo (BR#) , aged 41, was appointed as a non-executive Director of
the Company on 19 August 2016.

The following table shows the key working experience of Mr. Chen:

A& YNES] B 7%
Period Company Position
2002558 ZE2010F5 A EE e BMERS FETARIT FisEE

May 2002 to May 2010
201057 A £20195%4A
July 2010 to April 2019

2019FF4R £S5
April 2019 to Present

20125F1 A #2015 24

January 2012 to February 2015

ORISR ZE
Shenzhen office of Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu Limited

FTREXEREETLF
Ping An Trust Co., Ltd.

FTREXERETLF
Ping An Trust Co., Ltd.

BRIB#EMBRDERAD A
(RINFEFEXSGHLETATE
% 34X 5% - 002600)

JPMF Guangdong Co., Ltd., a company
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange

(stock code: 002600)

Taxation manager

TR
Executive general manager

BEAKE
General manager

FHITES

Non-executive director

BRE4EMR2009F6 8 B RYIT AZSRIEEMBH
& o M109F6 B EFERIIKEBEREH
EEHEE+8 RA00FE12ABHERE T EX
EEREHEEE T E -

Mr. Chen obtained the qualification as registered tax agent from Shenzhen
Personnel Bureau in June 2009. He was awarded a bachelor degree in real
estate management from the University of Shenzhen (GRIIIKE2) | the PRC, in
June 1999, and a master degree in management from University of Nottingham,
the United Kingdom, in December 2001.

2018 ANNUAL REPORT %k



EEREREERE
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

BYFHTES INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

ENREE 545 0  R2017FE3A20B B ZEAZALD  Mr. Wong Man Chung Francis (X 5R) , aged 54, was appointed as an
BB FHTES - independent non-executive Director of the Company on 20 March 2017.

TRHEJELENTETHELER:

The following table shows the key working experience of Mr. Wong:

& A T 7

Period Company Position

1985% 88 £1991F 12 3 E5H B I 38

August 1985 to December 1991 KPMG Assistant manager

199241 8 £1993F 10 A BEBPREZBRAT B IR 38

January 1992 to October 1993 Hong Kong Securities Clearing Co., Ltd. Assistant manager

19964F £20074F BEXRETMEST EBRKE
BRAFA

1996 to 2007

20025 £20185%4 A
2002 to April 2018

20095 £20185%4A

2009 to April 2018

20165F6 A £20185%8A

June 2016 to August 2018

2008 F Z] S
2008 to present

2004 F 2 RS

2004 to present

2004 F 2 RS

2004 to present

2006 FF 2 RS

2006 to present

Francis Wong C.P.A. Co., Limited

TEEMEEMERA A
Union Alpha C.P.A. Limited

FEIARTE (FE)
S EXRERA A
Union Alpha CAAP Certified Public
Accountants Limited

EREMKBERHADERD T
(B 101X 3E - 861)

Kunming Dianchi Water Treatment Co., Ltd.

(stock code: 861)

BENREAEESERLFA
Francis M.C. Wong Charitable
Foundation Limited

FERASEEZRERAF
(B3R - 581)

China Oriental Group Company Limited
(stock code: 581)

EXEBBRATA
(BR#% K55 1 610)
Wai Kee Holdings Limited
(stock code: 610)

HMMNBIBZRBER QA
(B 155 - 861)

Digital China Holdings Limited
(stock code: 861)
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Managing Director

EE

Director

BUFHITES

Independent non-executive director

AIMES

Founding director

BUFHITES

Independent non-executive director

BUFHITES

Independent non-executive director

BUFHITES

Independent non-executive director
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HE A B %
Period Company Position
2013F10BERS FERREEBRLF BYFHTES

October 2013 to present

2015F 7R E RS

July 2015 to present

2016F48 2 RS

April 2016 to present

20173 EHRS

March 2017 to present

2018F6 A ERS
June 2018 to present
2018F4AZ RS
April 2018 to now
2018F4AZ RS

April 2018 to now

(PR D L5R - 923)
Integrated Waste Solutions Group

Holdings Limited (stock code: 923)

BUOEBBERA A
(R3S 1 94)
Greenheart Group Limited

(stock code: 94)

RA B EERZERERAA
(B 434855 © 3800)

GCL-Poly Energy Holdings Limited
(stock code: 3800)

BEZERERA R
(B3 E55% £ 1623)

Hilong Holding Limited
(stock code: 1623)

BB (FE)BRLA
(B3 E3% £ 1739)

Qeeka Home (Cayman) Inc.
(stock code: 1739)

AT ESTMEBAERLDA
Union Alpha C.P.A. Limited

RETAKAE(FB) ST
BEBFERAT

Union Alpha CAAP Certified Public
Accountants Limited

Independent non-executive director

BUFATES

Independent non-executive director

BUFATES

Independent non-executive director

BUFATES

Independent non-executive director

BUFATES

Independent non-executive director

FHTER

Non-executive Chairman
FHITES

Non-executive director

BEEEABEGIEM - HM00FI0EERTAH
EE5HE WAR2002FI8 ABHREER KEEE
EHEELTREE HEN00FAERRERESA
BBy BEALERAREBTESHMLAGERE
E - BESMMLASERHESE EHEBRAHE
et ASE R S EREBEASTHMNA
SEFREE URERREES MBI KL -

Mr. Wong is a Certified Public Accountant (Practising). He was admitted as a
Certified Public Accountant in October 1990 and in September 2002, enrolled
in a master programme in management at Jinan University ( ERm KE8) | the
PRC, and was subsequently awarded the master degree in management in June
2005. Mr. Wong is currently a fellow member of the Chartered Association of
Certified Accountants of the United Kingdom, the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales
and the Society of Chinese Accountants and Auditors, and a Certified Tax Advisor
of the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong.
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Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson (B8 {£15) , aged 53, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company on 20 March 2017. Mr.
Kwong has more than 10 years of experience in corporate finance and equity
capital markets in Asia. Mr. Kwong is an executive Director of China Metal
Resources Utilization Limited (stock code: 1636), in charge of its corporate and
strategic development. Mr. Kwong was the president of Gushan Environmental
Energy Limited, a company whose American depositary shares were listed on
the New York Stock Exchange from December 2007 to October 2012. He is also
an independent non executive director of Shunfeng International Clean Energy
Limited (stock code: 1165) since 16 July 2014, C.banner International Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1028) since 26 August 2011, China Outfitters Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1146) since 8 June 2011 and Koolearn Technology Holding
Limited (stock code: 1797) since 15 March 2019, all of which are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange since 13 July 2011, 23 September
2011, 9 December 2011 and 28 March 2019, respectively. Prior to joining
Gushan Environmental Energy Limited in 2006, he was the managing director
of investment banking and he held the position as the head of Hong Kong and
China equity capital markets at CLSA Equity Capital Markets Limited from March
2004 to July 2006. Mr. Kwong was a director from 2002 to 2003, and the
general manager of the corporate finance department from 1997 to 2003 for
Cazenove Asia Limited. After graduating from University of Cambridge, England
with a bachelor’s degree in Arts in 1987, he qualified as a chartered accountant
in the United Kingdom in 1990. Mr. Kwong is currently an associate member of
the Institute of Chartered Accountant in England and Wales and the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Mr. Hu Jianbo, aged 55, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of the Company on 22 December 2017. Mr. Hu has over 20 years
of experience in the education industry. He received his bachelor degree in
engineering from Northwest Institute of Architecture and Engineering* ( 784t
EETREPR), now known as Chang’an University* (RZ KE) | in July
1984, and his executive master degree in business administration from China
Europe International Business School* ( FREXEIFR T B2 Fx ) in September
2007. From July 1984 to July 1992, Mr. Hu worked at Xi’an University* (
ZKE) , now known as Xi’an University of Art and Science* ( 78 % M IEE2
B2 ) , as a teacher. From July 1992 to July 1996, Mr. Hu served as the vice
chairman of the board of Xi’an International University* (T8 ZSMEEFR)
From June 2014 to June 2017, Mr. Hu served as an independent director of
Ginwa Enterprise (Group) Inc.* (£ % (£E) R AERAT), a listed
company on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600080). Since July
1997, Mr. Hu has been the dean and chairman of the board of Xi'an Eurasia
University* (78 Z BXZE 2Pz ) . He is currently the vice chairman of Chinese
Association for Non-Government Education* (MBI REPWHBH ) and the
vice chairman of 21st Century Education Research Institute* (21t &2 2B
%Ehe) .
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ERBERE 435 R2004F 128 I AAREE: I Mr. Qin Hongkang (Z=Z B ) , aged 43, joined the Group in December 2004,
HR2016F8A19BEZ T AR A AREIBAHE - and was appointed as a vice president of the Company on 19 August 2016.
TREVNELENETEIELE: The following table shows the key working experience of Mr. Qin:
B YNES] B R
Period Company Position
199957 A £20045F 128 E R R HEFELE EEFEEK
B EERE
July 1999 to December 2004 Dianchi Morning News Agency* Reporter of social news, director of
CEMEHRAL) important news and economic news
2004512 8 £2009F11 A EMER gl &
December 2004 to November 2009 Yunnan School Associate dean
20095128 £2013%F12 A EMER #HIThR &
December 2009 to December 2013 Guizhou School Executive dean
2013F12A ZHS EEEE BAE BEME SBLHER
BAREZSA
December 2013 to present Yun Ai Group Vice president in charge of mergers and

acquisitions, online education and
students career advice

ZERER08FIARBHERPRBBITFEZE M. Qin obtained the qualification as lecturer from Intermediate Title Evaluation

CSESHEMEK - BMIVNF7TAEFEERZAE  Committee” (FRBIBETZEZE L) of Software College in September 2008.

BIREALCEELTE - He was awarded a bachelor degree in applied chemistry from Yunnan University
(ERAE), the PRC, in July 1999.
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ZIE Bzt 495 0 R2002FE 98 MMAKER > It A
2016F8B1OHBEZ AR R AIRIEAR -

TREINELZELHETEIELER:

Ms. Liu Fengming (8| 88 ) , aged 49, joined the Group in September 2002,
and was appointed as a vice president of the Company on 19 August 2016.

The following table shows the key working experience of Ms. Liu:

2 A B %
Period Company Position
2002998 £20035F 108 vk AR B EEE

September 2002 to October 2003

20035108 £20055F 18
October 2003 to January 2005

20055F1 B £201143A
January 2005 to March 2011

2011538 £20155F9A
March 2011 to September 2015

2015598 £201657AH
September 2015 to July 2016

2016F7H &S
July 2016 to present

Training Station

HEERKR
Zhuan Xiu School

EMER
Yunnan School

R
Zhuan Xiu School

tREE
Beijing Lianhe

Yun Ai Group

Teacher and director of
education research office

HEBERARBERE
Director of education department
and vice principal

BT &
Associate dean

R
Dean

PR
General manager

EEEE-
Vice president

Bz LHR00FN2AEFEEMAZBIFEIEE  Ms. Liu was awarded a master degree in business administration from Yunnan
BETEN -HR01NE1ABEFEMELES  University (EBIKE) , the PRC, in December 2009. She obtained the
REERMBBTEZESNESREEMEN - qualification as senior economist from Yunnan Township Enterprise Senior
WR201BF10EEFESRKENHIZTEIZIEFE  Professional and Technical Position Evaluation Committee* ( 2/ & 4BE %
EZECNSBRABEER -KEAEREBRETIR SREERMBBTEZES) in November 2012 and the qualification

EREEENBHEIREF L RN

as associate professor from Yunnan Higher Education Institution Professor and
Associate Professor Evaluation Committee* ( EF & = R AN 22 Bl HU3%
FFEZEE) in October 2013. She is currently studying for a doctor degree
in management science and engineering at Kunming University of Science and
Technology ( BB T KE)
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Ms. Zheng Yanli ( BR%8 28 ) , aged 48, joined the Group in May 2014, and was
appointed as a vice president of the Company in 19 August 2016. She was
subsequently promoted as a senior vice president of the Company.

Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Zheng worked at Ambow Education Group Limited
(RBHEEBBERAT) from April 2003 to April 2014, where she left
as the general manager of the operations centre. Since May 2014, Ms. Zheng
serves as the vice president and general manager of the investment department
at Yun Ai Group, where she is in charge of mergers and acquisitions.

Ms. Zheng was awarded a master degree in business administration from
University of International Business and Economics (¥f /MNETRE 5 K& ) |
the PRC, in January 2010.

Ms. Luo Yuanyuan (ZZEB#2) , aged 38, joined the Group in June 2013 and
held various positions including the head of the finance division of Yunnan
School and the head of the budget division and the head of the finance division
of the Company. She was appointed as the joint financial officer and the general
manager of the finance department of the Company on 20 December 2017.

Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Luo worked at the Finance Department of
Chuzhou Branch, Anhui Electric Power Co. (Z#EE N DX T HBME

7] ) in 2003. She worked at the Finance Department of Wuhan Aier Eye Hosp|ta|
in 2005 and re-designated to Kunming Aier Eye Hospital for participating in
preparation of construction in 2010. Ms. Luo graduated with a bachelor’s degree
in Sichuan University in 2003.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Group is Ms. Wong Wai Ling.

Ms. Wong Wai Ling (E#%) , aged 39, was appointed as a joint company
secretary on 19 August 2016. She has over 10 years of experience in providing
company secretarial services in Hong Kong. Ms. Wong is vice president of SWCS
Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited and is responsible for assisting
listed companies in professional company secretarial work. Prior to joining
SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited, she worked in a corporate
service provider and the company secretarial department of an international
accounting firm. Ms. Wong has been awarded a Bachelor of Arts degree in
Marketing and Public Relations from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University and
Master of Corporate Governance degree from The Open University of Hong Kong.
Ms. Wong is an associate of The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators in the United
Kingdom.
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The Board is pleased to present its report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the Reporting Period.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is a leading private higher education group in the PRC in terms of
employment rate in 2017 according to the CIC Report. As at the date of this
report, the Group (i) operated Yunnan School and Guizhou School, (i) completed
the acquisitions of Henan School, Northeast School and Guangxi Schools and
(ifi) invested in higher education institutions in the PRC, including Central China
School and Gansu College. Analysis of the principal activities of the Group during
the year ended December 31, 2018 is set out in the note 1 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company as at December 31, 2018
are set out in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2018 are set out in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 111 of this annual report.

FINAL DIVIDENDS

The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of a final dividend of
RMBO0.019 per Share for the year ended 31 December 2018. The final dividend
will be declared in Renminbi and paid in Hong Kong dollars. The exchange rate
adopted for conversion was the average middle exchange rate published by the
People’s Bank of China of the five business days prior to the declaration of the
final dividend (i.e. 22 March 2019 to 28 March 2019) (HK$1.0 to RMB0.8557).
Accordingly, the amount of the final dividend payable in Hong Kong dollars will
be HK $0.0222 per Share.

The final dividend will be paid on or about Friday, 21 June 2019 to the
shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of the Company
on Tuesday, 11 June 2019. There is no arrangement that a Shareholder has
waived or agreed to waive any dividend.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Please refer to the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis —
Business Review” of this annual report.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIHEXREBERAT



RRERE

BRAZMERA|SNEESSHER M
REMAHTEBER-

EMBEEASZREAZRMATEZER Y RSK
MEFERPSERETENTSHE - ABMS
RMCEEAZREER HREBABREERREE
B REEBAEYERTAE2REENHBER
EMEXNURENBEEZES HESRAA
FREEEXF EHFMABEOOTTE

EMBRUEAZZREEHAERRBAHE RE
REMRAZSHENSSHEAEZRE2ET
PABERFERKEREHENABREAK AB
Ej(E’Ji%ﬁE/ajP

E—SEZERMANTSHLRER
RHHEE -

EMEE ENEERELE-REBRERERRA
EENBREZ - RE-SPBRERRBERER
EMBEFAERSEMRTESEHFTENT S
A HMEE RMEXELENSHERUREM
RUNGEREISHRLERENERRESRK
MERFHFPHAME SSRMYEBEERE

ARSI N -RAPERRSEBERBETHFEMNTES
BEURRAAEMNER RRAFTRERARRK
MHRERBZ - RMBEAEEMETHEWE UEH
MTBAABNNEFRBLENER-ABMS
RSl ENERBRYEAEETRED
roAEMTHETEERRAERTBIE L AEHR
BZORBESEIMERMBLEIENEEBN
2EMREEE RATFERLSRERBR BT
BENHEEBMA2RERARTHEERATE
RTHMASEXLHRERNEBERE BHE2E

EEHEBETEERRAEEXZENME LI
BN ESWNEEENADERTERBENSE
BRRE URABLERHEXRINETAARY
RESKREESHWEA - RATEE - FRARM
EAEBEXURAAEMNTHEE B2 RY
BEBER AEMNBLAENERS -

EETEHRS
REPORT OF DIRECTORS

FUTURE DEVELOPMENT

EXPAND THE SCHOOL NETWORK COVERAGE AND
INCREASE OUR MARKET PENETRATION.

We intend to expand the School network and increase our market penetration
and our market share in the private higher education sector in the PRC.
Specifically, we have formed an investment team headed and managed directly
by our vice president for investment. This investment team is responsible for
identifying and evaluating potential acquisition targets across China. We plan to
establish an investment and acquisition management committee headed by the
chairman of our Board. This committee will periodically review the feasibility of
acquisitions and determine which ones to pursue.

We intend to expand into regions with low gross enrollment rate where we
believe there exist significant growth potential because the higher education
enroliment rates in these regions are lower than the national average enroliment
rates, and compared with economically more developed regions in China.

CONTINUE TO STRENGTHEN OUR MARKET POSITION
AND ENHANCE OUR REPUTATION.

We believe that the reputation of a school is one of the most important criteria
students would normally consider when selecting a university. To increase our
enrollment and expand our business, we intend to continue to enhance our
market position in the higher education industry in the PRC. We believe that our
high graduate employment rates and comprehensive curriculums with diversified
offerings of practical courses distinguish us from our competitors and make us
attractive to potential applicants. We plan to design new courses and adjust our
existing courses to continue to best reflect evolving market trends and meet the
demands of employers. We intend to continue and expand our market research
to better understand employer preferences and student needs. Specifically, we
plan to collaborate with well-established online recruitment platforms to conduct
data analysis in order to further our understanding of market demand and
employment statistics, and with third-party organizations to analyze nationwide
employment data relating to students in those majors that we offer. We also plan
to obtain relevant data from social security agencies to understand employer
hiring needs and from local government education departments to understand
employment rates of university graduates to gain a comprehensive and objective
understanding of the market demand and supply of university graduates. In
addition, we plan to gather human resources plans from corporations and
career plans from our students, and provide career planning and job placement
counselling services to our students in order for them to find the most suitable
position. We plan to further enhance our reputation among well-known
companies and other potential employers, establish long-term collaborative
relationships with them, and create employment opportunities for our students.
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We plan to promote the Schools and programs through both online and offline
media. Specifically, we intend to arrange for periodic reports on our major school
activities through traditional media. We plan to continue to promote the Schools
online where appropriate. We believe that these promotional activities may help
raise our profile among the general population and enhance our reputation
among parents and students.

CONTINUE TO ATTRACT, INCENTIVIZE AND RETAIN
TALENTED TEACHERS AND SUPPORT THEIR
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT.

The quality of our education services largely depends on our teachers. We
intend to continue to attract, incentivize and retain talented teachers and build a
first-rate faculty team. To this end, we plan to recruit well-recognized technical
experts, experienced business administrators and other highly skilled persons to
teach in the Schools on either a full time or a part time basis. We will continue
to apply stringent standards in our recruitment of teachers.

FURTHER EXPAND OUR EDUCATIONAL SERVICE
OFFERINGS TO CAPTURE GROWTH OPPORTUNITIES.

We plan to continue to expand and diversify our course offerings in response to
industry trends and market demand, including establishing new major offerings
based on market developments.

CONSTRUCT ADDITIONAL WORKPLACE SIMULATION
TRAINING STUDIOS AND FURTHER IMPROVE THE
SCHOOL FACILITIES.

We believe that we can distinguish ourselves from our competitors by our ability
to offer our students opportunities to develop practical skills and knowledge,
which we believe help them to secure employment upon graduation and succeed
in their careers.

ENHANCE OUR PROFITABILITY BY OPTIMIZING OUR
SOURCES OF REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME.

The tuition fees and boarding fees we charge are a significant factor affecting
our profitability. We believe that we are able to maintain the current tuition
rates and raise the tuition rates charged by the Schools where appropriate as
our brand awareness and market recognition have grown. In addition, we retain
discretion to adjust the tuition rates charged by the Schools, and the Schools are
only required to make a filing with relevant authorities regarding proposed tuition
fee adjustments but are not subject to approval requirements or any pre-set
fee limits. Historically, we have kept our tuition rates at levels we believe are
competitive in order to attract more students and thereby increase our student
enrollment and market share. As we have established a strong reputation for
providing quality education to our students, we believe we are in a position
to optimize our pricing without compromising our reputation and our ability
to attract and retain students. In addition, we plan to diversify our sources of
revenue and other income.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIHEXREBERAT
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The principal risks and uncertainties for the Company include the followings:

(1) OUR BUSINESS IS HEAVILY DEPENDENT ON THE
MARKET RECOGNITION OF THE BRAND AND
REPUTATION OF EACH OF THE SCHOOLS.

We were among the first movers in China to provide private formal higher
undergraduate education focused on applied sciences. We believe that
each of the Schools has gained wide recognition in the region where it is
located and continues to attract students and qualified teaching staff. We
believe that our success is heavily dependent on the market recognition of

the brand and the reputation of each of the Schools.

However, we cannot assure you that our marketing efforts will be
successful or sufficient in further promoting the Schools’ brands or in
helping us to remain competitive. If any of the Schools is unable to further
enhance its reputation and increase market awareness of its programs and
services, or if it is required to incur additional promotional expenses in
order to remain competitive, our business, financial condition and results
of operations may be materially and adversely affected. If the Schools are
unable to maintain or sustain their brand reputation and recognition, they
may also be unable to maintain or increase student enrollment, which may
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and

results of operations.

(2) OUR BUSINESS AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
DEPEND ON THE LEVEL OF TUITION FEES AND
BOARDING FEES WE ARE ABLE TO CHARGE AND
OUR ABILITY TO MAINTAIN AND RAISE TUITION
AND BOARDING FEES.

One of the most significant factors affecting our profitability is the tuition
fees we charge at the Schools. For the years ended December 31, 2016,
2017 and 2018, tuition fees constituted 91.1%, 91.9% and 91.3% of our
total revenue from continuing operations, respectively, while boarding fees
accounted for the remainder. However, there can be no assurance that we
will be able to maintain or raise the tuition and/or boarding fee levels we
charge at the Schools in the future at the same levels as historically, or
at all, or even if we are able to maintain or raise tuition fees or boarding
fees, we cannot assure you that we will be able to attract prospective
students to apply for the Schools at such increased fee rates at the same

levels as historically, or at all.
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OUR BUSINESS AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
DEPEND ON THE NUMBER OF STUDENTS WE
MAY ADMIT, WHICH IN TURN IS SUBJECT TO THE
ADMISSION QUOTAS APPROVED BY RELEVANT
EDUCATION AUTHORITIES AND LIMITED BY THE
CAPACITY OF THE SCHOOL FACILITIES.

Each year the education authorities specify a quota for the number of new
students each of the Schools may admit, which is subject to adjustment
by the education authorities. The number of students we may admit at
each of the Schools is therefore subject to the quota set by the local
education authorities on a year by year basis, as adjusted by the education
authorities. The maximum number of new students each of the Schools
may admit each year is therefore beyond our control. To the best of the
Directors’ knowledge, to determine the admission quota to be granted
to each school, the local education authorities take into account factors
including the number of students enrolled and number of applications
received by the school, quality of education, social recognition and
reputation of the school and the overall regional economic and educational
conditions and policies. In addition, the number of students we are able to
admit at each of the Schools is also constrained by the education facilities
and number of beds for students of the Schools, which are limited in
space and size.

ADVERSE CHANGES IN THE PRC ECONOMIC,
POLITICAL AND SOCIAL CONDITIONS AS WELL
AS LAWS AND GOVERNMENT POLICIES, MAY
MATERIALLY AND ADVERSELY AFFECT OUR
BUSINESS, FINANCIAL CONDITION, RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS AND GROWTH PROSPECTS.

The economic, political and social conditions in the PRC differ from
those in more developed countries in many respects, including structure,
government involvement, level of development, growth rate, control of
foreign exchange, capital reinvestment, allocation of resources, rate of
inflation and trade balance position. Before the adoption of its reform and
opening up policies in 1978, the PRC was primarily a planned economy.

In recent years, the PRC government has been reforming the PRC
economic system and government structure. For example, the PRC
government has implemented economic reform and measures emphasizing
the utilization of market forces in the development of the PRC economy
in the past three decades. These reforms have resulted in significant
economic growth and social prospects. Economic reform measures,
however, may be adjusted, modified or applied inconsistently from industry
to industry or across different regions of the country.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIHEXREBERAT
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We cannot predict whether the resulting changes will have any adverse
effect on our current or future business, financial condition or results
of operations. Despite these economic reforms and measures, the PRC
government continues to play a significant role in regulating industrial
development, allocation of natural and other resources, production, pricing
and management of currency, and there can be no assurance that the
PRC government will continue to pursue a policy of economic reform or
that the direction of reform will continue to be market friendly.

ENVIRONMENT, HEALTH AND SAFETY

The business of the Group is not in violation of the applicable PRC Environmental
laws and regulations in any material aspects.

The Group is dedicated to protecting the health and safety of the students. The
Group has on-site medical staff or health care personnel at each of the schools
the Group operates to handle routine medical situations involving students. In
certain serious and emergency medical situations, the Group promptly sends the
students to local hospitals for treatment. With respect to school safety, the Group
engaged a qualified property management company to provide property security
services at the Group’s school premises.

As far as the Board and management of the Company are aware, the Group has
complied in material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the business and operation of the Group. During the
Reporting Period, there was no material breach of or non-compliance with the
applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Group’s results, assets and liabilities for the last four financial
years are set out on pages 211 to 212 “Financial Highlights” of this annual
report. This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial
statements.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM LISTING

Save as disclosed in this annual report, net proceeds from the Listing (after
deducting underwriting fee and relevant expenses) amounted to approximately
HK$733.2 million. As at December 31, 2018, a total amount of HK$733.2 million
out of the net proceeds had been used by the Group according to the allocation
set out in the Prospectus.
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The following sets forth a summary of the utilization of the net proceeds:
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schools in 2018 27.7% 203.1 319.7 0
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1) Upon consideration and assessment, the Company decided to suspend the establishment of
Northwest School and focus the Group’s resources to the Gansu College.

2) Reference is made to the announcement dated 9 July 2018. According to the Prospectus
and the announcements of the Company dated 6 July 2017 and 4 January 2018 for the
establishment of the Northwest School, it was originally intended that HK$123.1 million out of
the proceeds from the global offering in April 2017 would be used for the establishment of the
Northwest School and such amount was utilized to acquire the land use right for the Northwest
School. However, in connection with the Cooperation Agreement, such land use right would be
contributed to the Gansu College for the new campus instead. The Directors considered that as
compared to the new establishment of the Northwest School which can only grant junior college
degree certificates upon establishment, becoming a joint school sponsor of the Gansu College,
an established higher education institution which can grant undergraduate degree certificates,
with an existing capacity of around 8,000 students per academic year is more cost and time
efficient. Upon further consideration and assessment, the Board decided to suspend the
establishment of the Northwest School and focus the Group’s resources to the Gansu College.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
MAJOR CUSTOMERS

For the year ended December 31, 2018, the Group’s customers primarily consist
of the Group’s students and their parents. The Group did not have any single
customer who accounted for more than 5% of the Group’s revenue.
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MAJOR SUPPLIERS

For the year ended December 31, 2018, the Group’s five largest suppliers
accounted for 27.01% of the Group’s total purchases and the Group’s single
largest supplier accounted for 6.25% of the Group’s total purchases.

As at the date of this annual report, none of the Directors or any of their close
associates or any Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
own more than 5% of the number of issued shares of the Company) had any
interest in the Group’s five largest suppliers.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, SUPPLIERS AND
CUSTOMERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good relationship with
its employees, suppliers and customers to meet its immediate and long-term
goals. The Group maintains a good relationship with employees, suppliers and
customers. During the Reporting Period, there were no material and significant
dispute between the Group and its employees, suppliers and/or customers.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group during
the year ended December 31, 2018 are set out in note 3 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year are
set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the
year ended December 31, 2018 are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on page 115 and page 116 of this annual report and note 30
to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at December 31, 2018, the Company’s reserve available for distribution was
RMB30,212,000 (as at December 31, 2017: RMB39,753,000).

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as at December 31,
2018 are set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company as at the date of this annual report are:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:

Mr. Li Xiaoxuan (Chairman of the Board)
Mr. Zhao Shuai
Mr. Ding Yu

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR:
Mr. Chen Shuo

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:

Mr. Wong Man Chung Francis
Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson
Mr. Hu Jianbo

In accordance with article 84(1) of the Articles of Association, one-third of the
Directors shall retire from office by rotation at each annual general meeting
and shall then be eligible for re-election. Accordingly, Mr. Li Xiaoxuan, Mr. Zhao
Shuai and Mr. Hu Jianbo shall retire by rotation, and being eligible, have offered
themselves for re-election at the proposed annual general meeting (“AGM”).

In accordance with article 83(3) of the Articles of Association, Mr. Ding Yu shall
be subject to re-election at the AGM.

Details of the Directors to be re-elected at the AGM will be set out in the circular
to the Shareholders.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the Company are
set out on pages 33 to 41 of this annual report.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence pursuant
to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from each of the independent non-executive
Directors and the Company considers such Directors to be independent since
their appointment and remain so as of the date of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’
MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Non-exempt Continuing Connected
Transaction” and otherwise disclosed in this annual report, no Director or
its connected entity (within the meaning of section 486 of the Companies
Ordinance) had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance to the business of the Group to which
the Company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during
the year ended December 31, 2018.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Non-exempt Continuing Connected
Transaction” in this annual report, none of the Controlling Shareholder or any
of its connected entity (within the meaning of section 486 of the Companies
Ordinance) had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance to the business of the Group to which
the Company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during
the year ended December 31, 2018.

No contract of significance for the provision of services to the Company or
any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries by the Controlling Shareholder of
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was entered into during the year ended
December 31, 2018.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed for
the year ended December 31, 2018.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

A remuneration committee was set up for reviewing the Group’s emolument
policy and structure for all remuneration of the Directors and senior management
of the Group, having regard to the Group’s operating results, individual
performance of the Directors and senior management and comparable market
practices.

The Directors and senior management may also receive options to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme. For further details of the Share Option Scheme,
please refer to page V-33 of the Prospectus “Share Option Scheme”.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors, and five highest paid individuals
during the Reporting Period are set out in notes 9 and 10 to the consolidated

financial statements.

None of the Directors waived any emoluments during the year ended December
31, 2018.
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RETIREMENT AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS SCHEME

Details of the retirement and employee benefits scheme of the Company are set
out in note 3 and 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITION IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

As at December 31, 2018, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which have been notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to
have taken under such provisions of the SFQ), or which were recorded in the
register required to be kept pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set

out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules were as follows:

) REQARHHA: () LONG POSITION IN THE COMPANY:
i A A R R
B
2% Ve LY BHME AL

Approximate
percentage of

Capacity/Nature of shareholding in

Name interest Number of Shares the Company
ZHRE ZEFEEES 792,709,300 55.39%
Mr. Li® Interest in a controlled corporation 792,709,300 55.39%
HE R @ EREBA 751,500 0.05%
Zhao Shuai® Beneficial owner 751,500 0.05%
RO EREBA 321,400 0.02%
Wong Man Chung Francis® Beneficial owner 321,400 0.02%
B EE EREBA 114,400 0.01%
Kwong Wai Sun Wilson® Beneficial owner 114,400 0.01%
PR 4L © BREABA 114,400 0.01%
Chen Shuo® Beneficial owner 114,400 0.01%
T®© BREABA 503,400 0.04%
Ding Yu® Beneficial owner 503,400 0.04%
k= A EREBA 114,400 0.01%
Hu Jianbo® Beneficial owner 114,400 0.01%
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Mr. Li is the sole shareholder of Aspire Education Management and he is therefore deemed to
be interested in the Shares held by Aspire Education Management. Mr. Li holds 53.35% shares
in Aspire Education Technology and he is therefore deemed to be interested in the Shares held
by Aspire Education Technology. Mr. Li holds 79.20% shares in Aspire Education Consulting
and he is therefore deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Aspire Education Consulting.
Aspire Education International is owned by (i) all partners of Chengxin Investment and Huihuang
Investment, being Mr. Li, 44 employees of the Group, the Principal of the Northeast School
and 9 other individuals who are Independent Third Parties; and (i) one other individual, Chan
Tung Hoi (BR&-3§) , a friend of Mr. Li and an Independent Third Party, who invested in the
Company directly through Aspire Education International. Each of the shareholders of Aspire
Education International has authorized Mr. Li to exercise his or her voting rights in Aspire
Education International. Mr. Li is therefore deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Aspire
Education International under the SFO.

Mr. Zhao Shuai is deemed to be interested in 680,500 Shares which may be issued to him
upon exercise of the 680,500 share options granted to him on October 26, 2018.

Mr. Wong Man Chung Francis is deemed to be interested in 114,400 Shares which may be
issued to him upon exercise of the 114,400 share options granted to him on October 26, 2018.

Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson is deemed to be interested in 114,400 Shares which may be issued
to him upon exercise of the 114,400 share options granted to him on October 26, 2018.

Mr. Chen Shuo is deemed to be interested in 114,400 Shares which may be issued to him upon
exercise of the 114,400 share options granted to him on October 26, 2018.

Mr. Ding Yu is deemed to be interested in 503,400 Shares which may be issued to him upon
exercise of the 503,400 share options granted to him on October 26, 2018.

Mr. Hu Jianbo is deemed to be interested in 114,400 Shares which may be issued to him upon
exercise of the 114,400 share options granted to him on October 26, 2018.
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(I REBEZENEE:

(1) LONG POSITION IN ASSOCIATED CORPORATION:

EEKH Yun Ai Group
i S NN
= i AR 2% RAEN
%" & B, REEME WEE Bk
Approximate
Amount of percentage of
Capacity/ registered share shareholding
Name Nature of interest capital in the Company
FRE BHEAA AR¥ T 29.88%
10,428,600
Mr. Li Beneficial owner RMB 29.88%
10,428,600
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AREEMAMEARBET LENZH SEST
BARBARAREMEMEXEEZROAE
BREUESND ESEEEREETMEBRNISHR
ATz F 2B REARBARDAFEMEMEZE
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Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2018, none of the Directors or
the chief executive of the Company had or was deemed to have any interest or
short position in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company
or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) that
was required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
which they were taken or deemed to have taken under such provisions of the
SFO0), or required to be recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the Reporting
Period was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement
that would enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of
shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate, and none
of the Directors or any of their spouses or children under the age of 18 were
granted any right to subscribe for the equity or debt securities of the Company
or any other body corporate or had exercised any such right.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at December 31, 2018, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the following
persons (other than being a Director or chief executive of the Company) had
interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFQ as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant
to section 336 of the SFO:

(h E’g‘zli NEIRGOKREBERKRGFARIE () INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN OUR
mERKRE: SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY:
RAEQXTNEFR Long position in the Company
S NN
% RE #8149
wE LB B REEME BHOHEE Aot
Approximate
percentage of
shareholding in
Name Capacity/Nature of interest Number of Shares the Company
Aspire Education Management ERZEEA 502,160,000 35.09%
Aspire Education Management® Beneficial owner 502,160,000 35.09%
Aspire Education Technology! EZEEA 196,000,000 13.70%
Aspire Education Technology™ Beneficial owner 196,000,000 13.70%
THEED SZESEEERZR 792,709,300 55.39%
ERERA

Mr. Li® Interest in a controlled corporation 792,709,300 55.39%

Advance Vision®
Advance Vision®

EBKRE®
Shanghai Taifu®

and Beneficial owner

EREBA 97,760,000 6.83%
Beneficial owner 97,760,000 6.83%
ZESEEESR 97,760,000 6.83%
Interest in a controlled corporation 97,760,000 6.83%
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7S NN
Iz BB A
wEEB 56 EEtE R & B Bok
Approximate
percentage of
shareholding in
Name Capacity/Nature of interest Number of Shares the Company
RYHFLZERIREBRAT STEEEEER 97,760,000 6.83%
Shenzhen Pingan Decheng Investment Co., Ltd.” Interest in a controlled corporation 97,760,000 6.83%
CRYIITERERREBRAT)®
FYFLZERMBEFAFRIA STEEEEER 97,760,000 6.83%
Shenzhen Pingan Financial Interest in a controlled corporation 97,760,000 6.83%
Technology Consulting Co., Ltd.*
CRYI TR RMB B EH
BRAF)®
HEFZRIE (EE) STEEEEER 90,798,277 6.34%
BROERAR
Ping An Insurance (Group) Interest in a controlled corporation 90,798,277 6.34%
Company of China, Ltd.@
HiREE REHzKEER 90,798,277 6.34%
TEHEEER
UBS Group AG Security interest in Shares/Interest 90,798,277 6.34%
in a controlled corporation
RIBEXRMBEERAT® REHzKEER 301,400,000 21.06%
TEHEEER
CMBC Capital Finance Limited® Security interest in Shares/Interest 301,400,000 21.06%
in a controlled corporation
RIBERZERERAT REHzKBER 301,400,000 21.06%
TEHEEER
CMBC Capital Holdings Limited® Security interest in Shares/Interest 301,400,000 21.06%
in a controlled corporation
CMBC Capital International RBHzKBER 301,400,000 21.06%
Investment Limited® FEFEEER
CMBC Capital International Security interest in Shares/Interest 301,400,000 21.06%

Investment Limited®

in a controlled corporation
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Name

B HEENE

Capacity/Nature of interest

R & & E

Number of Shares

S YN
REBN
Bk
Approximate
percentage of
shareholding in
the Company

CMBC Capital International
Investment (HK) Limited®

CMBC Capital International
Investment (HK) Limited®

CMBC Capital International
Holdings Limited®

CMBC Capital International
Holdings Limited®

EHREY
Jiang Jinzhi®

Unique Element Corp®
Unique Element Corp®

Greenwoods Asset Management Limited®
Greenwoods Asset Management Limited®

Greenwoods Asset Management
Holdings Limited®

Greenwoods Asset Management
Holdings Limited®

Golden China Master Fund®
Golden China Master Fund®

Greenwoods China Alpha Master Fund®
Greenwoods China Alpha Master Fund®

RIRGDZIERERS
ZTEAEEER

Security interest in Shares/Interest
in a controlled corporation

RIRGDZIEAERS
TEAEERER

Security interest in Shares/Interest
in a controlled corporation

SFEHEEES
Interest in a controlled corporation

SFEHEEERS
Interest in a controlled corporation

SFEHEEERS
Interest in a controlled corporation

SFEHEEES
Interest in a controlled corporation
SFEHEEERS
Interest in a controlled corporation

SFEHEEES
Interest in a controlled corporation

301,400,000

301,400,000

301,400,000

301,400,000

71,529,000

71,529,000

71,529,000
71,529,000

71,529,000
71,529,000

71,529,000

71,529,000

71,529,000

71,529,000

71,529,000
71,529,000

21.06%

21.06%

21.06%

21.06%

5.00%

5.00%

5.00%
5.00%

5.00%
5.00%

5.00%

5.00%

5.00%

5.00%

5.00%
5.00%
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Bt :

Z % 4 2 Aspire Education Management#J M — BRER -
It 1% ¥ 48 A %8 8 Aspire Education Managementfff 3% B& 17
KIRERS o

Z 5 4 3% Aspire Education Technology#953.35%8& 13 »
Lt 187 3 43 & ¥ A5 Aspire Education TechnologyFfr 33 A%
RS o

Z %5 4 3% H Aspire Education Consulting#979.20% & 13 +
[ bt 1% #% 18 % % & Aspire Education Consulting 513 A& 2
KRR o

Aspire Education International ()il SR E R BIEIRE
WETEABA (BIZh4E AEEMZES -T2
RERERIBHMUABIE=FHNEAN)  Ri)—&
3% 3B Aspire Education International B #2318 B R A T WY
HiBARLE (ZERENPRR—BBILE=FH)
#75 © Aspire Education International By &1 BRI E 2
EE L4 R BITER S M Aspire Education International
HERER - METEEREZFRBEKRABERAE
B Aspire Education International 7 3 IR {2 RO FE 25 ©

EEARE B Advance VisionBI 2 ZBIR4D - MR L&
% 15 B¥E A Advance VisionFT IR R - EBKE
HWEBEBAARYTFEFRERNREER AT %
LZEEEARRNFZeRNMEZAERATRE
EE MRIFZERBEEAERATDAUNBFE
FRAR (EE)ROBBERLT (—ERPEFEMK
YHWRODERAT U RBERMER (BRHNRE:
2318) R LIBEHRZ T (RS 601318) £777)
HEH%52% LBARE - RITFLRERREAR
AR FRIFRZERREBAERATARFEFZ
REE (@) KRR D AT R B Advance Vision
BENROPEERS

RIBERVGBEERLOAFERREABRE (FB)
BRARZERGD MRBEKRRE (FB)BRA
ABERREBREEGRATZIBRM - RIIEER
REERAFABFERBERERERATD IR
MRBREAEZERBERABDVSERBRERNTHEERD
AEHBRM REEGREBRZERERAT RIEH
BIRE(EB)ERLA RREBBREBRATR
RIBEFREZERBERATNSEHERARETLELER
Aspire Education Managementf 17 & 1 & A R R & 2N B
BERADFENEEHENESERPEEER

Greenwoods Asset Management Holdings Limited ~ Golden
China Master Fund -~ Greenwoods China Alpha Master
Fund ~Greenwoods Asset Management Limited -~ Unique
Element Corpf ¥ 385 % B # 18 & 7 Greenwoods Asset
Management Limited T35 B HI IR0 R E B #E % ©

Notes:

Mr. Li is the sole shareholder of Aspire Education Management and he is therefore
deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Aspire Education Management.

Mr. Li holds 53.35% shares in Aspire Education Technology and he is therefore deemed
to be interested in the Shares held by Aspire Education Technology.

Mr. Li holds 79.20% shares in Aspire Education Consulting and he is therefore deemed
to be interested in the Shares held by Aspire Education Consulting.

Aspire Education International is owned by (i) all partners of Chengxin Investment and
Huihuang Investment, being Mr. Li, 44 employees of the Group, the Principal of the
Northeast School and 9 other individuals who are Independent Third Parties; and (ii)
one other individual, Chan Tung Hoi (PR & &) , a friend of Mr. Li and an Independent
Third Party, who invested in the Company directly through Aspire Education
International. Each of the shareholders of Aspire Education International has authorized
Mr. Li to exercise his or her voting rights in Aspire Education International. Mr. Li is
therefore deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Aspire Education International
under the SFO.

Shanghai Taifu holds 100% shares in Advance Vision and it is therefore deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by Advance Vision upon the Listing. The general partner
of Shanghai Taifu is Shenzhen Pingan Decheng Investment Co., Ltd. GRII T F %2
ERIREABR QT ) . Such general partner is wholly owned by Shenzhen Pingan
Financial Technology Consulting Co., Ltd. CRYIFZ S BMBFEHZHAERAT) ,
which is in turn owned as to 96.52% by Ping An Insurance (Group) Company of China,
Ltd. (FEF =R (£@)BRMDEMR2AT) , ajoint-stock company incorporated
in the PRC and listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2318)
and the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 601318). Each of the Shanghai Taifu,
Shenzhen Pingan Decheng Investment Co., Ltd. GRII T P L ERBREBR D
), Shenzhen Pingan Financial Technology Consulting Co., Ltd. (GRIIIF %2 & @Rl

ZH#AR2QA) and Ping An Insurance (Group) Company of China, Ltd. ( FF B P
ZIRB (EE) RDER DT is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by
Advance Vision.

CMBC International Holdings Limited holds 100% shares in CMBC International
Investment (HK) Limited, which in turn holds 100% shares in CMBC International
Investment Limited. CMBC International Investment Limited holds 100% shares in
CMBC Capital Holdings Limited, which in turn holds 100% shares in CMBC Capital
Finance Limited. Each of CMBC International Holdings Limited, CMBC International
Investment (HK) Limited, CMBC International Investment Limited and CMBC Capital
Holdings Limited is deemed to be interested in the same number of security interest
held by CMBC Capital Finance Limited upon the pledge of shares by Mr. Li and Aspire
Education Management.

Each of Greenwoods Asset Management Holdings Limited, Golden China Master Fund,
Greenwoods China Alpha Master Fund, Greenwoods Asset Management Limited,
Unique Element Corp and Jiang Jinzhi is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by
Greenwoods Asset Management Limited.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIHEXREBERAT
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(1) LONG POSITION IN ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS:

REEEENETR Long position in Yun Ai Group
FREE
o B A SERRE
wE BB BB EEMHE WEE BB
Approximate
percentage of
Amount of shareholding
Name Capacity/Nature of interest registered capital in Yun Ai Group
REER BEREAA AR 22.8102%
7,960,964 7T
Daai Partnership Beneficial owner RMB7.960964 22.8102%
million
B ERZBEEA AR 20.0568%
7,000,0007T
Pai Dui Pai Beneficial owner RMB7 million 20.0568%
EBXE ERZBEEA AR 15.5265%
5,418,904 7T
Shanghai Taifu Beneficial owner RMB5.418904 15.5265%
million
REHARANEE Long position in Haxuan Company
PGB
RS N AR R
wEEBE B EEME WEE BABEDH
Approximate
percentage of
Amount of shareholding in
Name Capacity/Nature of interest registered capital Haxuan Company
BENF EDBEAA AR 26.09%
31,308,0007T
Ningde Company Beneficial owner RMB31.308 26.09%
million
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BEXREEEN R2018FE12831A - EE I R
MEEFEAAL (LIEEFAQRTAESTHAEL)
REARAAAEERDTFEERERSZRBE
ROIEXVEE2REIPHAFHENEZR KR
RIS R E KA F336F AR REZKAFTE
HESMANERE AR -

fBRERTE

AATER2017FE38208 (MRMBH D RMBR
BB EERNAEBRALTRERAQITEEEA
BRENKS WEBFESREABERYAEERER
WER R/ IR EEBENERATER LR
SIRBERUEM A RN EEEFTEEREERNE
B EEIRIMSNBEER SHEEEEANR
REERREAEBNESE BRI D ZEEKA
THEEBER BIRTHRAE(EZETX)M
B NEAEERIIFBELRLEE BEE AR
AR SR ESBENSEGATER-

FERATBEQFASEEMKRE R RN EMAH
TESE K8 FEETHR B EEREMUBL
WEMEE (TTHRAR] EFAREREAE EF
ERARBES APATLAEEITAXERARE
EEBIARBIENAL (EE]D  0)AEEE
ARERANESHREES (BEEBYFATE
) OFREBEARELCANEEIBEERR ()
AAEEEARELRAHESRBMBHHERD
AEEEMKEQARANEF BB XBHEE
B -mEE- AR REINR (BAKEE
ARERAREERT AR - FABRIAEMERE
Uz BH EXHIEMBRBENEAREE (0
EX@QEORAAETAIHBEA ROEFA2
HARNREBEEMESSETES2HEBERE
SEMALT (ERALTRIEERALL)

HITEREERETERAEEEAMEMTEHN
FRENFEEREMUEZRTHNESRAOEE
EHTEBBBHE LTSN EHTRMA10% (A
143,110,000 B 12 T B & E 24 A 7 Ari% & 8 38 Bt
REETEMITEEFHRITHNRNG) - HERFERAE
BB BITRMHN10%

ARIREHIR - AN D B #EHE8,195,20017 14 R 1T E B
B HERSBITRM Z05727% R LEERE %
1T 13 20.5694% °

Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2018, the Directors were not
aware of any persons (who were not Directors or chief executive of the Company)
who had an interest or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO, or which would be required, pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme on 20 March 2017
(“Adoption Date”) for the purpose of giving the eligible persons an opportunity
to have a personal stake in the Company and help motivate them to optimize
their future contributions to the Group and/or to reward them for their past
contributions, to attract and retain or otherwise maintain on-going relationships
with such eligible persons who are significant to and/or whose contributions are
or will be beneficial to the performance, growth or success of the Group, and
additionally in the case of executives (as defined below), to enable the Group to
attract and retain individuals with experience and ability and/or to reward them
for their past contributions.

Eligible persons include (a) any executive director of, manager of, or other
employee holding an executive, managerial, supervisory or similar position in
any member of the Group (“Executive”), any proposed employee, any full-time or
part-time employee, or a person for the time being seconded to work full-time or
part-time for any member of the Group (“Employee”); (b) a director or proposed
director (including an independent non-executive director) of any member of
the Group; (c) a direct or indirect shareholder of any member of the Group; (d)
a supplier of goods or services to any member of the Group; (e) a customer,
consultant, business or joint venture partner, franchisee, contractor, agent or
representative of any member of the Group; (f) a person or entity that provides
design, research, development or other support or any advisory, consultancy,
professional or other services to any member of the Group; (g) an associate of
any of the persons referred to in paragraphs (a) to (f) above; and (h) any person
involved in the business affairs of the Company whom our Board determines to
be appropriate to participate in the Share Option Scheme (the person referred
above are the “Eligible Persons”).

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other schemes
of the Group shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at
the Listing Date, which is 143,110,000 Shares excluding Shares which may
fall to be issued upon the exercise of the over-allotment option granted by the
Company, representing approximately 10% of the issued shares as at the date of
this annual report.

As at the reporting period, the Company had 8,195,200 outstanding share
options, representing 0.5727% of the issued shares and 0.5694% of the
enlarged issued shares.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIHEXREBERAT
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No option may be granted to any one person such that the total number of
Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of options granted and to be
granted to that person in any 12-month period exceeds 1% of the Company’s
issued share capital from time to time. Where any further grant of options to
such an Eligible Person would result in the Shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of all options granted and to be granted to such eligible person
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in the 12-month period
up to and including the date of such further grant representing in aggregate
over 1% of the Shares in issue, such further grant shall be separately approved
by the Shareholders in general meeting with such eligible person and his close
associates (or his associates if such eligible person is a connected person)
abstaining from voting.

The Board shall be entitled at any time within 10 years from the Adoption Date
to offer the grant of an option to any eligible person as the Board may in its
absolute discretion select to subscribe at the subscription price for such number
of Shares as the Board may (subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme)
determine (provided the same shall be a board lot for dealing in the Shares on
the Stock Exchange or an integral multiple thereof).

Subject to such terms and conditions as the Board may determine (including
such terms and conditions in relation to their vesting, exercise or otherwise),
there is no minimum period for which an option must be held before it can be
exercised and no performance target which need to be achieved by the grantee
before the Option can be exercised.

An offer of the grant of an option shall remain open for acceptance by the
eligible person concerned for a period of 28 days from the offer date provided
that no such grant of an option may be accepted after the expiry of the effective
period of the Share Option Scheme. An option shall be deemed to have been
granted and accepted by the eligible person and to have taken effect when the
duplicate offer letter comprising acceptance of the offer of the option duly signed
by the grantee together with a remittance in favor of the Company of HK$1.00
by way of consideration for the grant thereof is received by the Company on
or before the date upon which an offer of an option must be accepted by the
relevant eligible person, being a date no later than 28 days after the offer date.

The subscription price in respect of any particular option shall be such price
as the Board may in its absolute discretion determine at the time of grant of
the relevant option (and shall be stated in the letter containing the offer of the
grant of the option) but the subscription price shall not be less than whichever
is the highest of: (a) the nominal value of a Share; (b) the closing price of a
Share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the offer date;
and (c) the average closing price of a Share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheets for the 5 business days (as defined in the Listing Rules)
immediately preceding the offer date.
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BRESASBEERBERHFZAETIFAR
MRER HETBRUFREZBERE EBRE
AENMRYXEEMABHCTEEBRAEROIRE
MoHEEMAREMERHRTENZHDERES
A MREN LA B RETERRT RRZATE
TRE-BRET NN R RSFIEA -

BZE2018F 12831 LFE REBREFERL
MEERESEFBENT :

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years
from the date on which it becomes unconditional, after which no further options
will be granted or offered but the provisions of the Share Option Scheme shall
remain in force and effect in all other respects. All options granted prior to such
expiry and not then exercised shall continue to be valid and exercisable subject
to and in accordance with the Share Option Scheme. The remaining life of the
Share Option Scheme is around 8 years and 1 months.

Details of the movement of share options granted under the Share Option
Scheme for the year ended 31 December 2018 are as follows:

R2018% 20185
BRITEE 1A1H REHHE BEHHE BEHHE 128318
SHEALER REBH (B7r) i R AT Rit BTE  H8/%&X R AT B
Granted Exercised Cancelled/
Exercise Outstanding during the during the  lapsed during QOutstanding
price per share at January 1, Reporting Reporting  the Reporting at December
Category of participants Date of grant (HK$) 2018 Period Period Period 31,2018
Ex
Directors
A 2018F381H 5.55 - 343,200 - 343,200 -
Zhao Shuai March 1, 2018 5.55 - 343,200 - 343,200 -
KRUFR* 20183818 5.55 - 343,200 - 343,200 -
Zhu Lidong* March 1, 2018 5.55 - 343,200 - 343,200 -
R 20183818 5.55 - 114,400 - 114,400 -
Zhang Ke** March 1, 2018 5.55 - 114,400 - 114,400 -
THh 2018%F3A1H 5.55 - 480,500 - 480,500 -
Ding Yu March 1, 2018 5.55 - 480,500 - 480,500 -
BEXR 2018F3/1H 5.55 - 114,400 - 114,400 -
Wong Man Chung Francis March 1, 2018 5.55 - 114,400 - 114,400 -
BEiE 2018%3A1H 5.55 - 114,400 - 114,400 -
Kwong Wai Sun Wilson March 1, 2018 5.55 - 114,400 - 114,400 -
HEK 20185 381R 5.55 - 114,400 - 114,400 -
Hu Jianbo March 1, 2018 5.55 - 114,400 - 114,400 -

Ceased to be a director on 23 March 2018
H2018F3B23ABHEES

Ceased to be a director on 6 July 2018
H2018FE7H6EBHIES
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R2018%F R20185
BRTFEE 1A1H REHE REHE REHE 128318
SEALER R AE (B71) e R AT B8 R BT BE -3 i R AT B
Granted Exercised Cancelled/
Exercise Outstanding during the during the  lapsed during Outstanding
price per share at January 1, Reporting Reporting  the Reporting at December
Category of participants Date of grant (HK$) 2018 Period Period Period 31,2018
E& 20183818 5.55 - 5,487,500 - 5,487,500 -
Employees March 1, 2018 5.55 - 5,487,500 - 5,487,500 -
EE
Directors
FZH 201856A48H 7.652 - 709,300 - 709,300 -
Li Xiaoxuan June 8, 2018 7.652 - 709,300 - 709,300 -
TH 201856 88H 7.652 - 22,900 - 22,900 -
Ding Yu June 8, 2018 7.652 - 22,900 - 22,900 -
R 1t 20186 A8H 7.652 - 114,400 - 114,400 -
Chen Shuo June 8, 2018 7.652 - 114,400 - 114,400 -
EE 2018%6H8H 7.652 - 827,900 - 827,900 -
Employees June 8, 2018 7.652 - 827,900 - 827,900 -
&8 20187 A 128 7.950 - 404,200 - 404,200 -
Employees July 12,2018 7.950 - 404,200 - 404,200 -
EE
Directors
X0 201859 3R 5.92 - 709,300 - - 709,300
Li Xiaoxuan September 3, 2018 5.92 - 709,300 - - 709,300
A 2018698 3A 5.92 - 337,300 - 337,300 -
Zhao Shuai September 3, 2018 5.92 - 337,300 - 337,300 -
TH 2018%F9A3H 5.92 - 22,900 - 22,900 -
Ding Yu September 3, 2018 5.92 - 22,900 - 22,900 -
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R2018%F R20185
BRTFEE 1A1H & HE REHE REHE 128318
SEALER R AE (B71) e R AT B8 R BT BE -3 i R AT B
Granted Exercised Cancelled/
Exercise Outstanding during the during the  lapsed during Outstanding
price per share at January 1, Reporting Reporting  the Reporting at December
Category of participants Date of grant (HK$) 2018 Period Period Period 31,2018
[ 2018F9A3AR 5.92 - 114,400 - 114,400 -
Chen Shuo September 3, 2018 5.92 - 114,400 - 114,400 -
E& 20189438 592 - 1,446,600 - 1,446,600 -
Employees September 3, 2018 5.92 - 1,446,600 - 1,446,600 -
EE
Directors
ikl 2018510826 4.202 - 680,500 - - 680,500
Zhao Shuai October 26, 2018 4.202 - 680,500 - - 680,500
TH 20185108268 4.202 - 503,400 - - 503,400
Ding Yu October 26, 2018 4.202 - 503,400 - - 503,400
[y 20185108261 4.202 - 114,400 - - 114,400
Chen Shuo October 26, 2018 4,202 - 114,400 - - 114,400
BEXR 20185108268 4.202 - 114,400 - - 114,400
Wong Man Chung Francis QOctober 26, 2018 4.202 - 114,400 - - 114,400
BEE 2018108268 4.202 - 114,400 - - 114,400
Kwong Wai Sun Wilson QOctober 26, 2018 4,202 - 114,400 - - 114,400

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIHEXREBERAT



EETEHRS
REPORT OF DIRECTORS

R20185F R20185

BRTFEE 1A1H REHE REHE REHE 12A318

SEALER REBH (B71) e R AT R BT BE -3 i R AT B

Granted Exercised Cancelled/

Exercise Outstanding during the during the  lapsed during Outstanding

price per share at January 1, Reporting Reporting  the Reporting at December

Category of participants Date of grant (HK$) 2018 Period Period Period 31,2018

HHER 2018510826 H 4.202 - 114,400 - - 114,400

Hu Jianbo October 26, 2018 4,202 - 114,400 - - 114,400

E& 20185108268 4.202 - 6,050,600 - 324,900 5,725,700

Employees October 26, 2018 4.202 - 6,050,600 - 324,900 5,725,700

&g 201811 A28 4.320 - 122,100 - 3,400 118,700

Employees November 2, 2018 4.320 - 122,100 - 3,400 118,700

@ 19,635,400 - 11,440,200 8,195,200

Total 19,635,400 - 11,440,200 8,195,200
201954818 » AAEE 13,480,000 BB AR E  On 1 April 2019, the Group granted 3,480,000 share options, among which,

F343 200 IE R EC R FES THEA T R364
BT e

fR 40 &0t =%

BMAFRIMBRETE] —SFABEEEN REZE
2018F12AIHLEFER  AARBHEAHE L
BB () ER EEHARQTRITRONG
SN ER AR B ET A () Fr 5 B A9 1E 0 175 5 B9 1
BN ER

BENRBEASEES

HMEXRARNABRELBREZARQATIT 22019F 7
HER RAREEESR —MREEAZE K219
F4H9H » ZX A 7] ~ Aspire Education Technology ~ Z= %%
A REERECLSA LimitedD ] YR ER BB HZE
BUHREREBEUREESRRMGI7TETL BEH
Aspire Education Technology#& & #9110,000,0008% B% 13
FRORANBBEIAL BERMERBEERELD
AEREBRITRANNTNNE KRBEHIEKRE
ERTRANO714% (BERBITRERMD I
RARNEBITRABAGEHAHEZERBEETER
BRI EEs) RBEEGTIBREBEFELA
3B EBET RBEEHASFREZTETREER
it ERBERENLELTREER FUEE-FEE
EETENFRHEIRAKRLT AEAR2019F48108
HAE -HR2019F4817TH ERRBBIES  HE81T
110,000,0008% BZ 17 ©

343,200 share options were granted to the Directors, at the exercise price of
HK$3.64 per Share.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” of this annual
report, during the year ended December 31, 2018, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries had entered into (i) any agreement that will or may result
in the Company issuing Shares; or (i) any agreement requiring the Company to
enter into any agreement specified in (i).

FUND RAISING FOR THE PAST 12 MONTHS

For the purpose of improvement of the financing structure of the Company and
to repay certain outstanding loans of the Company due in 2019 and general
corporate usage, and for working capital and general corporate purposes, on 9
April 2019, the Company, Aspire Education Technology, Mr. Li and CLSA Limited,
the placing agent entered into a placing and subscription agreement, pursuant
to which, the placing agent will place a total of 110,000,000 placing shares at
a price of HK$3.57 per Share owned by Aspire Education Technology to not less
than six independent placees. The placing shares represent approximately 7.69%
of the then issued share capital of the Company and approximately 7.14% of the
issued share capital of the Company as enlarged by the subscription (assuming
that there is no change in the issued share capital of the Company from the date
of the announcement to the completion of the subscription save for the issue of
the subscription Shares). The net proceeds from the subscription are estimated
to be HK$388.5 million. The subscription is conditional upon completion of
the placing and the Stock Exchange granting the listing of, and permission to
deal in, the subscription shares. Details of the share placing are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 10 April 2019. A total of 110,000,000 shares
were issued upon completion of the subscription on 17 April 2019.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

During the year ended December 31, 2018, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities save as disclosed above.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association
or the laws of the Cayman Islands that would oblige the Company to offer new
Shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.

NON-COMPETITION
BEIJING LIANHE

Please refer to the section headed “Relationship with our Controlling
Shareholders” in the Prospectus for the business scope of Beijing Lianhe and
the reason to exclude Beijing Lianhe out of the Group. In order to safeguard
the interests of our Company in respect of the future business opportunities in
Beijing Lianhe and against potential competition, we have adopted measures
including options to acquire Beijing Lianhe, right of first refusal and right of
selling request.

As at the date of this annual report, Beijing Lianhe has obtained the business
license for the expanded business scope, the internet culture operation license,
the value-added telecommunications business operating license and radio and
TV program production and business operating license. Considering that Beijing
Lianhe is still at preliminary stage of its business as at the date of this report,
the Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors) consider it not
appropriate to acquire Beijing Lianhe at the current stage.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING OF THE
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

In addition, the Controlling Shareholders have entered into the Deed of
Non-competition on March 20, 2017 in favour of the Company, pursuant to
which our Controlling Shareholders have jointly and severally and irrevocably
undertaken with the Company (for itself and for the benefit of its subsidiaries)
that it or he would not, and would procure that its or his associates (except any
members of the Group) would not, during the restricted period set out below,
directly or indirectly, either on its or his own account or in conjunction with or on
behalf of any person, firm or company, among other things, carry on, participate
or be interested or engaged in or hold (in each case whether as a shareholder,
partner, agent, employee or otherwise) any business which is or may be in
competition with the business of any member of the Group from time to time.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the Reporting Period, none of the Directors or their respective associates
had engaged in or had any interest in any business which competes or is likely
to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Reporting Period and till the date of this annual report, the following
transactions carried out by the Group and the connected persons of the Company
constituted non-exempt continuing connected transactions of the Company
pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rule:

STRUCTURED CONTRACTS

A

Background and overview

We currently conduct our private higher education business through the
PRC Operating Schools in the PRC as PRC laws and regulations generally
restrict foreign ownership in the private education industry in the PRC.
PRC laws and regulations currently restrict the operation of higher
education institutions to Sino-foreign cooperation ownership, in addition
to imposing qualification requirements on the foreign owners. We do not
hold any equity interest in the PRC Operating Schools. The Structured
Contracts, through which we obtain control over and derive the economic
benefits from the PRC Operating Schools, have been narrowly tailored
to achieve our business purpose and minimize the potential conflict with
relevant PRC laws and regulations. We had entered into the Structured
Contracts for the existing PRC Operating Schools and expect to enter into
structured contracts for the schools to be newly established or invested
in, the terms and conditions of which shall be the same as the existing
Structured Contracts in all material aspects.

In order to comply with the PRC laws and regulations as set out above
while availing ourselves of international capital markets and maintaining
effective control over all of our operations, on September 8, 2016,
our wholly-owned subsidiary, Huihuang Company, entered into various
agreements that constitute the Structured Contracts with, among others,
the PRC Operating Schools and the School Sponsors, under which all
economic benefits arising from the business of the PRC Operating Schools
and the School Sponsors are transferred to Huihuang Company to the
extent permitted under the PRC laws and regulations by means of service
fees payable by the PRC Operating Schools and the School Sponsors
to Huihuang Company. Although the Registered Shareholders are not
consolidated as part of the Group, they are parties to certain agreements
which constitute the Structured Contracts to ensure that the Shareholders’
rights of Yun Ai Group are actually controlled by Huihuang Company.
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The following simplified diagram illustrates the flow of economic benefits
from the PRC Operating Schools and/or the School Sponsors to the Group
stipulated under the Structured Contracts:
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Notes:

Payment of service fees.
Provision of exclusive technical and management consultancy services.

Exclusive call option to acquire all or part of the School sponsors’ interest in the PRC
Operating Schools and all or part equity interest in the School Sponsors.

Entrustment of school sponsors’ rights in the PRC Operating Schools by Yun Ai Group
and Bei Ai Company.

Entrustment of directors’ rights in the PRC Operating Schools by directors of the PRC
Operating Schools including directors’ powers of attorney.

Entrust of Shareholders’ right including Shareholders’ power of attorney.

Pledge of equity interest by the Registered Shareholders of their equity interest in Yun
Ai Group.

Provision of loans by Huihuang Company to Yun Ai Group.
According to PRC laws and regulations, entities and individuals who establish private

schools are commonly referred to as “school sponsors” instead of “owners” or
“shareholders”.

As of the date of this annual report, we have not encountered any
interference or encumbrance from any governing bodies in our plan to
adopt the Structured Contracts and the consolidated financial results of
the PRC Operating Schools which engage in higher education service, are
consolidated to those of the Group.
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Summary of the Material Terms of the Structured Contracts

A description of each of the specific agreements that comprise the
Structured Contracts is set out below.

(7)

Business Cooperation Agreement

Pursuant to the Business Cooperation Agreement, Huihuang
Company shall provide technical services, management support and
consulting services necessary for the private education business,
and in return, the PRC Operating Schools and the School Sponsors
shall make payments accordingly.

To ensure the due performance of the Structured Contracts, each
of the PRC Operating Schools and the School Sponsors agreed to
comply, and procure any of its subsidiaries to comply with, and
the Registered Shareholders agreed to procure the PRC Operating
Schools and the School Sponsors to comply with the obligations as
prescribed under the Business Cooperation Agreement set forth as
follows:

(@)  to carry out its private education operations in a prudent
and efficient manner in accordance with good financial and
business standards while maintaining the asset value of the
PRC Operating Schools and the School Sponsors and the
quality and standard of private education;

(b)  to prepare school development plans and annual working
plans in accordance with the instructions of Huihuang
Company;

(c)  to carry out its private education activities and other relevant
business under the assistance of Huihuang Company;

(d)  to carry out and manage its daily operations and financial
management in accordance with the recommendations,
advice, principles and other instructions of Huihuang
Company;

(e)  to execute and act upon the recommendations of Huihuang
Company in terms of employment and removal of senior
management and staff;

() to adopt the advice, guidance and plans given by Huihuang
Company in relation to their respective strategic development;

and

()  to carry out its business operations and renew and maintain
its respective necessary licenses.
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In addition, pursuant to the Business Cooperation Agreement,

(@)

Mr. Li undertakes to Huihuang Company that, in the event
of death, loss of or restriction on capacity, divorce or other
circumstances which may affect the exercise of his direct
or indirect equity interest in the Registered Shareholders,
he shall have made all necessary arrangement and sign
all necessary documents such that his/their respective
successor, guardian, spouse, and any other person which may
as a result of the above events obtain the equity interest or
relevant rights shall not prejudice or hinder the enforcement
of the Structured Contracts;

the Registered Shareholders undertake to Huihuang
Company that, in the event of a merger and subdivision of
the Registered Shareholders (except for Mr. Li), presentation
by the Registered Shareholders (except for Mr. Li) or the
Registered Shareholders (except for Mr. Li) being presented
any application for winding up, liquidation, winding up
restructuring or reconciliation, dissolution and liquidation of
the Registered Shareholders (except for Mr. Li) pursuant to an
order, application for involuntary dissolution of the Registered
Shareholders (except for Mr. Li) or other reasons, or other
circumstances which may affect the Registered Shareholders
in exercising its direct or indirect interest in Yun Ai Group,
they shall have made all necessary arrangement and sign all
necessary documents such that the successor, administrator,
liquidation committee and any other person which may as
a result of the above events obtain the direct or indirect
interest or relevant rights in Yun Ai Group shall not prejudice
or hinder the enforcement of the Structured Contracts;
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the Registered Shareholders undertake that, in the event of
the dissolution or liquidation of the PRC Operating Schools
and/or the School Sponsors, (i) Huihuang Company shall
have the right to exercise all school sponsor’s right on behalf
of the School Sponsors/shareholders’ rights on the PRC
Operating Schools and/or School Sponsors; (ii) PRC Operating
Schools and/or School Sponsors and/or the shareholders
of the PRC Operating Schools and/or School Sponsors shall
transfer all assets received or receivable in its capacity as
school sponsor of each of the PRC Operating Schools/as
shareholders of each of the School Sponsors as a result of
the dissolution or liquidation of the PRC Operating Schools
and/or the School Sponsors to Huihuang Company or other
persons designated by us at nil consideration, and instruct
all of the PRC Operating Schools and/or the School Sponsors
to transfer such assets directly to Huihuang Company
before such dissolution or liquidation; (i) if consideration
is required for such transfer under the then applicable PRC
laws, PRC Operating Schools and/or School Sponsors and/
or the shareholders of PRC Operating Schools and/or School
Sponsors shall compensate Huihuang Company or the person
as designated by us the amount and guarantee that Huihuang
Company or other persons as designated by us does not
suffer any loss; and

School Sponsors and the PRC Operating Schools agreed
that, without the prior written consent of Huihuang Company,
the PRC Operating Schools and/or School Sponsors shall
not declare or pay to its shareholders any reasonable return
or other interest or benefit. In the event that the School
Sponsors/the shareholders of the School Sponsors receive
any reasonable return or other interest or benefit, the School
Sponsors/the shareholders of the School Sponsors shall
unconditionally and without compensation transfer such
amount to Huihuang Company.
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Exclusive Technical Service and Management Consultancy
Agreement

Pursuant to the Exclusive Technical Service and Management
Consultancy Agreement, Huihuang Company agreed to provide
exclusive technical services to the PRC Operating Schools and
the School Sponsors, including but not limited to, (a) design,
development, update and maintenance of software for computer and
mobile devices; (b) design, development, update and maintenance
of webpages and websites necessary for the education activities
of the PRC Operating Schools and the School Sponsors; (c)
design, development, update and maintenance of management
information systems necessary for the education activities of the
PRC Operating Schools and the School Sponsors; (d) provision of
other technical support necessary for the education activities of the
PRC Operating Schools and the School Sponsors; (e) provision of
technical consulting services; (f) provision of technical training; (g)
engaging technical staff to provide on-site technical support; and (h)
providing other technical services reasonably requested by the PRC
Operating Schools and the School Sponsors.

Furthermore, Huihuang Company agreed to provide exclusive
management consultancy services to the PRC Operating Schools
and the School Sponsors, including but not limited to, (a) design
of curriculum; (b) preparation, selection and/or recommendation of
course materials; (c) provision of teacher and staff recruitment and
training support and services; (d) provision of student recruitment
support and services; (e) provision of public relation services; (f)
preparation of long term strategic development plans and annual
working plans; (g) development of financial management systems
and recommendation and optimization on annual budget; (h)
advising on design of internal structures and internal management;
(i) provision of management and consultancy training; (j) conduct
of market research; (k) preparation of market development plan; (1)
building of marketing network; and (m) providing other management
technical services reasonably requested by the PRC Operating
Schools and the School Sponsors.

In consideration of the technical and management consultancy
services provided by Huihuang Company, each of the PRC Operating
Schools and the School Sponsors agreed to pay Huihuang Company
a service fee equal to an agreed percentage of their respective
amount of surplus from operations (after deducting all costs,
expenses, taxes, losses from the previous year (if required by the
law) and the legally compulsory development fund of the respective
school (if required by the law)). The compulsory development fund
is included as statutory surplus reserve at the Group’s level and
retained at schools’ level. Huihuang Company has the right (but not
the obligation) to adjust the amount of such service fee by reference
to the actual services provided and the actual business operations
and needs of the PRC Operating Schools and the School Sponsors,
provided that any adjusted amount shall not exceed the amount
mentioned above. The PRC Operating Schools and/or the School
Sponsors do not have any right to make any such adjustment.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIHEXREBERAT



3

“

BRABRIE &

REBXIABHEGE TERRAT
BEHREBEARAIHEEEBEAR
BEERENENTEHEESZRNEHR
BOERBPERZRNEREREN
B ((EERBE]) -BEAFHRR
TEREREIABERSTEZSERENEE
mHREMENNBEERESTEEE
FERMENREE - BELAFNIEEE
BEABRBHRARENLHBES
BEEERNERENERRIRHR
ERERENES

BERENEREZRFIZT &

RESERERERESHENZTHS
EERERLEQATN T THELRER
ZABEEARATHEEFRATEEEER
EENBERERE I ABER HERAE
FREDAEHLE - RSN EEETRR
QFEFER RERERESRESEE
ENER OERER RERERES
HEF OHEREFERPBRRNA
BE:. FEHNESERBERETRLHKE
ERVBHRRIRBENERN @REBEE
ERSFERNASERMAUBMEES
EREMECSERRNER NRE
FEREMERNEMERMAKESR
REBERNGEENERN (HOEER
ERERERDZNERN RNEBEPER
ERERREMERTIRE] 2ABE
RARFFEA BRI EREES -

3

“

EETEHRS
REPORT OF DIRECTORS

Exclusive Call Option Agreement

Under the Exclusive Call Option Agreement, the Registered
Shareholders have irrevocably granted Huihuang Company or its
designated purchaser the right to purchase all or part of the school
sponsor’s interest of the School Sponsors in the PRC Operating
Schools and equity interest in the School Sponsors (“Equity Call
Option”). The purchase price payable by Huihuang Company
in respect of the transfer of such school sponsor’s interest or
equity interest upon exercise of the Equity Call Option shall be
the lowest price permitted under the PRC laws and regulations.
Huihuang Company or its designated purchaser shall have the
right to purchase such proportion of the school sponsor’s interest
of the PRC Operating Schools and/or equity interest in the School
Sponsors as it decides at any time.

School Sponsors’ and Directors’ Rights Entrustment Agreement

Pursuant to the School Sponsors’ and Directors’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement, Yun Ai Group and Bei Ai Company have irrevocably
authorized and entrusted Huihuang Company to exercise all its
rights as school sponsor of each of the PRC Operating Schools
to the extent permitted by PRC laws. These rights include, but
are not limited to: (a) the right to appoint and/or elect directors
or council members of the schools; (b) the right to appoint and/
or elect supervisors of the schools; (c¢) the right to understand
the operation and financial situation of the schools; (d) the right
to review the resolutions and records of the board of directors
and financial statements and reports of the schools; (e) the right
to obtain reasonable returns as school sponsor of the schools in
accordance with the laws and the articles of association of each
school; (f) the right to acquire residue assets upon liquidation of the
schools in accordance with the laws and the articles of association
of each school; (g) the right to transfer school sponsors’ interest
in accordance with the laws; and (h) other school sponsor’s rights
pursuant to applicable PRC laws and regulations and the articles of
association of each school as amended from time to time.
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Pursuant to the School Sponsors’ and Directors’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement, each of the directors of each school (the “Appointees”)
has irrevocably authorized and entrusted Huihuang Company to
exercise all his/her rights as directors of the PRC Operating Schools
as appointed by the School Sponsors and to the extent permitted by
PRC laws. These rights include, but are not limited to: (a) the right
to attend meetings of the board of directors as representative of the
directors appointed by the School Sponsors; (b) the right to exercise
voting rights in respect of all matters discussed and resolved at
the board meeting of each of the PRC Operating Schools; (c) the
right to propose to convene interim board meetings of each of the
PRC Operating Schools; (d) the right to sign all board minutes,
board resolutions and other legal documents which the directors
appointed by Yun Ai Group and Bei Ai Company have authority to
sign in his/her capacity as directors of the PRC Operating Schools;
(e) the right to instruct the legal representative and financial and
business responsible persons of the PRC Operating Schools to act
in accordance with the instruction of Huihuang Company; (f) the
right to exercise all other rights and voting rights of directors as
prescribed under the articles of association of the PRC Operating
Schools; (g) the right to handle the legal procedures of registration,
approval and licensing of the PRC Operating Schools, as the
case may be at the education department, the department of civil
affairs or other government regulatory departments; and (h) other
directors’ rights pursuant to applicable PRC laws and regulations
and the articles of association of the PRC Operating Schools as
amended from time to time.

School Sponsors’ Powers of Attorney

Pursuant to the School Sponsors’ Powers of Attorney executed
by School Sponsors in favor of Huihuang Company, the School
Sponsors authorized and appointed Huihuang Company, the
directors of which are Li Ming (Z=88) , Jiang Hong (Z4T) and
Fang Jinsheng (73 &85 ) (none of whom is a director of any of
the School Sponsors and/or PRC Operating Schools and therefore
does not give rise to any conflicts of interest), as its agent to act
on its behalf to exercise or delegate the exercise of all its rights as
school sponsor of each of the PRC Operating Schools.

Directors’ Powers of Attorney

Pursuant to the Directors’ Powers of Attorney executed by each
of the Appointees in favor of Huihuang Company, each of the
Appointees authorized and appointed Huihuang Company, the
directors of which are Li Ming (Z=88) , Jiang Hong (24T ) and
Fang Jinsheng (75 &85 ) (none of whom is a director of any of
the School Sponsors and/or PRC Operating Schools and therefore
does not give rise to any conflicts of interest), as his/her agent to
act on his/her behalf to exercise or delegate the exercise of all of
his/her rights as directors of the PRC Operating Schools.
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Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement

Pursuant to the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement, each
of the Registered Shareholders and Yun Ai Group has irrevocably
authorized and entrusted Huihuang Company to exercise all of his/
their respective rights as shareholders of Yun Ai Group, Enchang
Company, Haxuan Company and Bei Ai Company (together, “the
Relevant Subsidiaries”) to the extent permitted by the PRC laws.
These rights include, but are not limited to: (a) the right to attend
shareholders’ meetings of the Relevant Subsidiaries, as the case
may be; (b) the right to exercise voting rights in respect of all
matters discussed and resolved at the shareholders’ meeting of the
Relevant Subsidiaries, as the case may be; (c) the right to appoint
directors or legal representative of the Relevant Subsidiaries,
as the case may be; (d) the right to propose to convene interim
shareholders’ meetings of the Relevant Subsidiaries, as the case
may be; (e) the right to sign all shareholders’ resolutions and
other legal documents which the Registered Shareholders and
Yun Ai Group have authority to sign in his or their capacity as
shareholders of the Relevant Subsidiaries, as the case may be; (f)
the right to instruct the directors and legal representative of the
Relevant Subsidiaries, as the case may be to act in accordance
with the instruction of Huihuang Company; (g) the right to exercise
all other rights and voting rights of shareholders as prescribed
under the articles of association of the Relevant Subsidiaries, as
the case may be; (h) the right to handle the legal procedures of
registration, approval and licensing of the Relevant Subsidiaries,
as the case may be at the education department, the department
of civil affairs or other government regulatory departments; and
(i) other shareholders’ rights pursuant to applicable PRC laws and
regulations and the articles of association of the PRC Operating
Schools as amended from time to time.

Shareholders’ Powers of Attorney

Pursuant to the Shareholders’ Powers of Attorney executed by
each of the Registered Shareholder and Yun Ai Group in favor of
Huihuang Company, each of the Registered Shareholder and Yun
Ai Group authorized and appointed Huihuang Company, as his or
their agent to act on his or their behalf to exercise or delegate the
exercise of all his or their rights as shareholders of the Relevant
Subsidiaries.
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Spouse Undertakings

Pursuant to the Spouse Undertakings, the spouse of Mr. Li has
irrevocably undertaken that:

(@)

the spouse has full knowledge of and has consented to
the entering into of the Structured Contracts by Mr. Li, and
in particular, the arrangement as set out in the Structured
Contracts in relation to the restrictions imposed on the direct
or indirect equity interest in Yun Ai Group, pledge or transfer
the direct or indirect equity interest in Yun Ai Group, or the
disposal of the direct or indirect equity interest in Yun Ai
Group in any other forms;

the spouse has not participated, is not participating and shall
not in the future participate in the operation, management,
liquidation, dissolution and other matters in relation to the
School Sponsors and the PRC Operating Schools;

the spouse authorizes Mr. Li or his authorized person to
execute all necessary documents and perform all necessary
procedures from time to time for and on behalf of the spouse
in relation to the spouse’s equity interest in Yun Ai Group
(direct or indirect) in order to safeguard the interest of
Huihuang Company under the Structured Contracts and give
effect to the fundamental purposes thereunder, and confirms
and agrees to all such documents and procedures;

any undertaking, confirmation, consent and authorization
under the Spouse Undertakings shall not be revoked,
prejudiced, invalidated or otherwise adversely affected by
any increase, decrease, consolidation or other similar events
relating to the direct or indirect equity interest in Yun Ai
Group;

any undertaking, confirmation, consent and authorization
under the Spouse Undertakings shall not be revoked,
prejudiced, invalidated or otherwise adversely affected by
death, loss of or restriction on capacity of the spouse, divorce
or other similar events; and

all undertakings, confirmations, consents and authorizations
under the Spouse Undertakings shall continue to be valid
and binding until otherwise terminated by both Huihuang
Company and the spouse of Mr. Li in writing. The Spouse
Undertakings shall have the same term as and incorporate
the terms of the Business Cooperation Agreement.
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Equity Pledge Agreement

Pursuant to the Equity Pledge Agreement, each of the Registered
Shareholders unconditionally and irrevocably pledged and granted
first priority security interests over all of his/her/its equity interest
in Yun Ai Group together with all related rights thereto to Huihuang
Company as security for performance of the Structured Contracts
and all direct, indirect or consequential damages and foreseeable
loss of interest incurred by Huihuang Company as a result of any
event of default on the part of the Registered Shareholders, the
School Sponsors or each of the PRC Operating Schools and all
expenses incurred by Huihuang Company as a result of enforcement
of the obligations of the Registered Shareholders, the School
Sponsors and/or each of the PRC Operating Schools under the
Structured Contracts (the “Secured Indebtedness”).

The pledges under the Equity Pledge Agreement were registered
with the relevant Administration of Industry and Commerce of the
PRC on September 20, 2016 and became effective on the same
date of the registration of the pledge.

Loan Agreement

Pursuant to the Loan Agreement, Huihuang Company agreed to
provide interest-free loans to Yun Ai Group in accordance with the
PRC laws and regulations and Yun Ai Group agreed to utilize the
proceeds of such loans to contribute as capital of the PRC Operating
Schools in its capacity as school sponsor or the shareholder of the
school sponsors of the Schools in accordance with our instructions.
Both parties agree that all such capital contribution will be directly
settled by Huihuang Company on behalf of Yun Ai Group.

Business Activities of the PRC Operating Schools and the School
Sponsors

The consolidated affiliated entities of the Group are, namely, Yunnan
School, Guizhou School Henan School and Northeast School. Their
business activities are primarily engaged in higher education services. All
of the School Sponsors are investment holding companies.
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D. HENBERHAKZEENEEZUHRMBEEM D.  Significance and financial contributions of PRC Operating Entities to the

Group
REZBEAN XEENESFTRHELEEER Pursuant to the Structured Contracts, the Group obtains control over and
RERBRENEZESN#E ARXPESLKER derives the economic benefits from the PRC Operating Schools and School
wmo TRHEBINIEEEERREREREY Sponsors. The table below sets out the financial contribution of the PRC
AEBEWEERE: Operating Schools and the School Sponsors to the Group:
HEAEENEEM R MK
Significances and financial contribution to the Group
A #iF EE#E
Revenue Net profit Total Assets
B Z2018%F BZE2018F 201845
12A31ALEE 12A31ALEFE 128318
For the year ended For the year ended As of

December 31,2018 December 31, 2018  December 31, 2018

HAEBMEZEMNR  Significances and financial

B % & Bk contribution to the Group 100% 130% 67%
E #HBHESHFPURAREE E.  Revenue and assets involved in Structured Contracts
TREIREZ2018F 128318 LEEF The table below sets out (i) revenue; and (ii) total assets involved in the
EEEBERNEREBREMSROWA ; RK) PRC Operating Schools and the School Sponsors for the year ended
EEHAB BFBRAREESRELEEBHES December 31, 2018, they would be consolidated into the Group’s financial
HNOAREENBIERE statements pursuant to the Structural Contracts:

WA BE

Revenue Assets

ARET AR

RMB RMB

TEIEEERREREPWH  PRC Operating Schools and School Sponsors 561,450,413 3,104,462,137
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F. Regulatory Framework

1.

Higher Education

Pursuant to Special Administrative Measures for Access of Foreign
Investment (Negative List) (2018 Edition), the provision of higher
education in the PRC falls within the “restricted” category. In
particular, the Foreign Investment Catalog explicitly restricts
higher education to Sino-foreign cooperation, which means the
foreign investor shall be an educational institution and shall
operate higher education in the PRC through cooperation with a
PRC educational institution in compliance with the Sino-Foreign
Regulation. In addition, the Foreign Investment Catalog also
provides that the domestic party shall play a dominant role in the
Sino-foreign cooperation, meaning that (a) the principal or other
chief executive officer of the schools shall be a PRC national; and
(b) the representatives of the domestic party shall account for
no less than half of the total members of the board of directors,
the executive council or the joint administration committee of
the Sino-foreign cooperative educational institution (the “Foreign
Control Restriction”). We had fully complied with the Foreign
Control Restriction in respect of the PRC Operating Schools on
the basis that (a) the principals and the chief executive officers of
the aforementioned schools are all PRC nationals; and (b) all the
members of the board of directors are PRC nationals.

In relation to the interpretation of Sino-foreign cooperation,
pursuant to the Sino-Foreign Regulation, if we were to apply
for any of the Schools to be reorganized as a Sino-foreign joint
venture private school for PRC students (a “Sino-Foreign Joint
Venture Private School”), the foreign investor in the Sino-Foreign
Joint Venture Private School must be a foreign educational
institution with relevant qualification and high quality education
(the “Qualification Requirement”). Furthermore, pursuant to the
Implementation Opinions, the foreign portion of the total investment
in a Sino-Foreign Joint Venture Private School should be below
50% (the “Foreign Ownership Restriction”) and the establishment of
these schools is subject to approval of education authorities at the
provincial or national level.

Our PRC legal advisors have advised that as of the date of this
annual report, there are no implementing measures or specific
guidance on the Qualification Requirement in accordance with
the existing PRC laws and regulations and therefore it is currently
uncertain as to what specific criteria must be met by a foreign
investor (such as length of experience and form and extent of
ownership in the foreign jurisdiction) in order to demonstrate to
the relevant educational authority that it meets the Qualification
Requirement. Accordingly, as a matter of policy, due to the lack of
implementing measures or specific guidance on the Sino-Foreign
Regulation, including the Qualification Requirement, the relevant
education authorities will not accept an application to convert the
PRC Operating Schools or the schools to be newly established or
invested by us into Sino-Foreign Joint Venture Private Schools.
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Plan to Comply with the Qualification Requirement

The foreign investor in a Sino-foreign joint venture private school
must be a foreign educational institution with relevant qualification
and high quality of education (the “Qualification Requirement”).
Foreign portion of the total investment in a Sino-foreign joint
venture private school should be below 50% and the establishment
of these schools is subject to approval of education authorities
at the provincial or national level. We are committed to working
towards meeting the Qualification Requirement. We have adopted
a specific plan and had taken concrete steps which the Company
believes are meaningful endeavors to demonstrate compliance with
the Qualification Requirement.

As advised by the Company’s PRC legal advisors, there have
been no updates to the implementation rules in relation to the
Qualification Requirement since the Listing Date and up to the date
of this annual report.

Please also refer to the section headed “Structured Contracts”
in the Prospectus and the annual report for the year ended 31
December 2017 for the Group's efforts and actions undertaken to
comply with the Qualification Requirement. As of the date of this
report, we are still waiting for approval from the BPPE to establish
the new school in the State of California.

Recent Development

Draft Amendments

The Company noted that on August 10, 2018, the Ministry
of Justice of the PRC published the review draft of the draft
Amendments to the Regulations on the Implementation of the
Non-state Education Promotion Law of the People’s Republic of
China (FEARAFNBRPBB B REEZERIEAF (BT
) (3XFER) ) (the “Draft Amendments”) for consultation.

As advised by our PRC legal advisors, the Company would
like to update the Shareholders and the investors that the
Draft Amendments are still under consultation and are not yet
promulgated or implemented in the PRC. The Company will continue
to follow the development of the Draft Amendments and the relevant
laws and regulation. Where appropriate, the Company will make
further announcements in this regard in compliance with the Listing
Rules.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIHEXREBERAT



IEREE

R20155F1 A A B WEM (PEARH
MEMEREE(ER) ) ([ 20155
SNEIREE (ER) ) 1) RRBAKRER
ZERBERTHMERENTER HEE
—RAAREEBRIERERERINE
REER ([HNBERELE]KSIET
[ERERES IR - 15FIERE
E(ER)) BEAE SHBEBHSE
AHFAR ROIBREZEERRINE
BHRARPEEAREE AEZXER
RRERENEER HARE
RE COFHNRREE(ER)) 8B
BERZHEHNTENZER WA
RABAIERREEZH BERRASA
B rEREZE) °

(PEAREMEIIFRER) EAF
FARANRAET=ZEREZEEARRRK
SE-REEA2019FE38158 BB
B2020F 1 B1HEEIT (MEREE)
—REHR BRR(PHEEREDLE
EY) (RS EREREL) K (WNE
L) (GBITANEFRER]) AR
ABPEIERENERNE-RIE OME
BEL) REBEAIBRELERILNER
BLEATRE IEREL) £M2H
REFRNEFERESHAMERE-

GrEREZER) AENENERELA -
R OrEREE) LARAERE S
BREFVANGNZHE-BRER b
BRERE) AENBREBEREE
BTBERAERABREENEMT
AWERE] Bl TEFBRARHEN
EETBUR R R B R E A 1R
FRERIBRENSA2— BHZ
HEREEEUAERIBRE BB
ERRBERNIMEREEANERENE
E-—EfBEN -BEEERFEELSR
BN RE N EMEH - 30 P E AR
BRESRES UER-EBTHEN
FREHEBERER -

EETEHRS
REPORT OF DIRECTORS

Foreign Investment Law

In January 2015, the MOFCOM published for public review and
comments a draft of Foreign Investment Law of the PRC ( €/
EANRAMBEMRIREE(ER) D) (the 2015 Draft
Foreign Investment Law”), which expanded the definition of foreign
investment and introduced the principle of “actual control” in
determining whether a company is considered as a foreign invested
enterprise or a “FIE”). This 2015 Draft Foreign Investment Law
specifically provided that an entity set up in a foreign jurisdiction
would nonetheless be, upon market entry clearance by the
MOFCOM, treated as a PRC domestic investor, provided that the
entity is “controlled” by PRC entities and/or citizens. In addition,
under the 2015 Draft Foreign Investment Law, variable interest
entities that are controlled via contractual arrangements would
also be deemed as Foreign Investment Laws, if they are ultimately
“controlled” by foreign investors.

On March 15, 2019, the Foreign Investment Law ( (PR &
&Y ) was formally passed by the thirteenth National People’s
Congress and will take effect on January 1, 2020.The Foreign
Investment Law will replace the Sino-Foreign Equity Joint Venture
Enterprise Law ( (NS ELE L) ), the Sino-Foreign
Cooperative Joint Venture Enterprise Law ( (RIS ERKE
23%) ) and the Wholly Foreign-Invested Enterprise Law
( {(HNEZ3E) ) (collectively, “Previous Foreign Investment
Laws”), and become the fundamental law for foreign investment
in the PRC. According to.the Foreign Investment Law, the existing
enterprises established in pursuant to Previous Foreign Investment
Laws may maintain their existing organisation structure within five
years from the effective date of the Foreign Investment Law.

The Foreign Investment Law stipulates four forms of foreign
investment. However, the Foreign Investment Law does not explicitly
stipulate the contractual arrangements as a form of foreign
investment. Notwithstanding the above, the Foreign Investment
Law stipulates that foreign investment includes “foreign investment
in China through any other methods under laws, administrative
regulations, or provisions prescribed by the State Council”,there
is still some uncertainty whether the contractual arrangement will
be recognized as a foreign investment in the future and whether
it will be regarded as a violation of foreign investment access
requirements. The Board will continue to monitor any updates
regarding the foreign investment and seek guidance from our PRC
legal advisors to ensure that the company meet all relevant laws
and regulations in China.
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Risks associated with the arrangements and the actions taken to
mitigate the risks

We entered into a series of agreements in which our wholly-owned
subsidiary, Huihuang Company receives economic benefits from the PRC
Operating Schools pursuant to relevant clauses under the agreements.

Foreign investment in the education industry in China is extensively
regulated and subject to numerous restrictions. We have been and are
expected to continue to be dependent on the Structured Contracts to
operate our education business.

If the Structured Contracts that establish the structure for operating our
China business are found to be in violation of any PRC laws or regulations
in the future or fail to obtain or maintain any of the required permits or
approvals, the relevant PRC regulatory authorities, including the MOE,
which regulates the education industry, would have broad discretion in
dealing with such violations, including:

revoking the business and operating licenses of our PRC
subsidiaries;

° discontinuing or restricting the operations of any related-party
transactions among our PRC subsidiaries;

° imposing fines or other requirements with which we or our PRC
subsidiaries may not be able to comply;

o requiring us to restructure our operations in such a way as to
compel us to establish new entities, re-apply for the necessary
licenses or relocate our businesses, staff and assets;

o imposing additional conditions or requirements with which we may
not be able to comply; or

o restricting the use of proceeds from our additional public offering or
financing to finance our business and operations in China.

If any of the above penalties are imposed on us, our business, financial
condition and results of operations may be materially and adversely
affected.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIHEXREBERAT
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The Group has adopted the following measures to ensure the effective
operation of the Group with the implementation of the Structured
Contracts and our compliance with the Structured Contracts:

(@)

major issues arising from the implementation and compliance
with the Structured Contracts or any regulatory enquiries from
government authorities will be submitted to our Board, if necessary,
for review and discussion on an occurrence basis;

our Board will review the overall performance of and compliance
with the Structured Contracts at least once a year;

the Company will disclose the overall performance and compliance
with the Structured Contracts in its annual reports and interim
reports to update the Shareholders and potential investors;

the Company will engage external legal advisors or other
professional advisors, if necessary, to assist the Board to review
the implementation of the Structured Contracts, review the legal
compliance of Huihuang Company and the PRC Operating Schools
and/or the School Sponsors to deal with specific issues or matters
arising from the Structured Contracts.

In addition, notwithstanding that our executive Director, Mr. Li is also the
Registered Shareholder, we believe that our Directors are able to perform
their roles in the Group independently and the Group is capable of
managing its business independently after the Listing under the following
measures:

@)

the decision-making mechanism of the Board as set out in the
Articles includes provisions to avoid conflict of interest by providing,
amongst other things, that in the event of conflict of interest in such
contract or arrangement which is material, a Director shall declare
the nature of his or her interest at the earliest meeting of the Board
at which it is practicable for him or her to do so, and if he or she
is to be regarded as having material interest in any contracts or
arrangements, such Director shall abstain from voting and not be
counted in the quorum;

each of our Directors is aware of his fiduciary duties as a Director

which requires, amongst other things, that he acts for the benefits
and in the best interests of the Group;
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(c) we have appointed three independent non-executive Directors,
comprising over one-third of our Board, to provide a balance of
the number of interested and independent Directors with a view to
promoting the interests of the Company and our Shareholders as a
whole; and

(d)  we will disclose in our announcements, circulars, annual and interim
reports in accordance with the requirements under the Listing Rules
regarding decisions on matters reviewed by our Board (including
independent non-executive Directors) relating to any business or
interest of each Director and his associates that competes or may
compete with the business of the Group and any other conflicts of
interest which any such person has or may have with the Group.

Material changes

During the year ended 31 December 2018 and till the date of this
annual report, the Group completed the acquisitions of Henan School,
Northeast School and Guangxi Schools respectively on October 8, 2018,
December 10, 2018 and January 11, 2019. All of them entered into the
structured contracts, with Huihuang Company, the framework of which is
a reproduction of the existing arrangements of the Structured Contracts
as disclosed in the Prospectus. As such, each of these schools became a
consolidated affiliated entity of the Company.

Unwinding of the Structured Contracts

As of the date of this annual report, there has not been any unwinding
of any Structured Contracts, nor has there been any failure to unwind
any Structured Contracts when the restrictions that led to the adoption of
the Structured Contracts are removed. For more details, please refer to
the section headed “Structured Contracts — Operation of the Structured
Contracts — Termination of the Structured Contracts” of the Prospectus.
In the event that the PRC regulatory environment changes and all of the
Qualification Requirement, the Foreign Ownership Restriction and the
Foreign Control Restriction are removed (and assuming there are no other
changes in the relevant PRC laws and regulations), Huihuang Company
will exercise the Equity Call Option in full to unwind the contractual
arrangements so that the Company will be able to directly operate the
schools without using the Structured Contracts.
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Confirmation of independent non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors will review the aforesaid
Structured Contract on an annual basis to confirm that, during the relevant
financial year:

(i) the Structured Contracts have been entered into in the ordinary and
usual course of business of the Group;

(i) the Structured Contracts are on normal commercial terms; and

(i) the Structured Contracts have been entered into in accordance with
relevant agreements governing them on terms that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

Confirmation of auditors of the Company

Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditor, were engaged to report on the
Group’s Continuing Connected Transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with
reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

The auditor of the Company has performed certain pre-determined audit
procedures regarding the Structured Contracts and confirmed that:

(i) the transactions carried out during the year ended December 31,
2018 have been entered into in accordance with the relevant
provisions of the Structured Contracts, and have been operated so
that the profit generated by the PRC Operating Schools and the
School Sponsors have been substantially retained by the Group;

(i) no dividends or other distributions have been made by the PRC
Operating Schools and the School Sponsors to the holders of its
school sponsor’s interest which are not otherwise subsequently
assigned or transferred to the Group, and

(i) the Structured Contracts and if any, any new contracts entered into,
renewed or reproduced between the Group and the PRC Operating
Entities and the School Sponsors during the relevant financial period
are fair and reasonable, or advantageous, so far as the Group is
concerned and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, as of the date of this annual
report, the Company had no connected transactions which fell to be
disclosed in accordance with the provisions under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules in relation to the disclosure of connected transactions.
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(i)

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions entered into by the Group during the
year ended December 31, 2018 are set out in note 35 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The Company confirmed that it has complied with the disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

DISCLOSURE UNDER RULE 13.21 OF THE LISTING
RULES

On 22 February 2018, the Company (the “Borrower”) entered into a facility
agreement (the “Facility Agreement”) with a consortium of three banks arranged
by China Minsheng Banking Corp., Ltd., Hong Kong Branch (the “Facility Agent”
and the “Security Agent”) as mandated lead arranger and bookrunner, together
with EnTie Commercial Bank Co., Ltd. (R =B ZEBITRHER D T)
and Hang Seng Bank Limited as mandated lead arrangers, pursuant to which
a 5-year term loan facility (the “Facility”) in the initial principal amount of
HK$500,000,000 with a greenshoe facility amount of up to HK$1,000,000,000
was made available to the Company on the terms and conditions stated therein.
The purposes of the Facility are, among others, for the general corporate
purposes of the Group. The Facility is initially guaranteed by Aspire Education
Information Co., Ltd., Aspire Education Holding Co., Limited, both being
wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Group, and Mr. Li Xiaoxuan, the controlling
shareholder of the Company (together, the “Guarantors”).

It is provided in the Facility Agreement, among other things, that an event of
default will occur if any of the following takes place:

(i) Mr. Li Xiaoxuan does not pay on the due date any amount payable
pursuant to the Facility Agreement and personal guarantee (the “Finance
Documents”);

(iy (i) Mr. Li Xiaoxuan does not comply with any provisions in the Finance
Documents and if the failure is capable of being remedied, not remedied
within ten (10) business days of the earlier of (A) the Facility Agent giving
notice to the Borrower of the failure to comply and (B) the Borrower or the
Guarantors becoming aware of the failure to comply;

(iiy  any representation, warranty or statement made by Mr. Li Xiaoxuan in

Finance Documents is or proves to have been incorrect or misleading

in any material respect, unless those circumstances are capable of

remedy and are remedied with ten (10) business days of the earlier of the

Facility Agent giving notice of the misrepresentation, breach of warranty

or misstatement to the Borrower and the Borrower or the Guarantors

becoming aware of the misrepresentation, breach of warranty or
misstatement;
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(iv)  Mr. Li Xiaoxuan is or is deemed for the purposes of any applicable law
to be, unable to pay his debts as they fall due or bankrupt, suspends
making payments on any of his debts or by reason of actual or anticipated
financial difficulties, commences negotiations with one or more of his
creditors with a view to rescheduling any of his indebtedness, admits his
inability to pay his debts as they fall due or commits an act of bankruptcy;

(vy  Mr. Li Xiaoxuan enters into any composition, scheme, individual voluntary
arrangement or other arrangement with his creditors or has an interim
order made in relation to him, any person presents a petition or files
documents with a court or any registrar for his bankruptcy; and/or

(vi)  Mr. Li Xiaoxuan repudiates a Finance Document or evidences an intention
to repudiate a Finance Document.

In case of occurrence of an event of default which is continuing, the Facility
Agent may, by notice to the Company: (i) cancel all or part of the total
commitments under the Facility; (i) declare that all or part of the Facility,
together with accrued interest, and all other amounts accrued or outstanding
under the Facility Agreement and related documents be immediately due and
payable; (iii) declare that all or part of the Facility, together with accrued interest,
and all other amounts accrued or outstanding under the Facility Agreement
and related documents be payable on demand by the Facility Agent acting on
the instructions of the majority lenders whose commitments exceed 66%/; per
cent; and/or (iv) exercise or direct the Security Agent to exercise any or all of its
rights, powers, authorities, discretions or remedies under the Facility Agreement
and related documents.

DONATIONS

During the Reporting Period, the charitable and other donations made by the
Group amounted to RMB1,201,422.

SIGNIFICANT LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company was not engaged in
any litigation or arbitration of material importance and no litigation or claim
of material importance is known to the Directors to be pending or threatening
against the Company.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the year ended December 31, 2018 and up to the date of this annual
report, the Group has complied with the relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the Company.

As of the date of this annual report, none of the PRC Operating Schools was

required to pay enterprise income tax in respect of its revenue from tuition fees
and boarding fees.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to article 164(1) of the Articles of Association, the Directors, secretary
and other officers and every Auditor for the time being of the Company and
the liquidator or trustees (if any) for the time being acting in relation to any
of the affairs of the Company and every one of them, and every one of their
heirs, executors and administrators, shall be indemnified and secured harmless
out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them,
their or any of their heirs, executors or administrators, shall or may incur or
sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about
the execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in their respective offices or
trusts; and none of them shall be answerable for the acts, receipts, neglects or
defaults of the other or others of them or for joining in any receipts for the sake
of conformity, or for any bankers or other persons with whom any moneys or
effects belonging to the Company shall or may be lodged or deposited for safe
custody, or for insufficiency or deficiency of any security upon which any moneys
of or belonging to the Company shall be placed out on or invested, or for any
other loss, misfortune or damage which may happen in the execution of their
respective offices or trusts, or in relation thereto; PROVIDED THAT this indemnity
shall not extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may
attach to any of said persons.

IMPORTANT EVENTS SINCE THE YEAR END

The important events occurred since the year ended December 31, 2018 are
disclosed in note 39 of the consolidated financial statements.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) has reviewed
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and discussed
auditing, internal control and financial reporting matters. The Audit Committee,
together with the Board and external auditor, has reviewed the Group’s audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2018.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance practices. Information on the corporate governance practices
adopted by the Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages
90 to 103 of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and to the best
knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s total issued shares,
the prescribed minimum percentage of public float approved by the Stock
Exchange and permitted under the Listing Rules, was held by the public at all
times during the Reporting Period.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIHEXREBERAT
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AUDITOR

Ernst & Young was appointed as the auditor for the year ended December 31,
2018. The accompanying financial statements prepared in accordance with
HKFRSs have been audited by Ernst and Young.

Ernst & Young shall retire at the AGM and, being eligible, will offer itself for
re-appointment. A resolution for the reappointment of Ernst & Young as auditor
will be proposed at the AGM.

RECOMMENDATION TO CONSULT PROFESSIONAL TAX
ADVICE

If the Shareholders of the Company are not sure about the tax effect on the
purchase, holding, sale, trading or exercise of any rights attached to the relevant
shares of the Company, they are recommended to consult independent experts
for advice.

On behalf of the Board
Li Xiaoxuan

Chairman

China, 29 March 2019
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company is committed to the establishment of good corporate governance
practices and procedures with a view to being a transparent and responsible
organization which is open and accountable to the Shareholders. The Board
strives for adhering to the principles of corporate governance and has adopted
sound corporate governance practices to meet the legal and commercial
standards, focusing on areas such as internal control, fair disclosure and
accountability to all Shareholders to ensure the transparency and accountability
of all operations of the Company. The Company believes that effective corporate
governance is an essential factor to create more value for its Shareholders. The
Board will continue to review and improve the corporate governance practices of
the Group from time to time to ensure that the Group is led by an effective Board
in order to optimize return for Shareholders.

During year ended 31 December 2018, except that Mr. Li did not attend the
annual general meeting due to other business commitment as required under
E.1.2 of the Corporate Governance Code, the Company has complied with the
Corporate Governance Code.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The overall management of the Company’s operation is vested in the Board.

The Board takes overall responsibility to oversee all major matters of the Group,
including the formulation and approval of all policy matters, overall strategic
development of the Group, monitoring and controlling the Group’s operation
and financial performance, internal control and risk management systems, and
monitoring of the performance of the senior management. The Directors have to
make decisions objectively in the interests of the Company.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the Company
are delegated to the chief executive officer (Mr. Zhao Shuai) and the senior
management of the Company. The delegated functions and work tasks are
periodically reviewed.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises seven Directors,
consisting of three executive Directors, Mr. Li Xiaoxuan (the chairman of the
Board), Mr. Zhao Shuai and Mr. Ding Yu, one non-executive Director, Mr. Chen
Shuo and three independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Wong Man Chung
Francis, Mr. Hu Jianbo and Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson. Wilson. During the year
ended 31 December 2018, all Director have given sufficient time and attention to
affairs of the Group. Each executive Director is suitably qualified for his position,
and has sufficient experience to hold the position so as to carry out his duties
effectively and efficiently. Biographical information of the Directors are set out in
the section headed “Biographic Details of Directors and Senior Management” of
this annual report.

To the best knowledge of the Company, there is no other financial, business or
family relationship among the members of the Board.

As at the date of this annual report, the Company has complied with Rule
3.10(1) of the Listing Rules to appoint at least three independent non-executive
Directors. In addition, at least one independent non-executive Director possesses
appropriate professional accounting qualifications or financial management
expertise in accordance with Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules and the Company
has appointed three independent non-executive Directors representing more than
one-third of the Board and is in compliance with Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board approved a new board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”)
in March 2017. The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of diversity
of Board members. While all Board appointments will continue to be made
on a merit basis, the Company will ensure that the Board has a balance of
skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the needs of
the Company’s business. Selection of candidates will be based on a range of
diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, experience (professional or otherwise), skills and
knowledge. The nomination committee is responsible for reviewing the policy,
developing and reviewing measurable objectives for implementing the policy and
monitoring the progress on achieving the measurable objectives. The nomination
committee will review the policy and the measurable objectives at least annually
to ensure the continued effectiveness of the Board.

MODEL CODE

The Company has also adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix 10 of the
Listing Rules as its code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the
Directors in March 2017. Having made specific enquiry with all Directors of
the Company, all Directors confirmed that they have complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code regarding directors’ securities transactions
during the year ended 31 December 2018.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Since their appointments, independent non-executive Directors have played a
significant role in the Board by bringing their independent judgment at the Board
meeting and scrutinizing the Group’s performance. Their views carry significant
weight in the Board’s decision, in particular, they bring an impartial view to bear
on issues of the Group’s strategy, performance and control. All independent
non-executive Directors possess extensive academic, professional and industry
expertise and management experience and have provided their professional
advices to the Board. The independent non-executive Directors provide
independent advice on the Group’s business strategy, results and management
so that all interests of Shareholders can be taken into account, and the interests
of the Company and its Shareholders can be protected.

The Board has three independent non-executive Directors with one of them,
Mr. Wong Man Chung Francis, possessing appropriate professional accounting
qualifications and financial management expertise in compliance with the
requirements set out in Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

The Company has received confirmations of independence from each of the
existing independent non-executive Directors in accordance with Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. Based on the contents of such confirmations, the Company
considers that all the independent non-executive Directors are independent and
that they have met the specific independence guidelines as set out in Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules.
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TRAINING AND SUPPORT FOR DIRECTORS

All Directors must keep abreast of their collective responsibilities. Any newly
appointed Director would receive an induction package covering the Group’s
operations, businesses, governance policies and the statutory regulatory
obligations and responsibilities of a director of a listed company. The Directors
have been informed of the requirement under code provision A.6.5 of the
Corporate Governance Code regarding continuous professional development.
According to the records maintained by the Company, the current Directors
received the following training with an emphasis on the roles, functions and
duties of a director of a listed company in compliance with the new requirement
of the Corporate Governance Code on continuous professional development for
the year ended 31 December 2018:

EERBREG gt /0% EER
BAIR LR E R HitERE#

Corporate Governance/Updates on
Laws, Rules and Regulations

Accounting/Financial/Management or
Other Professional Skills

HERE/ HEEE,
R S AR HRE B & A R SE§=
Attend Attend
Read Seminars/ Read Seminars/
EENF Name of Director materials Briefings materials Briefings
BITES Executive Directors
TEHEE Mr. Li Xiaoxuan y y Y y
P e Mr. Zhao Shuai y y Y y
TR%E Mr. Ding Yu Y Y Y Y
FHTES Non-executive Director
B oL Mr. Chen Shuo y Y y y
BUKHTES Independent non-executive
Directors
BEXREE Mr. Wong Man Chung Francis y y Y y
BEREELE Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson y y Y Y
HEREE Mr. Hu Jianbo y y Y y
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DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INSURANCE

As at the date of this annual report, the Company has arranged appropriate
insurance cover in respect of potential legal actions against its Directors and
officers.

MEETINGS

The Board meets to discuss the overall strategy as well as the operation and
financial performance of the Group from time to time. Directors may participate
either in person or through electronic means of communications.

The Board will convene the board meetings at least four times a year.

The Board commits that once any Board meeting is held, it will ensure that all
Directors will be provided with relevant materials relating to the matters brought
before the meetings. They will have separate and independent access to the
senior management and the company secretary of the Company at all time and
may seek independent professional advice at the Company’s expense. Where
queries are raised by Directors, steps would be taken to respond as promptly
and fully as possible. All Directors will have the opportunity to include matters in
the agenda for Board meetings. Notices of at least 14 days of Board meetings
will be given to the Directors and Board procedures comply with the Articles, as
well as relevant rules and regulations.

Minutes of the Board meetings and Board committee meetings are/will be
recorded in sufficient detail to include the matters considered by the Board and
the Board committees and the decisions reached, including any concerns raised
by the directors.

Draft minutes of each Board meeting and Board committee meeting are/will be

sent to the directors for comments within a reasonable time after the date on
which the meeting is held.
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The individual attendance record of each Director at the meetings of the Board
and the general meetings during the year ended 31 December 2018 is set out
below:

HE EEg HEBRE
BERH RERE
Attendance/ Attendance/
Number of Number of
EEHR Name of Director Board Meeting(s)  General Meeting(s)
HTES Executive Directors
T AL Mr. Li Xiaoxuan 4/4 0/1
RN & Mr. Zhao Shuai 4/4 11
THIEE Mr. Ding Yu 4/4 11
FHITES Non-executive Director
R 4 5 Mr. Chen Shuo 4/4 11
BUFEHITEE Independent non-executive Directors
BEXRLEE Mr. Wong Man Chung Francis 4/4 1/1
BEEEE Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson 4/4 1/1
HEREE Mr. Hu Jianbo 3/4 0/1

. FEHRERBRRCERNEMERRERELFE
BREKRE

ZEF EERBEBRESE
RURAELECEEBEIALTHAITES BFUH
B HEREREEARKRZ— B2018%F3823H &
X

B EEEETARAQTARERKRZ— B20185F3H
23HEEMK -

ROULCECRERIHATESREERARZ— B
2018F7HA6RABEK -

THALECEZEIAARRAHNTESREERR
22— B2018FE7H6HBEM -

Mr. Li Xiaoxuan and Mr. Hu Jianbo were unable to attend the general meeting due to other
business commitment

APPOINTMENTS, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL OF
DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhu Lidong has resigned as an executive Director, the chief financial officer,
the joint company secretary and one of the authorized representatives with effect
on 23 March 2018.

Mr. Zhao Shuai was appointed as one of the authorized representatives of the
Company, with effect from 23 March 2018.

Mr. Zhang Ke has resigned as an executive Director and one of the authorized
representatives with effect on 6 July 2018.

Mr. Ding Yu was appointed as an executive Director and one of the authorized
representatives of the Company with effect from 6 July 2018.
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HERADNRDRITRBELN  THHEERBRE
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FEEADPR=ZERNEABNBEH FTUKIL ™
ZBEAENHMEBERR2KER -

AREEMTESRBEALECEARMITLEER
HEmAMES ATEEHRE—F EEFDQ
AFATESOARABRBAPR=ZBANEE
BATULILE HARFAQAFATESRHERDR
ke -3:01: 3=l

ARBABAIFPTESENRAE BESLER
HEEAESEECHRMITLZAE R S EEH
RoBMBEmBHE E/mBHER017F12H228 #E
AN-—F HEEBUHFBTESOAQABRETD
R=ZERWEEBANFTULILE FAQXTEBILIE
BITESRHEMBABEELIL.

REBEMAR LARBENEEELEB=ZFRRRE
FRELBRAREREREF-

MAUEL RESSZMHEARRZRNENES
A—HEAZBE BEEAQRETHEZREEN
BERRBFREAL UIRZAELBEES
MEEESEEFIMARGESENEMES A
REFAEZHBEZARARTTERRAF K
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Save as disclosed above, for the year ended 31 December 2018, there is no
change in information of directors and chief executives of the Company.

Each of Mr. Li Xiaoxuan, Mr. Zhao Shuai and Mr. Ding Yu, being the executive
Directors of the Company has entered into a service contract with the Company
for a specific term of three years. The service contract of Mr. Li Xiaoxuan and Mr.
Zhao Shuai commencing from the Listing Date, while and the service contract
of Mr. Ding Yu commencing from the 6 July 2018 all of which will automatically
continue thereafter until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in
writing served by either party on the other, which notice shall not expire until
after the fixed term.

Mr. Chen Shuo, being the non-executive Director of the Company, has entered
into a letter of appointment with us for an initial fixed term of one year
commencing from the Listing Date and will continue thereafter until terminated
by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by the non-executive
Director to our Company or with immediate effect following the notice in writing
served by our Company to the non-executive Director.

Each of Mr. Wong Man Chung Francis, Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson and Mr. Hu
Jianbo, being the independent non-executive Director of the Company, has
entered into a letter of appointment with us for an initial fixed term of one year
commencing from the Listing Date, the Listing Date, and 22 December 2017 and
will continue thereafter until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in
writing by served by the independent non-executive Director to our Company or
with immediate effect following the notice in writing served by our Company to
the independent non-executive Director.

The above service contracts are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election
at an annual general meeting at least once every three years in accordance with
the Articles.

The Articles provide that any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy in the Board shall hold office until the first general meeting of the
Company after his/her appointment and be subject to re-election at such
meeting, and any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing
Board shall hold office only until the next following annual general meeting of
the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Details of the remuneration by band of the members of the Board and senior
management of the Company, whose biographies are set out on pages 49 to 63
of this annual report, for the year ended 31 December 2018.

FEE (AR®T)

Remuneration band (RMB)

AE

Number of individual

0-500,000 5
500,001-1,500,000 4
>1,500,000 1
EE2LER BOARD COMMITTEES

EEECLRBILBREZEES (WFHEEST S R(i)
REZES UHEEHBESE -EEEZEES
By BE A 88 B 1) 1 2 B 48 Uh (www.xingaojiao.com) 5z B
22 P 48 uh (www.hkexnews.hk) 2 3 & 7 55 B M9 &
BENREREESSRENER -ES2Z82E
REZZNERBTERE RREGEEREITE
BHEBRTSRBYEXEERREMER BAM
BARARZfTe

BEREES®

RIB2017F3R0HBEBNESRER A A&
NTEREES -BEREEENIERENRERE
RERIEZBMOESSHFHEBRRS =0
BHERREABVBRENEZEZR  UREEZEAD
ANEREERABEHNRR - RENBRARET
BESEDRELXEATAME BEARER
ENEESREZEHNE N=aBIFHTES
BEXRAEE -HRREERBEELEE - EXRE
EREREESEE-

AEBEEHE2018F68308 1k~ B B R EEZE
BEBEREZE2018F12A31 B L EENEERGT K
(BCHEXKZESEN EREZEERAEBY
KRRCERBASTEURRERERC/ER
OB BE BREZEENCEHRLIEERANES
FRREIRER URNBZREBEIORERZ(E Lo
R2018FE R BREZESC EHAE®E A LG I
CEEAEENEBEERATESNRSG

The Board has established (i) audit committee, (i) remuneration committee;
and (iii) nomination committee, with defined terms of reference. The terms
of reference of the board committees which explain their respective role and
the authority delegated to them by the Board are available on the website of
the Company at www.xingaojiao.com and the website of the Stock Exchange
at www.hkexnews.hk. The board committees are provided with sufficient
resources to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able
to seek independent professional advice and other assistance in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expenses.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee pursuant to a resolution of the
Directors passed on 20 March 2017. The primary duties of the audit committee
are to make recommendation to the Board on the appointment and removal of
external auditors, review the financial statements and material advice in respect
of financial reporting, and oversee the risk management and internal control
systems of the Company. Their composition and written terms of reference are
in line with the Corporate Governance Code. As of the date of this annual report,
the audit committee comprises of three members, namely, three independent
non-executive Directors, Mr. Wong Man Chung Francis, Mr. Hu Jianbo and Mr.
Kwong Wai Sun Wilson. Mr. Wong Man Chung Francis is the chairman of the
audit committee.

The Group’s unaudited financial results for the six months ended 30 June 2018
and the audited annual results for the year ended 31 December 2018 have been
reviewed by the audit committee, which was of the opinion that the preparation
of the relevant financial statements complied with the applicable accounting
standards and requirements and that adequate disclosure has been made. The
audit committee has also reviewed the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group, and selection and appointment of the external auditors.
In addition, the audit committee reviewed the internal control of the Group and
oversaw the risk management and internal control systems of the Group during
the year of 2018.
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During the year ended 31 December 2018, 3 meetings were held by the audit
committee. The individual record of each member of the audit committee at the
meetings of the audit committee is set out below:

HERE

£Eg

BRI

Attendance/

Number of

Committee

EEHR Name of Director Meeting(s)
BEXREE Mr. Wong Man Chung Francis 3/3
BEEEE Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson 3/3
R EE Mr. Hu Jianbo 3/3

FNEES
ARABBER017FEIB20BERLFMEE S I 5T
VEARESEE FNZESNETEREANAE
HITESRARAEBAENETHNEZE (BEEY
FE ERESEFNLREESH (BEMRTBAHKL
HEEIZENEE) ) RAJTESNFHNLRE
EEeEHHEERE -FNZESENARKREEBE
HEFETEERTARIHNRE -REAFHRAH
FNZEESH=ZBREAR D—BHITES (F
ZHEE)RMBBILFHTESE (HEREER
BEELE) BEELEATHNZESERE -

BZE2018F12A3ALFE FHEESCRNE
ERSREBAENTFMEFE-

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a remuneration committee on 20 March 2017 with
written terms of reference. The primary duties of the remuneration committee
to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of all
executive Directors and senior management, including benefits in kind, pension
rights and compensation payments (including any compensation payable for loss
or termination of their office or appointment), and make recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration of non-executive Directors. Their composition and
written terms of reference are in line with the Corporate Governance Code. As of
the date of this annual report, the remuneration committee comprises of three
members, namely, Mr. Li Xiaoxuan, an executive Director, and two independent
non-executive Directors, Mr. Hu Jianbo and Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson. Mr.
Kwong Wai Sun Wilson is the chairman of the remuneration committee.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the remuneration Committee

reviewed the remuneration packages of the Directors and the senior
management.
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During the year ended 31 December 2018, 1 meetings were held by the
remuneration committee. The individual record of each member of the
remuneration committee at the meetings of the remuneration committee is set
out below:

HEXE,

ZEg

EERE

Attendance/

Number of

Committee

EEHR Name of Director Meeting(s)

BEEEE Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson 1/1

ZEEEE Mr. Li Xiaoxuan 1/1

R EE Mr. Hu Jianbo 1/1
REZES NOMINATION COMMITTEE

AABBER017FIABERLIREBREES 5]
VEORESHE -REEEZEENTERSEATHE
HNESESMER BEERAR TRZEEREZA
HBUMREREANESSHESENESAE
UBRFEREAFE LA -YEEEMNESTAER
BEESRHEEEZEN REEZEENTERSH
HEEBRZEA BEEFRAEERE ZELR-
REEBETENLCRRBAEINEERK - A
ZEENARKREABEHZEFELEEARTE
BRYXHWRE- BEXAFERA - EREZEEH=ZBK
BAKR - R TESTZHEERMBBILIE
BTESENRAERBEEAE -TXH A4 A
RBELZEEXRE-

R2018F R REZESCRTESENRE R
V&

The Company established a nomination committee on 30 March 2017 with
written terms of reference. The primary duties of the nomination committee are
to review the structure, size and composition of the Board on a regular basis
and to recommend to the Board the suitable candidates for directors after
consideration of the nominees’ independence and quality in order to ensure
the fairness and transparency of all nominations. In identifying suitable director
candidates and making such recommendations to the Board, the nomination
committee would also take into account various aspects of a candidate, including
but not limited to his/her education background, professional experience,
experience with the relevant industry and past directorships. Their composition
and written terms of reference are in line with the Corporate Governance Code.
As of the date of this annual report, the nomination committee comprises
of three members, namely, Mr. Li Xiaoxuan, an executive Director, and two
independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Wong Man Chung Francis and
Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson. Mr. Li Xiaoxuan is the chairman of the nomination
committee.

The nomination committee reviewed the structure, size and composition of the
Board, during the year of 2018.
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During the year ended 31 December 2018, 2 meetings were held by the
nomination committee. The individual record of each member of the nomination
committee at the meetings of the nomination committee is set out below:

HERE

£ZE®

BRI

Attendance/

Number of

Committee

EEHR Name of Director Meeting(s)
EE 0 Mr. Li Xiaoxuan 2/2
BEXREE Mr. Wong Man Chung Francis 2/2
BHMEE & Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson 2/2

NREIME

AABNATREERTER Lt HEFHBHEHR
AERIEERDREEBNEERE] —H -&F
ERLZTHENBLTRAEIVRZRE-BA
ELEHHRBEIVMRZRE  AATRFEHRIL
REH RIRAERBER LT CAEAQRAEE
BEZ2018F12A1B LT HEER  BEREC
MEEEARRENZTESE T ASEESTORIS

NS o

Bt %5 BR 3R

EEEE RV BERMERMHNIFTEER
REQRARAEESETRFENMBREK  ZE
BHEBERLOFRAEBRRAQRBREKE D
RZBENTBERR RERRERE-EZEY
THAZEBRIREAEEFTBECENRIBRE
REFNEHRBERNENERTAPERE -

Ik )IIHI'H'

I

AARIBRBEZ KETHEBAEEY TR
RNEFHRAFR(BULBMKRE] -6

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company is Ms. Wong Wai Ling, whose biography
details are set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors
and Senior Management” in this annual report. Ms. Wong Wai Ling has been
informed of the requirement of the Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules. Mr. Zhu
Lidong and Ms. Wong Wai Ling have informed the Company that they have taken
at least 15 hours of training covering corporate governance and accounting
matters per annum starting from the financial year ended 31 December 2018 to
comply with the requirements under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Board, supported by the chief financial officer and the finance department,
is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements of the Company
and the Group for each financial year which shall give a true and fair view
of the financial position, performance and cash flow of the Company and its
subsidiaries for that period. The Board is not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

The responsibilities of Ernst & Young, the Company's external auditors, on the

financial statements are set out in the section headed “Independent Auditors’
Report” in this annual report.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Audit Committee of the Board is responsible for making recommendation
to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the authorized
external auditors and to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement
of the external auditors, and any questions of resignation or dismissal of the
external auditors. The Company engages Ernst & Young as its external auditors.
Details of the fees paid/payable to Ernst & Young during the year ended 31
December 2018 are as follows.

AREBT T

RMB’000

% E AR Audit services 3,600
I E R Non-audit services 0
3,600

EERMBHRRNEM

EEEEREADNTARE22018F12A3MBLEEEW
Bf IS 3RK o

EEENESERULXENEEREN UEES
SRAEREITFRENYBERAMERETHE
B HMLEETHE - EEEONESTS2RMER
HARBER RARASHAEESH-

[ B 3 K BB 4

AEENREBREERABEF RGN EERESR
B-ERIPB BEREFEH Y EEREBN
K BMRVYBERVWIEERETERERER
REREEELAAR URREBASEENEE -Z
ZRGETERE (MIFHR) REENEBEREN
Rk MEARERTEEEANAERARIEXE
HEEMFBENRE - ESETARAHLIEE
EBREERAPEFHNRAGENERETURTHS
BEEEENYEE - R BERZESETEEER
Kt AEENABEERABEHN RS -BLD
AHEAFHAH ALACHKATHRBERRER
UHEMTHAEETEARAEENEREERABE
ES A

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2018.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation and information as
are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an informed assessment of the
financial and other information put before them for approval. The management
provides all members of the board with monthly updates on the Company’s
performance, positions and prospects.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems are featured with a
defined management structure with limits of authority and well-rounded policies
and procedures, and are designed to facilitate effective and efficient operations,
to ensure reliability of financial reporting and compliance with applicable laws
and regulations, to identify and manage potential risks, and to safeguard assets
of the Group. Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the
risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. The Board
also recognises its overall responsibility for the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness on an ongoing basis.
In addition, the Audit Committee also has the responsibility for reviewing and
assessing the Group’s risk management and internal control systems. From the
Listing Date to the date of this annual report, the Company has adopted the
following policies and procedures and taken the following measures to improve
the risk management and internal control systems of the Group.
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In order to ensure the effectiveness of our risk management and internal
control system, the Company has established various management and
control procedures a (“Risk Management and Internal Control Procedures”) for
identifying, evaluating, and managing the significant risks associated with the
achievement of its operational objectives. The Company will conduct complete
the Risk Management and Internal Control Procedures with scientific analysis and
assessment, to recognize potential risk points. By virtue of the Risk Management
and Internal Control Procedures, the senior management of the Group reviews
and evaluates the internal control process, monitors any risk factors on a regular
basis, and reports to the Board on any findings and measures taken to address
such variances and identified risks. The Board, with the assistance of the senior
management of the Company, also conducts regular management meetings and
on-site inspections to check and monitor the potential risks associated with the
business operation and financial management of the Group.

With the integration of the real situation of the Company and various applicable
laws and regulations, the management of the Company can act in concert with
such to develop solutions towards the risks, to organize the business operation
systematically, and to monitor and mitigate possible risks. The Company also
requires all staff of the Group to comply with certain internal risk management
and internal control standards, and together build a regulatory environment
of risk control and standardized operation. In addition, the Company has also
established policies and procedures with clear segregation of duties applicable
to certain operating units to ensure the effectiveness of risk management
and internal controls. The day-to-day operation is also entrusted to the
individual department or school, which is accountable for its own conduct and
performance, and is required to strictly adhere to the policies set by the Board
or the Audit Committee. This process is subject to continuous improvement.

Meanwhile, with the assistance of the professional auditor, the Audit Committee
will supervise the Company’s revenue and expenditure for the financial and
economic activities, to further strengthen the functions of risk management, to
ensure the effective implementation of risk management and internal control
system and the Company’s standardized operation and healthy development. In
order to comply with the relevant requirements under the Corporate Governance
Code in relation to the corporate risk management and internal controls, the
Company has established an internal audit department for the purposes of
simultaneous updates between the corporate governance and the Code on
Corporate Governance and continuously improving the effectiveness of the
Company’s risk management and internal controls.

In the preparation for the Listing, the Company provided inside information
training courses to the Directors and senior management of the Company to
ensure that all relevant facts and circumstances that may have material effect
on the share price of the Company is assessed in a timely manner and that any
material information which comes to the knowledge of any one or more officers
of the Group be promptly identified, assessed and, if appropriate, escalated for
the attention of the Board to determine whether a disclosure is required.
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The Board acknowledges its responsibility to ensure that sound and effective
internal control systems are maintained so as to safeguard the Group’s assets
and the interest of Shareholders. The Board has developed its systems of
internal control and risk management and is also responsible for reviewing and
maintaining an adequate internal control system to safeguard the interests of the
shareholders and the assets of the Company.

During the Reporting Period, the Board, with the assistance of the Audit
Committee, has conducted review of the risk management and internal control
and considered the risk management and internal control systems of the
Company are adequate and being implemented effectively. Such review covered
all material controls, financial, compliance and operational controls as well as
risk management mechanisms.

The Board, with the assistance of the Audit Committee, has also reviewed
and was satisfied with the adequacy of the Company’s resources, the staff's
qualifications and experience, the training courses and the related budgets in
accounting, internal review and financial reporting functions.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE AN
EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING AND PUTTING
FORWARD PROPOSALS AT SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING

Pursuant to the Article 58 of the Articles, any one or more member(s) of the
Company (“Shareholder(s)”) holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by
written requisition to the Board of the Company by mail at 25/F, Tower A, Global
Trade Center, No. 36 North 3rd Ring East Road, Dongcheng District, Beijing, the
PRC, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for
the transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such meeting
shall be held within two months after the deposit of such requisition. If within
21 days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting
the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of
the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

PROCEDURES BY WHICH ENQUIRIES MAY BE PUT TO
THE BOARD

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by addressing
them to the Board of Directors of the Company (Board of Directors) by mail at
25/F, Tower A, Global Trade Center, No. 36 North 3rd Ring East Road, Dongcheng
District, Beijing, the PRC or by email ir@xingaojiao.com. The joint company
secretary of the Company is responsible for forwarding communications
relating to matters within the Board’s direct responsibilities to the Board and
communications relating to ordinary business matters, such as suggestions and
inquiries, to the chief executive officer of the Company.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIHEXREBERAT
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TEERBTH
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company has adopted the Memorandum and the Articles on 20 March 2017,
which has been effective since 20 March 2017 and the Listing Date, respectively.
There has been no significant change in the Company’s constitutional documents
during the year ended 31 December 2018.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognizes the importance of maintaining clear, timely and effective
communication with Shareholders of the Company and investors. Therefore,
the Group is committed to maintaining a high degree of transparency to ensure
the investors and the shareholders of the Company receiving accurate, clear,
comprehensive and timely information of the Group by the publication of annual
reports, announcements and circular. The Company also publishes all corporate
correspondence on the Company’s website www.xingaojiao.com. The Board
maintains regular dialogues with institutional investors and analysts from time
to time to keep them informed of the Group’s strategy, operations, management
and plans. Members of the Board and of the various board committees will
attend the annual general meeting of the Company and answer questions raised
during the meeting. Separate resolutions would be proposed at the general
meeting on each substantially separate issue.

The chairman of the general meetings of the Company would explain the
procedures for conducting poll before putting a resolution to vote. The results of
the voting by poll will be declared at the meeting and published on the websites
of the Stock Exchange and the Company respectively.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has approved and adopted a dividend policy on 29 March 2019.
In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining the dividend
amount, the Board shall take into account, among others, the financial results
of the Group, the general financial conditions of the Group, cash flow, capital
requirements and surplus of the Group and the interests of the shareholders
of the Company. The Dividend Policy adopted by the Board is intended for the
Company to maintain adequate cash reserves to meet its capital requirements,
fund its future growth and enhance shareholder value when dividends are
recommended.
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To the shareholders of
China New Higher Education Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China New Higher
Education Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 111 to 210, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2018, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement
of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2018, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
(“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each
matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided
in that context.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIHEXREBERAT
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We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report,
including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the
performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters
below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated

financial statements.

Key audit matter
BEENSE

Business Combinations

EHEO

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group completed acquisitions
of Luoyang Science and Technology Vocational College (“Henan School”)
and Harbin Huade University (“Northeast School”) at total consideration
of approximately RMB395.5 million and RMB381.9 million, respectively.
The accounting for these acquisitions involved significant judgement of
the management for the purchase price allocation mainly in relation to the
valuation of property, plant and equipment, investment properties, land use
rights, and the remaining goodwill balance. The Group engaged an external
independent appraiser to perform the valuation.
BE2018F12A3HLFE EXEED I UBRENARME3955
HELRARBBIIBELTHREBESGREBEZR ([T/E
BERNDEVHEEZER ([RLER]) -ZERENETERE
PREEBEHBEEXRIENERAE FTEZEFEVE - BER
R -REVEX - THEAERRKRTHELRNEE-EEEE
BEHNER S8 M fh (B AT B o

Information about the acquisitions were disclosed in Note 3 Summary of
significant accounting policies — Business combinations and goodwill and
Note 31 Business combination to the financial statements.
FRAZEWBNERNEBEN M BBRRMISERSTBEME -
EBENRBERMIANEREH -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
EENETNNEERRETSE

Our audit procedures, among others, included an assessment
of the valuation methodologies adopted by the appraiser and
the assumptions used in valuation of the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed. We involved our internal valuation expert
to assist us with assessing the competency, capabilities
and objectivity of the external appraiser, reviewing the
methodologies and the assumptions by reference to the
historical experience and the available market information.
We checked the accounting for preliminary allocation of the
purchase consideration.
EENERERERE (HHhE8R) FAAEMEAN
EFERIKBEERMAEEEGEMANERR-
EEFARBEESRBESTEIEGEEMNE
B RIREEM U2ZRBELBRIATSEER
BERERFIEIRBR TEREBERENTLSOE
SRR
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Key audit matter
BREHEE

Income Tax

Vi xA

As set out in note 11 to the financial statements, according to the
Implementation Rules for the Law for Promoting Private Education, private
schools for which the school sponsors do not require reasonable returns
are eligible to enjoy the same preferential tax treatments as public schools.
The preferential tax treatment polices applicable to private schools
requiring reasonable returns are to be separately formulated by the relevant
authorities under the State Council.

M BERERMINAME RE(PEARATBRBHERE
EEREA)  BREPETFERGENBNRP|EREGERE
THAREBRERBNHRREERSFE -BEBR T EBHEBIMES
THEEARERCENRRPIERNBKERSFERE -

No corporate income tax was provided on the income from the Group’s
private schools in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC Private
Schools”). In accordance with the historical tax returns filed to the relevant
tax authorities and the tax compliance confirmations obtained therefrom,
the PRC Private Schools did not pay corporate income tax for the income
from formal educational services and has enjoyed the preferential tax
treatment since their establishment. As a result, no income tax expense was
recognised for the income from the provision of educational services during
the year.
EEEYEBHEVATEARBLINENRPER ([FERH
ERDHWBAGTREEMSEN - REBEINFERBHEERR
NBEETATERREFERBERENSNEBERER 7 E
RPERAANRBERERBASUABMEEMSEHR BB
HINR-—BEZEHREERFE At REFALERRHERE
BERBIESMARIFMBHASL -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EENENNMEEBRESSER

The audit procedures included the following:

ERFEEATRIEA:

Discussed with management to evaluate their
interpretation of the tax laws and their assessment of the
tax obligations of the schools operated by the Group for
the current year;

HEBENR THREHNEINBERAEEES
SEXFEREERNARBBHENTM;

Evaluated management’s assessment on the application
of preferential tax or applicable tax rate to the respective
schools;
A EEEUEERERABEMRERLEAB X
B R

Examined the historical tax filing returns filed to the
relevant tax authorities and checked confirmations from
the local tax bureaus, where appropriate;
EENEENRBEHRBARTINBEMNBBRHR I
BERELFEERZERR (HER) ;

Discussed with the Group’s external PRC legal advisors
to understand their view with respect to the interpretation
of the existing applicable laws which would have impact
on the applicable tax on the respective schools;
EHESEBNHENEEERNR THRESYH
RTEREENBMENER 25 LEEHRE
RNBRATEEERE;

Assessed any new policies, regulations or rules that have
been introduced by the authorities, which might have an
impact on the tax position taken by the Group up to the
date of this report; and
FEEREMIEHEEEEEZEARELEN
IR AR E WM BUER  ERIRA
&

Involved our internal tax specialist to assist us in
assessing the uncertainties arising from the preferential
tax treatment enjoyed by the Group’s schools.
MARBBBEERGYESTHEREERE
ENBRESSFEMEENTHBEE-
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Key audit matter
BREHEE

There were significant judgements involved in management’s analysis and
assessment, such as the assessment on the possible outcome of the tax
provision based on historical experiences and interpretation of the relevant
tax laws and regulations in respect of the preferential tax treatment enjoyed
by the PRC Private Schools.
EEENONMRAGIRERAE GIOREREE LBTHH
BEENAERER UREFBETERHERZENHRKEERRS
BMEBEBERERNERE-

Information about the income tax was disclosed in Note 3 Summary of
significant accounting policies — Income tax and Note 11 Income tax to the
financial statements.
FEFEHMNERBEENMBRRMIIERSHTBERBE -
BRRMEMEH-

Revenue Recognition

WA FER

Revenue mainly comprised the tuition fees and boarding fees from students,
and these fees are collected through the official payment channels at
the beginning of each academic year. Students’ identity and applicable
program are registered with the relevant education authorities. Tuition and
boarding fees are calculated by reference to number of students and the
annual fee of applicable program for the academic year, and is recognized
proportionately over the relevant period of the applicable program. For the
portion of tuition and boarding fees received from students but not earned
is recorded as deferred revenue. Given the significant amount and volume
of transactions and the risk of overstatement of revenue, we considered it a
key audit matter.

BRAFTERELEEZERAIBEAN ZZERARZEFHBR
ERAEAXNRENR -Z2XEMNEHRERARECRERHKAE
ERER -ZBERABENZSRZEFTNELYERBARE
WEETE YREAREHENRIZRLEHBRAANR BB
AARNELEEZERFTEEBOHTAELEVRA-ZEETZN
SHEREEEARSARANAR EEREAERETEE.

Information about the revenue recognition was disclosed in Note 3 Summary
of significant accounting policies — Revenue recognition and Note 6
Revenue, other income and gains to the financial statements.
FREBABRNERNBEERMERRMAIERSTHERE -
WABZERH T A Htt s R I8 o
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EENENNMEEBRESSER

Our audit procedures included understanding the basis of
revenue recognition and the overall transaction process and
procedures adopted by the management; and we tested
management’s key internal controls in relation to revenue
receipts process made through the official payment channels.
On a sampling basis, we reviewed and checked the relevant
supporting documentation including the student payment
records, official student records registered with the relevant
education authorities, and the payment remittance receipts
of tuition and boarding fees. In addition, we recalculated the
amount of deferred revenue and the revenue recognized in the
period. We also checked the related disclosures.
EENBITEFERTHEEERMANIBMARREE
REAXZBEREF EETINEARERERR
BXNEENRANERADEZETRI -EZ
MEHEEIEE NG (EEELHEBERE RNEE
HEKRBIMHNEANEBELEEHRITEERTREE
MWEMWE) ETERRBE - WIN ELEEHFEE
EBRASERNBABRBINWBA -EETREEER
EEIE
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OTHER
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report, other
than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to
do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Qur report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIHEXREBERAT
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Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

2018 ANNUAL REPORT %k

109



110

B % BED RS
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

ELHREREEEN (HPEE) EFtmsra&EE -
REZHERERETRRETER ZSRBAERE
ELEHEEIBREPBINABEZNEME AN
%o

EETREZZESFHER EHELZCHEHE
AEVMNERERER YHRKREBETERS
BRRENETSHUMNTEERRAMEE
KR s (WEA) -

REBERZEGBRENSET FEETHAEE
REMBRRANETEHRERNSE EMBEKE
RESTSH - ESERUMKREPRAZSSEE
BRIFERIERFIAHAIRAREZS TR RER
WERHNBRT HEERMEEERESTBAER

%ELEZH’J%ET&%EH:‘.EEE’J"%*U& AES
RETEARSEPEEZSR-
BEBARRE

Kt EE

EXBIUZHBEABENETE

BRI BT
RS AT
BB

201953 A 29H

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to
bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Leung Wai Lap, Philip.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

29 March 2019
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
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REVENUE

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income and gains

Selling and distribution expenses
Administrative expenses

Other expenses

Finance costs

PROFIT BEFORE TAX
Income tax expense

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interests

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO

ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS
OF THE PARENT

Basic (RMB)
— For profit for the year

Diluted (RMB)
— For profit for the year

wra
Notes

6

11

13

13

20185 20174
2018 2017
ARET T AR¥ET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
561,450 414,405
(275,029) (186,905)
286,421 227,500
166,044 128,347
(5,434) (3,640)
(53,701) (58,117)
(38,567) (4,580)
(77,970) (39,554)
276,793 249,956
(22,525) (16,634)
254,268 233,322
242,530 233,368
11,738 (46)
254,268 233,322
0.17 0.17
0.17 0.17
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

20185 20174
2018 2017
AR®ET T AREEF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
FREF PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 254,268 233,322
Hth2HEEE OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
REZBEEIEEFTSE OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS THAT WILL NOT
ZEZNHEM2EEE BE RECLASSIFIED TO PROFIT OR LOSS
IN SUBSEQUENT PERIODS
BREFIIERNEREZE Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations (41,745) (20,384)
REZPESISEFHIE Net other comprehensive loss that will not be
ZEENHEHMEHEFBIEFE reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods (41,745) (20,384)
BREAFAEMEEEIR OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR,
NET OF TAX (41,745) (20,384)
FRAEEMKEHATE TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 212,523 212,938
LT AL AL Attributable to:
BAREEA Owners of the parent 200,785 212,984
FIERER Non-controlling interests 11,738 (46)
212,523 212,938
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 31 DECEMBER 2018

FRBEE
REYE
LB E IR
kS
HitEEEE
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FRBEERE

RBEE
FAFRIR - A B WKIE
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SR FFR
RERREEEY
HitRBEE

RBEERE

RBEE
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HittENRERETER
FHERIT R ALK

i FIE g 55
FE S B8

RBEERE

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Investment properties

Prepaid land lease payments
Goodwill

Other intangible assets

Other non-current assets

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS

Prepayments, other receivables
and other assets

Pledged deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

Other current assets

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Deferred revenue

Other payables and accruals

Interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings

Deferred income

Tax payable

Total current liabilities

NET CURRENT LIABILITIES

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES

20185 20174

2018 2017

g3 ARET T AR¥ET T
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
14 2,116,119 985,301
15 161,426 47,331
16 203,930 96,910
17 196,114 -
18 18,531 11,127
19 1,407,690 1,185,973
4,103,810 2,326,642

20 131,470 88,666
21 63,534 30,000
21 349,630 118,648
5,065 5,947

549,699 243,261

22 472,928 249,599
23 488,762 192,983
24 625,324 207,819
25 9,775 4,088
35,566 13,507

1,632,355 667,996

(1,082,656) (424,735)

3,021,154 1,901,907
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R & B % AR R & 20185128318
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 31 DECEMBER 2018

20185 20174
2018 2017
g3 ARET T AR¥ET T
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
ERBEE NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
FFEBITREAMMER Interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings 24 661,523 144,440
EE W& Deferred income 25 31,001 28,637
EEFEEE Deferred tax liabilities 27 49,419 3,975
FRBEERTE Total non-current liabilities 741,943 177,052
EEFE Net assets 2,279,211 1,724,855
= EQUITY
BATEEAELER Equity attributable to owners of the parent
i Share capital 28 983 983
R Reserves 30 1,856,011 1,723,872
1,856,994 1,724,855
TR ER Non-controlling interests 422,217 -
R Total equity 2,279,211 1,724,855
Li Xiao Xuan Ding Yu
B o T3
Director Director
EE EE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
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GEBREREREBZTVF2ANALEE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

o=

Notes

RETHRENE

BR 7 A E A

PMUTRIRAE
A& B A

BN E
HEME BER
REBEEENER

ME - BERRBERENTE

REVMENITE
BAAFIE -REREAM
FE W SR IR R B
RIREHBERNE
ARG
LT 65 B 14 8
AN EEF RS

HiB L EE#E
R E Y zBRERX

A IR - H W K
HtgEmL, ()
HitmeEEmMD,  (Eh)

Hit A FIERETERRD

EEWA CRD) /18N

REXBEERS
&=
ENFREH

RETHMERTREFH

RETHHEENE
BEYX BMERRHEEE

HEWE MERRKREEE
Frig&sA

AN T EERIA
NEHMELEE

W BB SR R

Uy B B X J)

REBMNFIA
SEAEHFER (M), R

REFBMARESREFH

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before tax
Adjustments for:
Finance costs
Interest income
Loss on disposal of items of prope
plant and equipment
Depreciation of items of property,
plant and equipment

rty,

Depreciation of investment properties 8, 15

Impairment of prepayments, depos
and other receivables

its

Provision for prepayment for investment

for Xinjiang School
Amortisation of government grants
Amortisation of prepaid land lease
payments

25

8

Amortisation of other intangible assets 8, 18
Equity-settled share option expense 29

Decrease/(Increase) in prepayments,
other receivables and other assets
Decrease/(increase) in other current

assets

Decrease in other payables and accruals
(Decrease)/increase in deferred revenue

Cash generated from operations
Interest received
Income tax paid

Net cash flows from operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchases of items of property, plant
equipment

and

Proceeds from disposal of items of property,

plant and equipment
Prepaid land lease payments
Additions to other intangible assets

Acquisition of non-controlling interests

Acquisition of subsidiaries
Prepayment on investments

31

(Increase)/decrease in pledged time deposits

Net cash flows used in investing activities

20185 20176
2018 2017
ARE TR AR¥T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
276,793 249,956
77,970 39,554
(8,187) (2,808)
27 -
44,804 32,374
1,435 906
1,023 167
30,975 -
(12,515) (6,595)
2,824 2,263
4,349 2,448
5,772 -
425,270 318,265
305,299 (38,741)
882 (2,532)
(272,118) (24,629)
(5,096) 32,552
454,237 284,915
3,949 2,808
(1,450) (663)
456,736 287,060
(314,506) (159,255)
1,045 -
(27,083) (115,130)
(8,759) (6,119)
= (71,000
(190,698) -
(507,144) (368,246)
(33,534) 22,749
(1,080,679) (697,001)
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AR ESRERBENFAINBLEE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

METBHHRETRE
BITRWAERE
BN EWmRAX
HIBRIT R H AL AR
BERTREMER
EHNFE

EIRE

SlERYE BEKRRE
BEANBUT#E

Cl—BENELRFERES

HEMBRE

MEZFDREREREFHE

RERREEEY
®n, ORd) FE
FORERBEEEEY

IEERSENTE  FH

FRAERBEESEEY

RERBRTEEVERIM

BERBITEER

ZIRFIRAT 45 8%

RUWBERIBEA=MEA
FUENEREFRK

REMBRRARATHRE

RESEHEY

RERERERMTINRE

RBSEHEY

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from issues of shares

Listing expenses paid

New bank and other borrowings

Repayment of bank and other borrowings

Interest paid

Dividends paid

Receipt of government grants for
property, plant and equipment

Cash receipts from capital contributions
from non-controlling interest of
a subsidiary

Net cash flows from financing activities

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning
of year

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END
OF YEAR

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and bank balances

Restricted bank balances

Time deposits with original maturity of
three months or more when acquired

Cash and cash equivalents as stated in
the consolidated statement of
financial position

Cash and cash equivalents as stated in
the consolidated statement of cash flows

20185 20174

2018 2017

et ARET T AR¥ET T
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
= 702,803

= (52,031)

1,704,396 522,249

(816,253) (765,996)

(78,239) (33,576)

(74,418) (30,053)

6,808 6,686

112,199 -

854,493 350,082

230,550 (59,859)

118,648 178,785

432 (278)

349,630 118,648

294,630 73,648

21 (63,534) (30,000)
21 118,534 75,000
21 349,630 118,648
21 349,630 118,648

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIHEXREBERAT
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

ARIER

AT R2016F7ASHRIBEBHEFHES AR E
HMEZBEREERA AR KA E &M
& b 1t B Cricket Square * Hutchins Drive » P.O.
Box 2681 » Grand Cayman KY1-1111 > Cayman
Islands e 2R X A R2017F4B19R E B BB S
RBAMAERAR (THRA]) ER LM

RABAB—FRREEZRRAT - FR KAFR

EHMBAR (GBI AEE)EREHEA
RANE ([HEREREHRBHBERS -

BARHEQRANER
AARAWEADHEDT

CORPORATE INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company with limited
liability under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands on 8 July 2016.
The registered office address of the Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.0. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The
Company was listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 19 April 2017.

The Company is an investment holding company. During the year, the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) were
principally engaged in rendering private education services in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC").

INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows:

EMARYL/ EMREER
£ BHREELE

Place and date of incorporation/
Name registration and place of business

Aspire Education Information Co., Ltd.

Aspire Education Information Co., Ltd.

Aspire Education Holding Co., Ltd.

Aspire Education Holding Co., Ltd.

2015108298
EBERREE
29 October 2015, BVI

20155108300 -
E
30 October 2015, Hong Kong

EHERRHNEREREARAR"  2005%5A198
HE/HEIR L
Yunnan Einsun Education Investment 19 May 2005,
Group Co., Ltd. * PRC/ Mainland China
EHERANEREREERLA
EFIBER ([EmER]) " 20055 9A 298
R/ EIR
Yunnan Technology and Business University 29 September 2005,
(*Yunnan School”) * PRC/Mainland China

ERMIBER

BRTERE/
HMEAEE
Nominal value of issued

AATEERERS L
Percentage of equity interest

TEED

ordinary/registered attributable
share capital to the Company Principal activities
E# %
Direct Indirect
50,000% 7t 100% - REER
(T&xl)
United States dollar 100% - Investment holding
(“USD") 50,000
1B ([#xl) - 100% REER
Hong Kong dollar - 100%  Investment holding
(*HKD") 1
AR #34,900,9597 - 100% REER
RMB34,900,959 - 100%  Investment holding
A R#16,000,0007 - 100% REUEKERE
RMB16,000,000 - 100%  Rendering of education

services
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Bt 3% 3R R Mt 5T B E2018F 12831 L EE
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

1. XEEHR (&)

BEREARNESR (&)

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

&

Name

ENTHRESR ([EMER]) "

Guizhou Technology and Business Institute
(“Guizhou School”) *

ENIBRESR
TREREHAEREBEREALT"

Beijing Aiyinsheng Education Investment
Co., Ltd. *
TREREHEREFREELT

ERAEHENEERAA
(Ma&AF]1) "

Harbin Xuande Technology Co., Ltd.
(*Haxuan Company”) *
RRBHENEERAR

ERAEFACERZABRAA

Yunnan Daai Fangzhou Information
Consultancy Co., Ltd. *
EHAESALEENERAR

ARAERECERRERAT
(MERAF1)"

Tibet Daai Huihuang Information and
Technology Co., Ltd.
(*Huihuang Company”) *
AHAEBEEEREERAT

ARBEANEEHAERARDLH
(TREA71)"

Enshi Autonomous Prefecture Changging
Education Development Co, Ltd.
(“Enchang Company”) *
ARBEAMNEEHAERRARLH

AR TR
AMREEDE

BRTER/
R A EE
Nominal value of issued
ordinary/registered
share capital

Place and date of incorporation/
registration and place of business

2012%7R38 A R #64,240,0007T
FE/ PE R

3 July 2012, RMB64,240,000
PRC/Mainland China

2012108168 - A E#300,000,0007C
HE/ FER

16 October 2012, RMB300,000,000
PRC/Mainland China

201648198 AR #120,000,0007
FE/ RER L

19 April 2016, RMB120,000,000
PRC/Mainland China

2016538168 A E#300,000,0007C
FE HER

16 March 2016, RMB300,000,000
PRC/Mainland China

2016%F8A50 - 1,000,000% 7t
FE/ FE R

5 August 2016, USD1,000,000
PRC/Mainland China

2014118138 AR #500,000,0007¢
FE/ R EIR

13 November 2014, RMB500,000,000
PRC/Mainland China

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIHEXREBERAT

AAREERERD L
Percentage of equity interest

attributable
to the Company
E#
Direct

&%
Indirect

100%

100%

100%

100%

73.91%

73.91%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

FEED

Principal activities

RUEHBRYE

Rendering of education
Services

REER

Investment holding

REER

Investment holding

REER

Investment holding

RERMREERH
R

Rendering of technical
and management
consultancy services

REER

Investment holding
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1.

BEREARNESR (&)

Bf 7% 3 R Mt 5F B 22018F 12831 L FE
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

&

Name

California Academy of Business, Inc.

California Academy of Business, Inc.

HERBEANEABRAT"

(Gansu Lanbo Education Technology
Co., Ltd. *
HEWBHARRERAA

ERAEHEAARRAA

Beijing Daai Education Consulting Co., Ltd. *

ERAEHBEHABRLT
ERAEMAHBEBHERAA

Beijing Daai Shuren Education Consulting
Co., Ltd. *
ERABHAHBELEAERAA

ERAERSHENRARAT

Beijing Daai Gaoxue Education Technology
Co., Ltd. *
TRAESEHERKBRAA

ERHEBBRERAF"

Beijing New Higher Education Culture
Development Co., Ltd. *
TRFEHCERERAH

AR TR
AMREEDE

Place and date of incorporation/
registration and place of business

2016F7H188
£H
18 July 2016, United States

201788118
FE HER

11 August 2017,
PRC/Mainland China

2017878268
FE/ RER L

26 July 2017,
PRC/Mainland China

2018538148
FE HER

14 March 2018,
PRC/Mainland China

2018538238
FE/ FE R

23 March 2018,
PRC/Mainland China

201857 A 268
FE HER

26 July 2018,

PRC/Mainland China

BRTER/
R A EE
Nominal value of issued
ordinary/registered
share capital

A R #300,000,0007T

RMB300,000,000

AE®90,000,0007

RMB90,000,000

A K #590,000,0007T

RMB90,000,000

AR %90,000,0007

RMB90,000,000

AR %90,000,0007

RMB90,000,000

RAREERETD L TEEH
Percentage of equity interest
attributable
to the Company Principal activities
;3 &
Direct Indirect

- 100% RERBREEEY
PR 7%

- 100%  Rendering of technical
and management
consultancy services

- 100% REER

- 100%  Investment holding

- 100% REER

- 100%  Investment holding

- 100% REER

- 100%  Investment holding

- 100% REER

- 100%  Investment holding

- 100% REER

- 100%  Investment holding
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Bt 3% 3R R Mt 5T B E2018F 12831 L EE
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

1. XEEHR (&)
BEREARNESR (&)

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

&

Name

NEAERBRERZABRAT"

Xinjiang Daai Shuoguo Management

Consulting Co., Ltd. *

HEBAERREELABR
RREERER ([RLER]) "

Harbin Huade University (“Northeast School”) *

RHAEERER

REERANEEBRARATF

Harbin Deyan Technology Co., Ltd *
RREEENERBERRAR

MERBEERABRLT

EI=ES:- S0

Henan Rongyu Education Consulting
Co., Ltd. ("Henan Rongyu”) *
TERBHELEATRLA
RENEBEER (DTEER])

Luoyang Science and Technology Vocational
College (“Henan School”) *

RENEBERE

FRAERREEEERAT

Fangzhou Shuoguo Investment and

Management Co., Ltd.

AR TR
AMREEDE

BRTER/
R A EE
Nominal value of issued
ordinary/registered
share capital

Place and date of incorporation/
registration and place of business

2017F10A318 A K #30,000,0007T
R/ EIR

31 October 2017, RMB30,000,000
PRC/Mainland China

200358228 AR#21,372,0007
HE/ FER

22 May 2003, RMB21,372,000
PRC/Mainland China

2014F11 B 248 AR#500,0007
R/ ElR

24 November 2014, RMB500,000
PRC/Mainland China

20173828 » AR#12,220,0007
FRE/ R EIR L

2 March 2017, RMB12,220,000
PRC/Mainland China

2013F7H198 A K #10,000,0007T
HE/ R ElR

19 July 2013, RMB10,000,000
PRC/Mainland China

20175128298 - 10,0008 7T
e

29 December 2017, Hong Kong HKD10,000

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIHEXREBERAT

AAREERERD L
Percentage of equity interest

attributable
to the Company
E#
Direct

&%
Indirect

100%

100%

73.91%

73.91%

73.91%

73.91%

55%

55%

55%

55%

100%

100%

FEED

Principal activities

REER

Investment holding

REHBERE

Rendering of education
services

REER

Investment holding

REER

Investment holding

REHERSE

Rendering of education
services

REER

Investment holding
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

&

Name

China New Higher Education Group
Asset Management Corporation

China New Higher Education Group
Asset Management Corporation

BRNSHEHEEERARLF

Hong Kong New Higher Education Group
Asset Management Ltd.

SHHELXEBERAA
(MEHHED) "

Songming Xinju Enterprise Management
Co., Ltd. (“Songming Xinju") *
SHHELEXEBERAA

PMEEXBEHBEREBRLA
(TRMKE]D "
Qinzhou Yinghua Datang Education
Investment Co., Ltd.
("Qinzhou Datang") *
PMREREHBEREBRLH

AR TR
AMREEDE

Place and date of incorporation/

registration and place of business

201878108
HE
10 July 2018, Cayman

20185961 »
N
6 September 2018, Hong Kong

20165108278
FE/ FER L

27 October 2016,
PRC/Mainland China

2017588258
FE HER

25 August 2017,
PRC/Mainland China

BRTER/
R A EE
Nominal value of issued
ordinary/registered
share capital

EY

UsD1
18T
HKD 1

AR %50,000,0007

RMB50,000,000

A B #100,000,0007

RMB100,000,000

AAREERERD L
Percentage of equity interest
attributable
to the Company
EE &
Direct Indirect
- 100%
- 100%
- 100%
- 100%
- 51%
- 51%
- 51%
- 51%

FEED

Principal activities

REER

Investment holding

REER

Investment holding

REER

Investment holding

REER

Investment holding

HAZERARALEBZLENESRER Btz

ENANRYEBHAAAANEEBER NIRRT NER

HEBEMA-

The English names of these companies represent the best effort made by management
of the Company to directly translate the Chinese names as the companies do not

register any official English names.

2018 ANNUAL REPORT %k

123



Bt 3% 3R R Mt 5T B E2018F 12831 L EE
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

2.1 RBEEE

124

MBBRRDBBEEBSHMOAS([EBES
Mo EMNEBYBREER ([EEY
BHREER ] BEAEESBYBREER
BREEFEA([ERSFEADRZB)R
BEEARETRAUREB QARG NIKE
RERR - BBERDBEELRRNED R
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. The financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention. These financial statements are presented
in Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
except when otherwise indicated.

The Group recorded net current liabilities of RMB1,082,656,000 as at 31
December 2018 (2017: RMB424,735,000).

In view of the net current liabilities position, the Directors have given
careful consideration to the future liquidity and performance of the Group
and its available sources of finance in assessing whether the Group will
have sufficient financial resources to continue as a going concern.

Having considered the cash inflow from operations, the Directors are
satisfied that the Group is able to meet in full its financial obligations as
they fall due for the foreseeable future. To mitigate any liquidity issues that
might be faced by the Group, the Group has obtained adequate banking
facilities from reputable financial institutions to meet its obligations as and
when they fall due.

Accordingly, the Directors are of the opinion that it is appropriate to
prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis. Should the
Group be unable to operate as a going concern, adjustments would
have to be made to write down the value of assets to their recoverable
amounts, and to provide for any further liabilities which might arise.
The effect of these adjustments has not been reflected in the financial
statements.
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BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of
the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
for the year ended 31 December 2018. A subsidiary is an entity (including
a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company.
Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that
give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority of the
voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant
facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an
investee, including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same
reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting policies.
The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the
Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and to the
non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities,
equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control described above. A change in the ownership interest
of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.
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2.1

2.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)
BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (CONTINUED)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the assets
(including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, (i) the carrying
amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative translation
differences recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the
consideration received, (i) the fair value of any investment retained and
(ili) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share
of components previously recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the
same basis as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised standards for the first time
for the current year’s financial statements.

Classification and Measurement of
Share-based Payment Transactions
Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
with HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts

Amendments to HKFRS 2

Amendments to HKFRS 4

HKFRS 9
HKFRS 15

Financial Instruments
Revenue from Conlracts with Customers

Clarifications to HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers
Transfers of Investment Property

Amendments to HKFRS 15
Amendments to HKAS 40

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and
Advance Consideration
Annual Improvements Amendments to HKFRS 1 and HKAS 28

2014-2016 Cycle
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

The nature and the impact of the new and revised HKFRSs are described
below:

(A) Amendments to HKFRS 2 address three main areas: the effects
of vesting conditions on the measurement of a cash-settled
share-based payment transaction; the classification of a
share-based payment transaction with net settlement features
for withholding a certain amount in order to meet an employee’s
tax obligation associated with the share-based payment; and
accounting where a modification to the terms and conditions of a
share-based payment transaction changes its classification from
cash-settled to equity-settled. The amendments clarify that the
approach used to account for vesting conditions when measuring
equity-settled share-based payments also applies to cash-settled
share-based payments. The amendments introduce an exception
so that a share-based payment transaction with net share
settlement features for withholding a certain amount in order to
meet the employee’s tax obligation is classified in its entirety as
an equity-settled share-based payment transaction when certain
conditions are met. Furthermore, the amendments clarify that if
the terms and conditions of a cash-settled share-based payment
transaction are modified, with the result that it becomes an
equity-settled share-based payment transaction, the transaction is
accounted for as an equity-settled transaction from the date of the
modification. The amendments have had no impact on the financial
position or performance of the Group as the Group does not have
any cash-settled share-based payment transactions and has no
share-based payment transactions with net settlement features for
withholding tax.

(B) HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments replaces HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2018, bringing together all three
aspects of the accounting for financial instruments: classification
and measurement, impairment and hedge accounting.

Based on the assessment by the Group, there was no significant
cumulative effect of the initial application of HKFRS 9 at 1 January
2018 in accordance with the transition requirement. Therefore,
the comparative information was not restated and continues to be
reported under HKAS 39.
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2.2 CHANGES

DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)
(CONTINUED)

Classification and measurement

(B)

IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

The following information sets out the impacts of adopting HKFRS 9
on the statement of financial position. A reconciliation between the
carrying amounts under HKAS 39 and the balances reported under

EHEBMBREEAFERIET T2 R HKFRS 9 as at 1 January 2018 is as follows:
MR E RN T
EAGTENEONE ERNBREENENE
HKAS 39 measurement HKFRS 9 measurement
Bl
5 &8 EHE REEE k2 5
Category Amount  Reclassification ECL Amount Category
ARBTR ARMTR ARETT ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
SHEE Financial assets
STABRMRE EMERFER  Financial assets included in prepayments, other
HtEERCEREE receivables and other assets L8R’ 129,462 - - 129,462 AC?
BRER Pledged deposits L8R 63,534 - - 63,534 AC
RERMARE Prepayment for Investments L8R 1,283,467 - - 1,083,467 AC
ReRBLEEY Cash and cash equivalents L&R 349,630 - - 349,630 AC
BEE Total assets 1,826,093 - - 1,826,093
EHSHERSNHE EAMBREEAERHE
HKAS 39 measurement HKFRS 9 measurement
Bl
25 £ BN E REER kX 5
Category Amount  Reclassification ECL Amount Category
ARETR ARBTn ARETn AR%ETx
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
SREE Financial liabilities
SAEMEMTERETERA  Financial liabiities included in other payables
ZEREE and acoruals AC 443,929 - - 443,929 AC
FERTRAMEE Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings AC 1,286,847 - - 1,286,847 AC
1,730,776 - - 1,730,776
HitEE Other liabilities
EEHEEE Deferred tax liabilities 49,419 - - 49419
Haf Total liabilities 1,780,195 - - 1,780,195

L L&R : B fE W 1A
2 ACEZBERAFECEREERS

mEE

L&R: Loans and receivables
AC: Financial assets or financial liabilities at amortised cost
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2.2 CHANGES

IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(B)

(CONTINUED)

Impairment

HKFRS 9 replaces the “incurred loss” model in HKAS 39 with the
ECL model. The ECL model requires an ongoing measurement
of credit risk associated with a financial asset and therefore
recognises ECLs earlier than under the “incurred loss” accounting
model in HKAS 39. The Group applies the new ECL model to the
financial assets measured at amortised cost. The aggregate opening
impairment allowances had no significant financial effect under
HKAS 39 to the ECL allowances under HKFRS 9.

HKFRS 15 and its amendments replace HKAS 11 Construction
Contracts, HKAS 18 Revenue and related interpretations and
it applies, with limited exceptions, to all revenue arising from
contracts with customers. HKFRS 15 establishes a new five-step
model to account for revenue arising from contracts with
customers. Under HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to
be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a
customer. The principles in HKFRS 15 provide a more structured
approach for measuring and recognising revenue. The standard
also introduces extensive qualitative and quantitative disclosure
requirements, including disaggregation of total revenue, information
about performance obligations, changes in contract liability account
balances between periods and key judgements and estimates.
The disclosures are included in notes 4 and 6 to the financial
statements. As a result of the application of HKFRS 15, the
Group has changed the accounting policy with respect to revenue
recognition in note 2.4 to the financial statements.

The Group has adopted HKFRS 15 using the modified retrospective
method of adoption. Under this method, the standard can be
applied either to all contracts at the date of initial application or
only to contracts that are not completed at this date. The Group has
elected to apply the standard to contracts that are not completed as
at 1 January 2018.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(C) (CONTINUED)

The cumulative effect of the initial application of HKFRS 15
was recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of
retained profits as at 1 January 2018. Therefore, the comparative
information was not restated and continues to be reported under
HKAS 11, HKAS 18 and related interpretations. The Group considers
that the adoption of HKFRS 15 did not have significant impact on
our financial position and performance during the year.

(D) Amendments to HKAS 40 clarify when an entity should transfer
property, including property under construction or development,
into or out of investment property. The amendments state that a
change in use occurs when the property meets, or ceases to meet,
the definition of investment property and there is evidence of the
change in use. A mere change in management'’s intentions for the
use of a property does not provide evidence of a change in use.
The amendments have had no impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group.

(E) HK(FRIC)-Int 22 provides guidance on how to determine the date of
the transaction when applying HKAS 21 to the situation where an
entity receives or pays advance consideration in a foreign currency
and recognises a non-monetary asset or liability. The interpretation
clarifies that the date of the transaction for the purpose of
determining the exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income (or part of it) is the date on which
an entity initially recognises the non-monetary asset (such as a
prepayment) or non-monetary liability (such as deferred income)
arising from the payment or receipt of the advance consideration. If
there are multiple payments or receipts in advance of recognising
the related item, the entity must determine the transaction
date for each payment or receipt of the advance consideration.
The interpretation has had no impact on the Group’s financial
statements as the Group’s accounting policy for the determination
of the exchange rate applied for initial recognition of non-monetary
assets or non-monetary liabilities is consistent with the guidance
provided in the interpretation.
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B ERMARERNE B ZEIR 2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRSS

The Group has not adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs that
have been issued but are not yet effective, in the financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3
Amendments to HKFRS 9

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28 (2011)

HKFRS 16

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 19

Amendments to HKAS 28

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23

Annual Improvements
2015-2017 Cycle

s w oo -

Definition of a Business?

Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation’

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture*

Leases’

Insurance Contracts®

Definition of Material?

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement’

Long-term Interests in Associates and
Joint Ventures’

Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments’

Amendments to HKFRS 3, HKFRS 11,
HKAS 12 and HKAS 23’

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption

REBEEFENREBZENT REBET
BREMBRELENNTE -25HIL  AEH
RRZENITREBTEBMBEREEAT
REEEYETREE2Y ERRATREAE
ENEEXERVBRRELERZE-

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of the impact of
these new and revised HKFRSs upon initial application. So far, the Group
considers that these new and revised HKFRSs may result in changes in
accounting policies and are unlikely to have a significant impact on the
Group’s results of operations and financial position.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRSS

(CONTINUED)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be applicable
to the Group is described below. The actual impacts upon adoption could
be different to those below, depending on additional reasonable and
supportable information being made available to the Group at the time of
applying the standards.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify and provide additional guidance on the
definition of a business. The amendments clarify that for an integrated set
of activities and assets to be considered a business, it must include, at a
minimum, an input and a substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create output. A business can exist without
including all of the inputs and processes needed to create outputs. The
amendments remove the assessment of whether market participants
are capable of acquiring the business and continue to produce outputs.
Instead, the focus is on whether acquired inputs and acquired substantive
processes together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.
The amendments have also narrowed the definition of outputs to focus
on goods or services provided to customers, investment income or other
income from ordinary activities. Furthermore, the amendments provide
guidance to assess whether an acquired process is substantive and
introduce an optional fair value concentration test to permit a simplified
assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and assets is not a
business. The Group expects to adopt the amendments prospectively from
1 January 2020.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRSS

(CONTINUED)

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 Leases, HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining whether
an Arrangement contains a Lease, HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating Leases —
Incentives and HK(SIC)-Int 27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions
Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets out the principles
for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases
and requires lessees to recognise assets and liabilities for most leases.
The standard includes two elective recognition exemptions for lessees —
leases of low-value assets and short-term leases. At the commencement
date of a lease, a lessee will recognise a liability to make lease payments
(i.e., the lease liability) and an asset representing the right to use the
underlying asset during the lease term (i.e., the right-of-use asset). The
right-of-use asset is subsequently measured at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses unless the right-of-use asset
meets the definition of investment property in HKAS 40, or relates to a
class of property, plant and equipment to which the revaluation model is
applied. The lease liability is subsequently increased to reflect the interest
on the lease liability and reduced for the lease payments. Lessees will be
required to separately recognise the interest expense on the lease liability
and the depreciation expense on the right-of-use asset. Lessees will also
be required to remeasure the lease liability upon the occurrence of certain
events, such as change in the lease term and change in future lease
payments resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine
those payments. Lessees will generally recognise the amount of the
remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use
asset. Lessor accounting under HKFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from
the accounting under HKAS 17. Lessors will continue to classify all leases
using the same classification principle as in HKAS 17 and distinguish
between operating leases and finance leases. HKFRS 16 requires lessees
and lessors to make more extensive disclosures than under HKAS 17.
Lessees can choose to apply the standard using either a full retrospective
or a modified retrospective approach. The Group will adopt HKFRS 16
from 1 January 2019. The Group plans to adopt the transitional provisions
in HKFRS 16 to recognise the cumulative effect of initial adoption as an
adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings at 1 January 2019
and will not restate the comparatives. In addition, the Group plans to apply
the new requirements to contracts that were previously identified as leases
applying HKAS 17 and measure the lease liability at the present value of
the remaining lease payments, discounted using the Group's incremental
borrowing rate at the date of initial application. The right-of-use asset will
be measured at the amount of the lease liability, adjusted by the amount
of any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the lease recognised
in the statement of financial position immediately before the date of
initial application. The Group plans to use the exemptions allowed by the
standard on lease contracts whose lease terms end within 12 months as
of the date of initial application. During 2018, the Group has performed a
detailed assessment on the impact of adoption of HKFRS 16. The Group
has estimated that right-of-use assets of RMB1,820,000 and lease
liabilities of RMB1,820,000 will be recognised at 1 January 2019 with a
corresponding adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings.

2018 ANNUAL REPORT %k

183



134

Bt 1% 3R R Mt 5 201812831 LEE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

2.3

[ R R ] h*i?&ﬂ’ﬂé%ﬂﬂ%iﬁ

':li);t_/l_] ( =
BERESHENFINREBSTEAER 2
BIARRTEANHER -HEREL &

BECERRAKEMER TEERBAEM
FE-RAZRMBRRNEIEZEEAEREZ
£Eﬁ%$ﬁi€1’ﬁﬂjﬂﬁﬁim°ﬂ TEBE R
RREBWEERBE - —Jéﬂiwﬂﬁﬂ
MERRASEZETIZEAPMHNRE B
SEER PR AL E B B E K o AN T 8] B 202051
BIBBRMNZEER -ZEBITRAFTEY
REENYBRRELEEANEREZE -

EXEHHRME
EBEHREE

EBRSHRARBEAR - BRENAERK
BRENATVEFE DAEEOREWES
FREEAFEREENRWBARZATE"
AEERRBBELTREBAMEREAGUAR
REBRSBRRRWESEHEMBITREZ
B -HREBEEKSH WETRIFER
AW ET R EEFENL A EW
WBEATHFEREBEZ FERESNREHR
fEARBHTIEAFETE - WBBABEKE
REERZH-

FEBUBEBBRERSOGR WBA
M EERA R BEREFEEESERE
ERBRFMMLIEUNEREERERE HY

BEIBEBEVBLSIEAPHHRAXNTET
Bo

EEBEHIBMRET BAAMSESRE
WEBHMNAFENEMMEERENER
REBEFE PR -

WELFEFRNEAIRARESREER B
BEAFERR - 2BA—HEERREBEZR
AREDNDELAFEFE HAFEZHRE
BHERD - DEAEENIARETSET
BN E HREEREZRNIIR-

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRSS

(CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 provide a new definition of material.
The new definition states that information is material if omitting,
misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial statements
make on the basis of those financial statements. The amendments clarify
that materiality will depend on the nature or magnitude of information.
A misstatement of information is material if it could reasonably be
expected to influence decisions made by the primary users. The Group
expects to adopt the amendments prospectively from 1 January 2020.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group’s financial statements.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND GOODWILL

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method.
The consideration transferred is measured at the acquisition date fair
value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree. For each business combination, the
acquirer measures the non-controlling interests in the acquiree either at
fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are measured at
fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation
in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances
and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held
equity interest is measured at its acquisition date fair value and any
resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent consideration
classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair value with changes in
fair value recognised either in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND GOODWILL
(CONTINUED)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of
the consideration transferred, the amount recognised for non-controlling
interests and any fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interests
in the acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items is lower
than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that carrying
value may be impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test
of goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment testing,
goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of
cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the synergies of
the combination, irrespective of whether other assets of liabilities of the
Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit (group of cash generating units) to which the
goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount, an
impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill
is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or group
of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within that unit is
disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is
included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the
gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances
is measured based on the relative value of the operation disposed of and
the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

The Group measures its investment properties at fair value at the end
of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be received
to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the
asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market for
the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most
advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value
of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that
market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair
value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising
the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in
the financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy,
described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities
Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level

input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on
a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred
between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on
the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as
a whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment
testing for an asset is required (other than financial assets and
non-current assets/a disposal group classified as held for sale), the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount
is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and
its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case
the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset
exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is
charged to profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those expense
categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each year as to whether there is
an indication that previously recognised impairment losses may no longer
exist or may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset
other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but
not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such
an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in the period in which it
arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the
reversal of the impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the
relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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3. EXRENHEME (&) 3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
R RELATED PARTIES
HEMALTHFESUTHRE AIBREBEERE A party is considered to be related to the Group if:
BB
@ MMZIBENVNAITHZATIHRERK (a)  the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family and
B MZAL that person
() EHHHEREZEHRER; () has control or joint control over the Group;
iy HEAKEEEERIEN; (i) has significant influence over the Group;
iy AEXEEIFEEZTRARANETEE (i) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group
EBEERKE; or of a parent of the Group;
=™ or
b MZEEFBFETIEMEENERE: (b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies:
i) ZERHEASEEEBER -—SEMK () the entity and the Group are members of the same group;
8
i) ASEBENBELZLATAREGELD (i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity
A (REMEENI LA HEQ (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other
ARERMBAR) N —REE; entity);
iy ZEREAEERAEERE=A (i)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third
HEERT; party;
ivy —"REBAZE=ZFEENEELD (iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
A M —EBERBAZE=FEEN entity is an associate of the third entity;
iR —R/N=
vy ZEBRAARKEEREAEEMN (v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
HEEMNESNRZRINEBERZ of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the
wBAEE Group;
vii ZERH@Q@EFMATATEZSR (vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
HE identified in (a);
i) @OEFMRATEATHZEEEEK (vi)  a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the
FENYBZER (RZEENE entity or is a member of the key management personnel of
AR EEEEBEKE R the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and
i) ZERBSIEMBEEHREARKE (viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
BAEERAKE NEEME provides key management personnel services to the Group or
EEBAERK- to the parent of the Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
DEPRECIATION

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress, are
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
When an item of property, plant and equipment is classified as held for
sale or when it is part of a disposal group classified as held for sale, it
is not depreciated and is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase
price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its
working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have
been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally
charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations
where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a
replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and equipment
are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such
parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to write off the cost of
each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual value over its
estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are
as follows:

Buildings 1.9%
Leasehold improvements 19.4%-33.3%
Motor vehicles 19.4%
Furniture and fixtures 12.1%

Electronic devices 19.4%-32.3%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different
useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a reasonable basis
among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual values,
useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
DEPRECIATION (CONTINUED)

An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part initially
recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on
disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset is
derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any impairment losses, and
is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of construction during
the period of construction. Construction in progress is reclassified to
the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment or investment
properties when completed and ready for use.

LAND USE RIGHTS

All land in Mainland China is state-owned and no individual land
ownership rights exist. The Group acquires the rights to use certain land
and the considerations paid for such rights are recorded as land use
rights, which are amortised over the lease terms ranging from 20 to 50
years using the straight-line method.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including the
leasehold interest under an operating lease for a property which would
otherwise meet the definition of an investment property) held to earn
rental income and/or for capital appreciation, rather than for use in the
production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes;
or for sale in the ordinary course of business. Such properties are
measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition, investment properties are measured at historical cost
less accumulated depreciation and provision for any impairment in value.
Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of
an investment property to its residual value over its estimated useful life
of 50 years.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised in the asset’s carrying amount only
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the costs of the item can be measured reliably;
otherwise, the expenditures are recognised in profit or loss in the year in
which they are incurred.

If an investment property becomes owner-occupied, it is reclassified as
property, plant and equipment, and its carrying amount at the date of
reclassification becomes its cost for accounting purposes. If an item of
property, plant and equipment becomes an investment property because
its use has changed, the transfer does not change the carrying amount of
the property transferred, nor does it change the cost of that property for
measurement or disclosure purposes.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (OTHER THAN GOODWILL)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition
at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business combination
is the fair value at the date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible
assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets
with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful economic
life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that
the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are
reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Software

Purchased software is stated at cost less any impairment losses and
amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of five
years.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT COSTS

All research costs are charged to the statement of profit or loss as
incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is capitalised
and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate the technical
feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for
use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset,
how the asset will generate future economic benefits, the availability of
resources to complete the project and the ability to measure reliably the
expenditure during the development. Product development expenditure
which does not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less any impairment losses
and are amortised using the straight-line basis over the commercial lives
of the underlying products not exceeding five to seven years, commencing
from the date when the products are put into commercial production.

LEASES

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership
of assets to the Group, other than legal title, are accounted for as finance
leases. At the inception of a finance lease, the cost of the leased asset
is capitalised at the present value of the minimum lease payments and
recorded together with the obligation, excluding the interest element, to
reflect the purchase and financing. Assets held under capitalised finance
leases, including prepaid land lease payments under finance leases,
are included in property, plant and equipment, and depreciated over the
shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets.
The finance costs of such leases are charged to profit or loss so as to
provide a constant periodic rate of charge over the lease terms.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of
assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as operating leases.
Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group under operating
leases are included in non-current assets, and rentals receivable under
the operating leases are credited to profit or loss on the straight-line
basis over the lease terms. Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable
under operating leases net of any incentives received from the lessor are
charged to profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are initially stated at
cost and subsequently recognised on the straight-line basis over the lease
terms.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
(POLICIES UNDER HKFRS 9 APPLICABLE FROM 1
JANUARY 2018)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the
financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the Group’s
business model for managing them. The Group initially measures a
financial asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at
fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised
cost, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to
how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows. The
business model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting
contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on
the trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
(POLICIES UNDER HKFRS 9 APPLICABLE FROM 1
JANUARY 2018) (CONTINUED)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if both of the
following conditions are met:

° The financial asset is held within a business model with the
objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash
flows.

° The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains and
losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
(POLICIES UNDER HKAS 39 APPLICABLE BEFORE
1 JANUARY 2018)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as loans and
receivables. When financial assets are recognised initially, they are
measured at fair value plus transaction costs that are attributable to the
acquisition of the financial assets, except in the case of financial assets
recorded at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on
the trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
(POLICIES UNDER HKAS 39 APPLICABLE BEFORE 1
JANUARY 2018) (CONTINUED)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. After
initial measurement, such assets are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest rate method less any allowance for
impairment. Amortised cost is calculated taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and includes fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation
is included in other income and gains in profit or loss. The loss arising
from impairment is recognised in profit or loss in finance costs for loans
and in other expenses for receivables.

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (POLICIES
UNDER HKFRS 9 APPLICABLE FROM 1 JANUARY
2018 AND POLICIES UNDER HKAS 39 APPLICABLE
BEFORE 1 JANUARY 2018)

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of
a group of similar financial assets) is primary derecognised (i.e. removed
from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the
asset, or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows
in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an
asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and
to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the
assets. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the
Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability
are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (POLICIES
UNDER HKFRS 9 APPLICABLE FROM 1 JANUARY
2018 AND POLICIES UNDER HKAS 39 APPLICABLE
BEFORE 1 JANUARY 2018) (CONTINUED)

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount
of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group
could be required to repay.

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (POLICIES
UNDER HKFRS 9 APPLICABLE FROM 1 JANUARY
2018)

The Group recognises an allowance for ECLs for all debt instruments not
held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference
between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract
and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at
an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash
flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit
enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there
has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are
possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit
exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing
of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on a
financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition.
When making the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable information
that is available without undue cost or effort, including historical and
forward-looking information.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (POLICIES
UNDER HKFRS 9 APPLICABLE FROM 1 JANUARY
2018) (CONTINUED)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when internal or external
information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit
enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off when
there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash
flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under the
general approach and they are classified within the following stages for
measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables and contract assets
which apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal
to 12-month ECLs

Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition but that are not
credit-impaired financial assets and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs

Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or originated
credit-impaired) and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 1 -

Stage 2 -

Stage 3 -

Simplified approach

For other receivables that do not contain a significant financing component
or when the Group applies the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group applies the
simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach,
the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group
has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors
and the economic environment.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (POLICIES
UNDER HKAS 39 APPLICABLE BEFORE 1 JANUARY
2018)

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is
any objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets
is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to
be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a
result of one or more events that have occurred after the initial recognition
of the asset (an incurred “loss event”) and that loss event has an impact
on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of
financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment
may include indications that a debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganization and observable data indicating that there is a measurable
decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears
or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first assesses
individually whether objective evidence of impairment exists for financial
assets that are individually significant, or collectively for financial assets
that are not individually significant. If the Group determines that no
objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed
financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group
of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively
assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed
for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be,
recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not
yet been incurred). The present value of the estimated future cash flows is
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the
effective interest rate computed at initial recognition).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an
allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognised in profit or
loss. Interest income continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying
amount using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows
for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. Loans and receivables
together with any associated allowance are written off when there is no
realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been realised or
has been transferred to the Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (POLICIES
UNDER HKAS 39 APPLICABLE BEFORE 1 JANUARY
2018) (CONTINUED)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost (Continued)

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated impairment
loss increases or decreases because of an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss
is increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a write-off
is later recovered, the recovery is credited to other expenses in profit or
loss.

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (POLICIES UNDER HKFRS
9 APPLICABLE FROM 1 JANUARY 2018 AND HKAS
39 APPLICABLE BEFORE 1 JANUARY 2018)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as loans and
borrowings, payables as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the
case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable
transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include other payables and interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their
classification as follows:

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate
method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which
case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the
effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included
in finance costs in profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
(POLICIES UNDER HKFRS 9 APPLICABLE FROM
1 JANUARY 2018 AND HKAS 39 APPLICABLE
BEFORE 1 JANUARY 2018)

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability
is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as
a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability,
and the difference between the respective carrying amounts is recognised
in profit or loss.

OFFSETTING OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(POLICIES UNDER HKFRS 9 APPLICABLE FROM
1 JANUARY 2018 AND HKAS 39 APPLICABLE
BEFORE 1 JANUARY 2018)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and short
term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
and have a short maturity of generally within three months when acquired,
less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, including term
deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which are not restricted as
to use.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

INCOME TAX

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to
items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss,
either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to
be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the year, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences,
except:

° where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries where the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary
differences arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability
in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time
of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will
reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each
reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability
is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if
the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend
either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis over the periods
that the costs, which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a deferred
income account and is released to profit or loss over the expected useful
life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

REVENUE RECOGNITION (APPLICABLE FROM 1
JANUARY 2018)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of
services is transferred to the customers at an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
those services.

For a contract where the period between the payment and the transfer
of the promised services is one year or less, the transaction price is not
adjusted for the effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

Provision of education services

Revenue from the provision of education services is recognised over
the scheduled period on a straight-line basis because the students
simultaneously receive and consume the benefits provided by the Group.

Tuition and boarding fees received from college are generally paid in
advance prior to the beginning of each academic year, and are initially
recorded as deferred revenue. Tuition and boarding fees are recognised
proportionately over the relevant period of the applicable program. The
portion of tuition and boarding payments received from students but not
earned is recorded as deferred revenue and is reflected as a current
liability as such amount represents revenue that the Group expects to earn
within one year. The academic year of the Group’s colleges is generally
from September to June of the following year.

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the lease
terms.

Other income

Service income is recognised on the percentage of completion basis, in

the period in which the services are rendered.

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the estimated
future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument
or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

REVENUE RECOGNITION (APPLICABLE BEFORE 1
JANUARY 2018)

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or
receivable and represents amounts receivable for services provided in the
normal course of business, net of returns, discounts, and sales related
tax.

The tuition fees from the schools of the Group are paid in advance at the
beginning of each academic year. Revenue is recognised after the price is
fixed or determinable, and services are provided.

Tuition and boarding fees received from college are generally paid in
advance prior to the beginning of each academic year, and are initially
recorded as deferred revenue. Tuition and boarding fees are recognised
proportionately over the relevant period of the applicable program. The
portion of tuition and boarding payments received from students but not
earned is recorded as deferred revenue and is reflected as a current
liability as such amount represents revenue that the Group expects to earn
within one year. The academic year of the Group’s colleges is generally
from September to June of the following year.

Service income is recognised on the percentage of completion basis, in
the period in which the services are rendered.

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the lease
terms.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised on an accrual basis
using the effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of
the financial instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net
carrying amount of the financial asset.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute
to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees (including directors)
of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments,
whereby employees render services as consideration for equity
instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by
reference to the fair value at the date at which they are granted. The fair
value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial model, further
details of which are given in note 29 to the financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee benefit
expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the
period in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled.
The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at the
end of each reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent to
which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit
to the statement of profit or loss for a period represents the movement in
the cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that
period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into account
when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but the likelihood of
the conditions being met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate
of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market
performance conditions are reflected within the grant date fair value. Any
other conditions attached to an award, but without an associated service
requirement, are considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting
conditions are reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to an
immediate expensing of an award unless there are also service and/or
performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market performance
and/or service conditions have not been met, no expense is recognised.
Where awards include a market or non-vesting condition, the transactions
are treated as vesting irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting
condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum
an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been modified, if the
original terms of the award are met. In addition, an expense is recognised
for any modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based
payments, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the
date of modification.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had
vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised
for the award is recognised immediately. This includes any award where
non-vesting conditions within the control of either the Group or the
employee are not met. However, if a new award is substituted for the
cancelled award, and is designated as a replacement award on the date
that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they
were a modification of the original award, as described in the previous
paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share
dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Pension scheme

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in Mainland
China are required to participate in a central pension scheme managed by
the local municipal government. The subsidiaries are required to contribute
a certain percentage of the payroll costs to the central pension scheme.
The Group has no obligation for the payment of retirement benefits beyond
the annual contributions. The contributions are charged to profit or loss as
they become payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension
scheme.

BORROWING COSTS

Borrowings costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of an asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time
to get ready for its intended use of sale are capitalised as part of the
cost of the respective assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs
ceases when the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist
of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.

Where funds have been borrowed generally, and used for the purpose of
obtaining qualifying assets, a capitalisation rate ranging between 6.18%
and 10.28% has been applied to the expenditure on the individual assets.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

DIVIDENDS

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved by the
shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final dividends are disclosed
in the notes to the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because the
Company’s memorandum and articles of association grant the directors
the authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends
are recognised immediately as a liability when they are proposed and
declared.

FOREIGN CURRENCIES

These financial statements are presented in RMB, which is the Company’s
functional currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own
functional currency and items included in the financial statements of
each entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially recorded
using their respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange
ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement
or translation of monetary items are recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates of
the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in
a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date
when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation
of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with
the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item
(i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss
is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration, the date of
initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially recognises the
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance
consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the
Group determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the
advance consideration.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

FOREIGN CURRENCIES (CONTINUED)

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are currencies
other than RMB. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets and
liabilities of these entities are translated into RMB at the exchange rates
prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their statements of profit
or loss are translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange rates
for the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the exchange fluctuation reserve.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair
value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising
on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation
and translated at the closing rate.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about
these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or
liabilities affected in the future.

JUDGEMENTS

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management
has made the following judgements, apart from those involving
estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements:

Contractual arrangements

Certain subsidiaries are engaged in the provision of education services,
which falls in the scope of “Catalogue of Restricted Foreign Investment
Industries”. Foreign investors are prohibited to invest in such business.

The Group exercises control over these subsidiaries and enjoys all
economic benefits of certain subsidiaries through the Structured
Contracts.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Contractual arrangements (Continued)

The Group considers that it controls these subsidiaries, notwithstanding
the fact that it does not hold direct equity interest in the certain
subsidiaries, as it has power over the financial and operating policies of
the certain subsidiaries and receives substantially all of the economic
benefits from the business activities of the certain subsidiaries through
the Structured Contracts. Accordingly, the certain subsidiaries have been
accounted for subsidiaries during the year.

Operating lease commitments — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its investment
property portfolio. The Group has determined, based on an evaluation
of the terms and conditions of the arrangements, that it retains all the
significant risks and rewards of ownership of these properties which are
leased out on operating leases.

Income tax

Significant judgement is required in interpreting the relevant tax rules and
regulations so as to determine whether the Group is subject to corporate
income tax in respect of income from provision of formal educational
services. This assessment relies on estimates and assumptions and may
involve a series of judgements about future events. New information
may become available that causes the Group to change its judgement
regarding the adequacy of the tax liabilities. Such changes to tax liabilities
will impact the tax expense in the period that such determination is made.

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the year, that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year, are described below:

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an
annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use of the
cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the
value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected
future cash flows from the cash-generating units and also to choose a
Suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those
cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill at 31 December 2018 was
RMB196,114,000 (2017: Nil). Further details are given in note 17.
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EXEsHE R MEE (&)

st AREEM (&)
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BBREESZNERFEENBERRENR-
AEBXRBEAREBUAEBECEERE
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ZENEEMFER -—BEZMAT -RHE
EFESRHRESALRARNBABEHR -
AEENBEFESRERRMRERNTR
TREARBERRNEREN

FEMEERE (BMERI)

AEEREREPRIGTEFEREESR
BREMAREFRR -FEREESNENRE
REEWOEHERETRENA -BEE
FREELBEUNRAESRETRD €
(NEERBREELEMVNAFERBEER
ARAEFEAEEMENRSE)NF ESHR
BE - AFEREEXANTEIERAF
EHERENRINEREEHERZNTA
B AUBETERLEEENESRAE -
AEEREEN EEEBEAMGAEERRSE
EEBEUNEMARRRASRE YEASE
MITRERGFEZERERENEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Provision for expected credit losses on other receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for other receivables.
The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings that have
similar loss patterns.

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical observed
default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical
credit loss experience with forward-looking information. For instance, if
forecast conditions are expected to deteriorate over the next year which
can lead to an increased number of defaults in the education sector, the
historical default rates are adjusted. At each reporting date, the historical
observed default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking
estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed default
rates, forecast conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount
of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast conditions.
The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast of conditions
may also not be representative of student’s actual default in the future.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for
all non-financial assets at the end of each reporting period. Non-financial
assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators that the
carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists when
the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of
disposal and its value in use. The calculation of the fair value less costs
of disposal is based on available data from binding sales transactions in
an arm’s length transaction of similar assets or observable market prices
less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When value in use
calculations are undertaken, management must estimate the expected
future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash
flows.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Useful lives and residual values of items of property, plant and
equipment

In determining the useful lives and residual values of items of property,
plant and equipment, the Group has to consider various factors, such
as technical or commercial obsolescence arising from changes or
improvements in the production and provision of services, or from a
change in the market demand for the product or service output of the
asset, expected usage of the asset, expected physical wear and tear, care
and maintenance of the asset, and legal or similar limits on the use of
the asset. The estimation of the useful life of the asset is based on the
experience of the Group with similar assets that are used in a similar
way. Additional depreciation is made if the estimated useful lives and/
or residual values of items of property, plant and equipment are different
from previous estimation. Useful lives and residual values are reviewed
at the end of each year based on changes in circumstances. Further
details of the property, plant and equipment are set out in note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of education services in
the PRC.

HKFRS 8 Operating Segments requires operating segments to be identified
on the basis of internal reporting about components of the Group that
are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision-maker in order
to allocate resources to segments and to assess their performance. The
information reported to the directors of the Company, who are the chief
operating decision-makers, for the purpose of resource allocation and
assessment of performance does not contain discrete operating segment
financial information and the directors reviewed the financial results of the
Group as a whole. Therefore, no further information about the operating
segment is presented.

2018 ANNUAL REPORT %k

161



Bt 1% 3R R Mt 5 201812831 LEE
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

5. RESHER (&) 5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
i B & B GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION

REAFER AEER-EHECENEE
AAMBENRASETEEERAANRY
EE/EXAMXYURTE TEHEEE-
Hit WEZFHEEE -

EREEFEFHNESR

REAFER TEBE-FTFHNHEERAML
REBBAWARIT10%T L L o

During the year, the Group operated within one geographical location
because all of its revenue was generated in the PRC and all of its
long-term assets/capital expenditure were located/incurred in the PRC.
Accordingly, no geographical information is presented.

INFORMATION ABOUT MAJOR CUSTOMERS

No revenue from sales to a single customer amounted to 10% or more of
the total revenue of the Group during the year.

6. WA -HEtizmzkigs 6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
WADHWT : An analysis of revenue is as follows:
20184 20174
2018 2017
ARET T AR¥T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
REEFEHZHA Revenue from contracts with customers
B Tuition fees 512,487 380,711
EBEE Boarding fees 48,963 33,694
561,450 414,405
REFEFEHZWA REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS
i)y oEKENER (i)  Disaggregated revenue information
20184
palk) Segments 2018
AR T
RMB’000
EmAREESE Type of goods or services
HER®% Education services 561,450
&5 Geographical markets
B K B Mainland China 561,450
e 58 Uk 25 19 B S Timing of revenue recognition

R—BEEEENRE

Services transferred over time

561,450
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WA -HttWzmKkEaE (&) 6.

REVENUE,

OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

(CONTINUED)

REFEFEHNZWA (&)

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

(CONTINUED)

(i) MITHEME (ii)
HE R

BTEERBREERHUKRBEREREE
BERSEMFERBARAXNRE
ﬁio

Performance obligations
Education services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services
are rendered and tuition and boarding fees are generally paid in
advance prior to the beginning of each academic year.

20184 20174
2018 2017
ARET T AR¥ET T
RMB’000 RMB'000
Hin s R 1g 5 Other income and gains
Bl 75 UK Service income 128,163 84,931
Hewszs Rental income 14,086 10,456
X Bk =% Interest income 8,187 2,808
BB Government grants 12,515 6,595
BEWZE Canteen income 1,158 -
HEW R FE Foreign exchange gains, net - 22,306
HAth Others 1,935 1,251
166,044 128,347
Al & B A 7. FINANCE COSTS
MEKANDHTNOT : An analysis of finance costs is as follows:
20184 20175
2018 2017
ARET T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
ROTERKEMEFTAE Interest on bank loans and other loans 73,469 43,197
MEHEENE Interest on finance leases 14,883 -
WIkRAFEFTAERN Total interest expense on financial liabilities
SREENA SRS HALE not at fair value through profit or loss 88,352 43,197
BRI R Less: Interest capitalised (10,382) (3,643)
77,970 39,554
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8.

B Bt A1 gk F

AEBHREBBRBARF D&M (5t A)

BT &EREY:

8. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

BERAMAX (TREES
E&STHASHM
(BFEEO) -

TERFS

DR EX Y ZBRERX
RIS B
(EREMERETE)

ME BERKBERBETE

REVMEFRE
ANt EEF RS

HittBEL EE MK
i AL €
HEHETREEERNR

R Bk 2=
AR At EWRER
HitEERE
ARARMERBDEEZ
AN FIERE
HEME -BER
REBEEENER

Bt 20184 201746
Notes 2018 2017
ARMT T AREET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
Employee benefit expense (excluding
directors’ and chief executive’s
remuneration (Note 9)):
Wages and salaries 179,036 129,997
Equity-settled share option expense 5,772 -
Pension scheme contributions
(defined contribution plan) 15,919 15,333
200,727 145,330
Depreciation of items of property
plant and equipment 14 44,804 32,374
Depreciation of investment properties 15 1,435 906
Amortisation of prepaid land lease
payments 16 2,824 2,263
Amortisation of other intangible assets * 18 4,349 2,448
Rental income 6 (14,086) (10,456)
Minimum lease payments under
operating leases 5,387 5,075
Interest income 6 (8,187) (2,808)
Impairment of prepayments,
other receivables and other assets 1,023 167
Impairment of prepayment included in
other non-current assets 19 30,975 -
Loss on disposal of items of property,
plant and equipment 27 -

AEERAMBRLEERHEFAGABERIHEE

A

consolidated statement of profit or loss.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIHEXREBERAT
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION

Mr. Li, Mr. Zhao Shuai, Mr. Zhu Lidong and Mr. Zhang Ke were appointed
as executive directors of the Company on 19 August 2016. Mr. Zhu
Lidong and Mr. Zhang Ke resigned as executive directors of the Company
on 23 March 2018 and 6 July 2018, respectively, and Mr. Ding Yu was
appointed as an executive director of the Company on 6 July 2018. Mr.
Kwong Wai Sun Wilson and Mr. Wong Man Chung Francis were appointed
as independent non-executive directors of the Company on 20 March
2017, and Mr. Hu Jianbo was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company on 22 December 2017.

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

20184 20174

2018 2017

ARET T AR¥ET T

RMB’000 RMB’000

ik Fees 786 547
H{th 3R Y Other emoluments:

e RUEREYEF Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 1,692 2,043

FRIMERETEA Performance related bonuses 1,322 1,400

DRERZ Sz ERERX Equity-settled share option expense 2,069 -

BRESFTEIMHER Pension scheme contributions 39 44

5,908 4,034

REER ETESHEREOREERHR
BMREARNANBRETERBRE
FRE-—SPHFBEHNYBRRM T2 -ZF
BRENAFERARLBHEE NREB
HREBRBZRPER Mt ARASNFE B
BRENEHRCVEELANEZTRESITRA
EMERE-

During the year, certain directors were granted share options, in respect
of their services to the Group, under the share option scheme of the
Company, further details of which are set out in note 29 to the financial
statements. The fair value of such options, which has been recognised in
the statement of profit or loss over the vesting period, was determined as
at the date of grant and the amount included in the financial statements
for the current year is included in the above directors’ and chief
executive’s remuneration disclosures.
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9. EERBETHRAEBEHM (&) 9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)

A BIFEHITES (A) INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
RAFEERAZINTFBEILFEATESHNR The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during the
EWMT: year were as follows:

HZ018F12A31ALEE

Year ended 31 December 2018

He EER RERE  UREXH  BASHE

ik BENEHN T BREEX #3R @t
Salaries, Equity-

allowance, Performance settled Pension

and benefits related share option scheme
Fee in kind bonuses expense contributions Total
ARBTR  ARBTRZ  ARBTL  ARBTR  ARETR  ARMTR
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
BEXRAE Mr. Wong Man Chung Francis 305 - - 115 - 420
BEEEE Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson 241 - - 115 - 356
HEREE Mr. Hu Jianbo 240 - - 115 - 355
786 - - 345 - 1,131

BENWTENANALEE

Year ended 31 December 2017

Fe RER RERE  RAREHY

Be ENEF AN 3 @it
Salaries,

allowance, Performance Pension

and benefits related scheme
Fee in kind bonuses contributions Total
ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ENREE Mr. Wong Man Chung Francis 213 - - - 213
BERELE Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson 167 - - - 167
BFPEE Mr. Chung Yue Ping Stephen 161 - - - 161
HEREE Mr. Hu Jianbo 6 - - - 6
H47 - - - 547
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9. EERBETHRAEBEHM (&) 9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)

B) MITEER —SHBTES (B) EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS AND A
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

HEN18E12A3ALEE
Year ended 31 December 2018

HE RER REAE  UREXN  RASHE

ik ENEA AL BRERX % @t
Salaries, Equity-
allowance, Performance settled Pension
and benefits related share option scheme
Fee in kind bonuses expense contributions Total
ARBTR AR®TR AR%®Tn AR%TR AR%TR AR%Txn
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
HTEE Executive directors
BHAE Mr.Li* - 520 520 648 11 1,699
e L Mr. Zhao Shuai - 441 360 461 11 1213
THAE Mr. Ding Yu - 362 255 506 9 1,152
RAEE Mr. Zhang Ke - 212 141 - 5 358
RURELE Mr. Zhu Lidong - 137 46 - 3 186
- 1,692 1,322 1,615 39 4,668
FUTES Non-executive director
RALE Mr. Chen Shuo - - - 109 - 109
- 1,692 1,322 1,724 39 471
HE07E AN ALEE
Year ended 31 December 2017
& 2ER RERE BikEitEl
Be ENEF AN 3 Mgt
Salaries,
allowance, Performance Pension
and benefits related scheme
Fee in kind bonuses contributions Total
ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
HTEE Executive directors
e Mr. Li * - 520 520 11 1,051
el bk Mr. Zhao Shuai - 441 360 11 812
RIREE Mr. Zhu Lidong - 601 200 " 812
RAEE Mr. Zhang Ke - 481 320 11 812
- 2,043 1,400 44 3,487
EREHEARARAATES FAELAQXTEF * Mr. Li, who acts as an executive director of the Company, is also the chief executive
BHITE - FRN TEZHBFEEIRST officer of the Company. There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief
BAERZERRENETMAHNE - executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year.
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10 AEREHFMES

REAFERN LERSHFHNEESREIRES
(20175 4%) - EHFMF B RN L XHE9 -
BT2E (017F 1B)FARAEERNRS
THRAEBNGSHMESHBOT :

10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included 3 directors
(2017: 4), details of whose remuneration are set out in note 9 above.
Details of the remaining 2 (2017: 1) highest paid employees who are
neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

20184 20174

2018 2017

ARET T AR¥T T

RMB’000 RMB’000

e RUHREYER Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 961 304
RIBMEBEICA Performance related bonuses 641 304
DREZAHzBRERX Equity-settled share option expense 735 -
BIKEFHEIMERR Pension scheme contributions 23 11
2,360 619

FHNTUTHENFESERFRSTERA
ENRSHFHNESHENT

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid
employees whose remuneration fell within the following band is as follows:

ZE AR #%1,000,0007T
A R #1,000,0007c &
A R #1,500,0007T

Nil to RMB1,000,000
RMB1,000,000 to RMB1,500,000

20184 20176
2018 2017

= 1

2 —

2 1

REE BOZEBHFESRFEIERTHAR
EeFMESHERSAEERMRBRLE
B HE - BB — 2 SR B S R R B RE29
MRESEEAN-TRBEPRAREZREIN
FRBEREAFEDERERHAMAFEE
Mt ARNFEMBHRRANSESEHR
EXFEERFETETHRAEERSHFMES
BEMimESER-

REAFERN BEESHFHEERRARE
REEAFH AKETEQEALERS
FHESXNEMHFMERSRS WAL
MAAEENRBREDBERBE-

During the year, share options were granted to the non-director and
non-chief executive highest paid employees in respect of their services
to the Group, further details of which are included in the disclosures
in note 29 to the financial statements. The fair value of such options,
which has been recognised in the statement of profit or loss over the
vesting period, was determined as at the date of grant and the amount
included in the financial statements for the current year is included in
the above non-director and non-chief executive highest paid employees’
remuneration disclosures.

During the year, no highest paid employees waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration and no remuneration was paid by the Group to any of the
five highest paid employees as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

INCOME TAX

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands and accordingly is not subject to income tax.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the Group had
no assessable profits derived from or earned in Hong Kong during the
year.

According to the Implementation Rules for the Law for Promoting Private
Education (“Implementation Rules”), private schools, whether requiring
reasonable returns or not, may enjoy preferential tax treatment. The
Implementing Rules provide that the private schools for which the
sponsors do not require reasonable returns are eligible to enjoy the same
preferential tax treatment as public schools, and relevant authorities under
the State Council may introduce preferential tax treatments and related
policies applicable to private schools requiring reasonable returns. To date,
however, no separate policies, regulations or rules have been introduced
by the authorities in this regard. In accordance with the historical tax
returns filed to the relevant tax authorities and the confirmation obtained
therefrom previously, schools of the Group have historically enjoyed
preferential tax treatment since their establishment. There was no
corporate income tax imposed on the income from the provision of formal
educational services of schools of the Group. As a result, no income tax
expense was recognised for the income from the provision of formal
educational services during the year.

The corporate income tax rate for Huihuang Company is 15% based
on the relevant tax regulations of Tibet Autonomous Region. The Tibet
local government has exempted 40% of corporate income tax payable
from enterprises in Tibet Autonomous Region for a period of three years
commencing from 1 January 2015 to 31 December 2017. The effective
corporate income tax rate increased to 15% beginning in 2018 since the
three year preferential tax exemption expired.

Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the rates
of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group operates.
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11. T8 (&)
AEEFEHEENTSARBOMT

11.

INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

The major components of income tax expense of the Group are as follows:

20184 20176
2018 2017
ARET T AR¥T T
RMB’000 RMB’000

E—-FERFE R Current — Mainland China
ZH Charge for the year 23,479 12,659
IERE (ffaE27) Deferred (note 27) (954) 3,975
FRABELZ HBETE Total tax charge for the year 22,525 16,634

BRDARERBIMBARMEREER
YR E B R E AR B E R E R B B IR B
XRZEERRTENTRFAIHER UR
EEBRERRERBRNHIROT

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax at the
statutory rates for the jurisdictions in which the Company and the majority
of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the effective tax
rates, and a reconciliation of the statutory tax rates to the effective tax

rates, are as follows:

BRt A0 73 A

BERER RS ENHE

Profit before tax

Tax at the statutory tax rate

HITEAREAS Effect of withholding tax on
BHEAZR 2 earnings remitted and
BNHTE anticipated to be remitted

by subsidiaries

BEAMDE e Lower tax rates for specific

EE
BETHRERER

provinces or enacted by
local authority

BAZRHEA Income not subject to tax
RBEFERNEHBIE Adjustments in respect of
fEHFE current tax of previous years

RBEFESRANREBE

Tax losses utilised from
previous periods

RAEZNBESER Tax losses and deductible
AENEEHER temporary differences not
recognised
BEAMBAX Expenses not deductible for tax

BASEERNETEN
BIEXH

Tax charge at the Group’s
effective rate

20184 20176

2018 2017
ARE T % ARET T %
RMB’000 % RMB’000 %

276,793 249,956

69,198 25.0 62,489 25.0
7,315 2.6 7,314 2.9
(8,331) (3.0) (7,038) (2.8)
(140,363) (50.7) (103,601) (41.4)
= = 20 -
= = (3,321) (1.3)
10,534 3.8 7,408 3.0
84,172 30.4 53,363 21.3
22,525 8.1 16,634 6.7
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

B B 12. DIVIDENDS
20184 20174
2018 2017
ARE TR ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FH-SRIZTERARE0.0277T Interim — RMB0.027 (2017: RMB0.021)
(20175 : ARK¥0.0215T) per ordinary share 38,640 30,053
EERH-SREER Proposed final — RMB0.019 (2017: RMB0.025)
AR ¥0.0197T per ordinary share
(20175 : AR #0.0257T) 27,191 35,778
65,831 65,831

FRAEREARBREEANEERRBEFAE L
BARARRMERT JEE-

BAREERRREAEREN

BREXEANCHDIBLEFAILAIZER
% 3R FE 4% 5% A & & A1,431,100,0008% (2017
F:1,347,619,167R ) BT EZERMEFL Y
HETE o

BEREZRANSHEDNDREFASATEER
BREREBMEENGFE - FTERAANSERM
BYO9BAFEERERBAMANFRAE
BRITNEBRHEE URBREBRMNET
VERAEABTENNEBRWRFERET
ERABREBERFESAZTRELA#ET-

BREARBERNVFAELDER:

13.

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the approval of the
Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is based on the
profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent, and
the weighted average number of ordinary shares of 1,431,100,000 (2017:
1,347,619,167) in issue during the year.

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share amounts is based on
the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent.
The weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation
is the number of ordinary shares in issue during the year, as used in the
basic earnings per share calculation, and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares assumed to have been issued at no consideration on the
deemed exercise or conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares into
ordinary shares.

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are based on:

27
BEREARBERANGFEZ
FREEBRRREMGER

Earnings

Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of
the parent used in the basic and diluted
earnings per share calculation

vy Shares
EERERBRFHEZ Weighted average number of ordinary shares in

FRACRITEBRMEFIH

issue during the year used in the basic
earnings per share calculation

mEre-—SBERMEFIIH:
BRE

Effect of dilution — weighted average number of
ordinary shares: Share options

20185 20174
2018 2017
ARET T AREET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
242,530 233,368

1,431,100,000

1,508,235

1,347,619,167

1,432,608,235

1,347,619,167
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14. WE -BERZE
2018%12A31H

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
31 December 2018

01851 A1
A
23t E

REZE

R018E1A1A
BARZHHE
HE
WENBAR
HE&
ERFHRITE

ERAREIR

ERERENE
ERAZ

R0185F12A318 -
ENBRHE

R018F12A318 :
N
ZitiE

REFE

At 1 January 2018:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net carrying amount

At 1 January 2018,
net of accumulated depreciation
Additions
Acquisition of subsidiaries
Disposals
Depreciation provided during
the year
Transfers from construction in
progress
Transfer to investment properties
Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2018,
net of accumulated depreciation

At 31 December 2018:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net carrying amount

2 RE£E RE BER%E BTk EEIR @t
Leasehold Motor Furniture and Electronic Construction

Buildings improvements vehicles fixtures devices in progress Total
ARBT R ARBTT ARBTT ARBTR AR#TR ARETR ARETT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
965,484 4,868 10,634 85,418 45,724 21,712 1,139,840
(80,306) (2,951) (7,257) (40,485) (23,540) - (154,539)
885,178 1,917 3317 44,933 22,184 21,7112 985,301
885,178 1,917 3317 44,933 22,184 21,112 985,301
26,650 153 1,455 32,709 22,209 321,880 405,056
651,259 - 4788 38,497 14,354 63,769 772,667
- - - (1,069) () - (1,072)

(19,994) (459) (987) (11,900) (11,464) - (44,804)
74,641 - - - 1,060 (75,701) -
(1,030) - - - = = (1,030)

- - - - 1 - 1
1,616,704 1,611 8,633 103,170 48,341 337,660 2,116,119
1,716,997 5,021 16,877 154,152 83,320 337,660 2,314,027
(100,293) (3,410) (8,244) (50,982) (34,979 - (197,908)
1,616,704 1,611 8,633 103,170 48,341 337,660 2,116,119

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIHEXREBERAT



14. Y% -BERKE ()
2017512A31H

Bt & 3R R Mt 5 BZ2018FE 12831 LEE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

31 December 2017

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

R2017E1R18
BA
ZHE

REFE

RATEIATA
ENRZGHIE

hE

EREHRAE

ERAARIR

BRERENE

R2017E128318

BHARZHHE

R017%12A318 :

A
ZitHE

REFE

At 1 January 2017:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net carrying amount

At 1 January 2017,
net of accumulated depreciation
Additions
Depreciation provided during
the year
Transfers from construction in
progress
Transfer to investment properties

At 31 December 2017,
net of accumulated depreciation

At 31 December 2017
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net carrying amount

BF REZE "E BER%E ETH%E EEIR @
Leasehold Furniture and Electronic Construction
Buildings improvements Motor vehicles fixtures devices in progress Total
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARBTR ARBTR ARETR ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
785,631 4,868 9,356 71,343 37,245 81,559 990,002
63,328 2,454 5814 32,832 18,334 - 122,762
722,303 2414 3,542 38,511 18,911 81,559 867,240
722,303 2,414 3,542 38,511 18,911 81,559 867,240
19,091 - 1,278 14,208 8,943 123,335 166,855
(16,978) (497) (1,443) (7,786) (5,670) - (32,374)
177,182 - - - - (177,182) -
(16,420) - - - - - (16,420)
885,178 1,917 3,377 44,933 22,184 21,7112 985,301
965,484 4,868 10,634 85,418 45,724 21,712 1,139,840
(80,306) (2,951) (7,257) (40,485) (23,540) - (154,539)
885,178 1917 3,377 44,933 22,184 21,712 985,301

AR2018F12A31A RAFENABARE
135,222,0007T (20174 : A R #122,417,0007T)

METRFNERENEMEREE-

A2018F12B31H RAFENAARE
219,024,000tV AEBE TEFE - RKEREE

UKk E
(Bf5E24)

RECERTFERRBITRAMEE

The application for the property ownership certificates for certain buildings
with a net book value of approximately RMB135,222,000 as at 31
December 2018 (2017: 122,417,000) was still in progress.

At 31 December 2018, certain of the Group’s buildings, furniture and
fixtures and electronic devices with net carrying amount of approximately
RMB219,024,000 were pledged to secure bank and other borrowings

(note 24).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

15. REWE

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

20184 20174

2018 2017

AR¥T T AR¥ET T

RMB’000 RMB’000

FHHAR Cost at beginning of the year 55,562 39,142

BWBEERE Additions from acquisition 114,500 -
EREVE - RERKZE Transfer from property,

plant and equipment 1,030 16,420

ZitieE Accumulated depreciation (9,666) (8,231)

BREFE Net carrying amount 161,426 47,331

FUWEREE Carrying amount at beginning of the year 47,331 31,817

BWBEEERE Additions from acquisition 114,500 -

HBEYE RENRERE Transfer from property, plant and equipment 1,030 16,420

FAIRTE Depreciation provided during the year (1,435) (906)

FHRMWEREE Carrying amount at end of the year 161,426 47,331

FA2018F12A31H  REME 2R FEEMEE
#“ B AR M429,500,00078 (2017F : AR
143,300,00070) *ZHEHB L E £S5 ERK MG
BERET - IS EEMNGREEGETS
HE BE BUMRKEREEETEEEE
BERAEEN R EEE - HETLERMEN
HEERSREIMERIMBEREMEEZE
MAB - ZEHEELIRACKREEANHRER
EEBFFRZEBE - BREVEZAFETE
BREZEETEATTBEEHARE (F=
) e

ZREVNERBELEHEHATE=R-

As at 31 December 2018, the fair value of the investment property
was estimated to be approximately RMB429,500,000 (2017:
RMB143,300,000). The valuation was performed by an independent
professionally qualified valuer. Selection criteria of the external valuer
include market knowledge, reputation, independence and whether
professional standards are maintained. The valuation was determined
using the sale comparison approach. Sales prices of comparable
properties in close proximity are adjusted for differences in key attributes
such as property size. The most significant input into this valuation
approach is the price per square metre. The fair value measurement
hierarchy of the investment property requires certain significant
unobservable inputs (Level 3).

The investment property is leased to a third party under an operating
lease.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIHEXREBERAT
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

EMALTEERE 16. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS
20184 20174
2018 2017
AR¥T T AR®ET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
FYREE Carrying amount at beginning of the year 96,910 99,173
W B8 B B A ) Acquisition of subsidiaries 109,844 -
FRE Amortisation during the year (2,824) (2,263)
FRREE Carrying amount at end of the year 203,930 96,910
ZEHELHURPERN MIRRBEAY These pieces of leasehold land are located in Mainland China and are held
BE- under long term leases.
GES 17. GOODWILL
ARBET T
RMB'000
20181 A18 : At 1 January 2018:
BR 7% Cost -
R EE Accumulated impairment -
IREFE Net carrying amount -
RM2018F1 A1 A A IR ESHRE Cost at 1 January 2018, net of accumulated impairment
U BB B A B (MEE31) Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 37) 196,114
201851231 A F A & BRE F B Cost and net carrying amount at 31 December 2018 196,114
M20185F 128318 : At 31 December 2018:
B2 Cost 196,114
Z2EHRE Accumulated impairment -
IREFE Net carrying amount 196,114
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e (&)
[k RN S

EREBSHRBNBENDIBRETIRE
EEEMUETRERNR:

e TTEERASELEM K
e RIEBRREELE-

MEERAETELEM

RETEHERZ2EERAEEAARY
mmmmeﬁﬁ%&ﬁﬁFEEuMTw
ESEDRERSHREEBA ENE FHH
KEERENBSREBINEREETE
EEE - AREEEREFHITHEREN
BeREZEBREEI% -R20185F12831H
BARBEESREFANZHRATINEERE17.6% °

REBRBEELEN

PTEHREFLTER2EEREAEAARY
750,000t R BRACELEE MM AT R E
CHEDNRENSREEEMNENTERIHK
EERENESRERINFEREBETEE
BEr ARKERBIENALERENE
EHREBZEREEIY - R2018F 128310\
AREERETERN B ATITERH16.9% ©

AELARSELEMRSREAIHNER
BER AEECEAZEBR - TXHLS
REBEERET ﬂﬁ%ﬁﬁf%%ﬁémg
BRARKEBENZEEZRR

BERA-FAEHESHDIERELHER
EEEUARRTENESR-

BEEMNR-BEETREENRNEEN
ERSRBEEAEFEN —FERNFHEE
MR (REMRREABA) RFARTERE -

17. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated to the
following cash-generating units for impairment testing:

o Henan School cash-generating unit; and
o Northeast School cash-generating unit.

Henan School cash-generating unit

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to Henna School is
RMB195,364,000. The recoverable amount of Henan School has been
determined based on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections
based on financial budgets covering a five-year period approved by senior
management. The growth rate used to extrapolate the cash flows of Henan
School unit beyond the five-year period is 3%. The pre-tax discount rate
applied to the cash flow projections as at 31 December 2018 was 17.6%.

Northeast School cash-generating unit

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to Northeast School
is RMB750,000. The recoverable amount of Northeast School
cash-generating unit has been determined based on a value in use
calculation using cash flow projections based on financial budgets
covering a five-year period approved by senior management. The growth
rate used to extrapolate the cash flows of Northeast School unit beyond
the five-year period is 3%. The pre-tax discount rate applied to the cash
flow projections as at 31 December 2018 was 16.9%.

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of the above
cash-generating units for each reporting date. The following describes
each key assumption on which senior management has based its cash
flow projections to undertake impairment testing:

Budgeted revenue — The budgeted sales amounts are based on the
historical data and management’s expectation on the future market.

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine the value assigned
to the budgeted gross margins is the average gross margins achieved
in the year immediately before the budget year, increased for expected
efficiency improvements, and expected market development.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIHEXREBERAT
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BBRR-FTAMBERDBREAA R B RIRE
HEECERNSERAR N2EEERE
ERPBEHBETERREE2ETARLD
RAZEBERUGEREFAEEEERAE
o

RUBRE-RUBREDERELHER
EEEWARRTSHNANMEE -

RERREELENNTSBRRUEREN
FEEREIERRABTHEERIIBER KR
H—2-

EEEETHETRE SR RBENEEE
BRAFEHEEE DEURREEAHRE
NEERFBEEME-

ARABNESCHAZEARNESRTES
B URIANEHZEERBTFEAANO A
BENEE ERARSHETEEYAUGE
REeELENT RO SENEMBEBTRN
FRZELEE HESHNESRENESRH
HERMEE-
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

17. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Northeast School cash-generating unit (Continued)

Discount rate — The discount rate used are before tax and reflects specific
risks relating to the relevant unit, which is determined using the capital
asset pricing model with reference to the beta coefficient and debt ratio
of certain publicly listed companies conducting business in the PRC
education industry.

Long term growth rate — The long term growth rate is based on the
historical data and management’s expectation on the future market.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on market development of
the cash-generating unit and discount rate are consistent with external
information sources.

The most key assumption on which management has based its
determination of goodwill’s recoverable amount is budgeted sales
amounts, which are dependent on the number of students and unit tuition
and boarding fees.

The Directors of the Company have estimated the reasonably possible
changes in those factors and acknowledged that, even if the most
unfavourable possible values were assigned to those factors, the
recoverable amount then calculated, after incorporating any consequential
effects of such assignments on the other variables used to measure the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit, would still exceed its
carrying amount,

HttEEEE 18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
B4
Software
AR¥ET T
RMB’000

20185 12H31H 31 December 2018

FA2018F1 B1E R AS - L FNBREH#EE Cost at 1 January 2018, net of accumulated amortisation 11,127
nE Additions 9,683
Ui B Y B 2 = Acquisition of subsidiaries 2,070
FAGTIREHE Amortisation provided during the year (4,349)
20185 12H31H At 31 December 2018 18,531

20185128318 :

At 31 December 2018:

B 7R Cost 28,804
HEt#es Accumulated amortisation (10,273)
BREDFE Net carrying amount 18,531
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18. EttEFEEE (&)

18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

B4
Software
AR®ET T
RMB’000

2017%12H31H 31 December 2017
A2017F1B1E IR AN - ZOBRE 5T EE Cost at 1 January 2017, net of accumulated amortisation 8,318
mE Additions 5,257
FAGTIREH Amortisation provided during the year (2,448)
20175128318 At 31 December 2017 11,127

20178128318 :

At 31 December 2017:

2N Cost 17,050

EEt#eE Accumulated amortisation (5,923)

BREFE Net carrying amount 11,127
19. HERBEE 19. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

20184 20175

2018 2017

ARET T AR¥ET T

RMB’000 RMB’000

REFEARIE (HEE)) Prepayment for investments (note (f)) 1,314,442 1,019,667

T b TR FRE Prepayment for land use rights 67,083 155,130

HttE\EEEFRMARE Prepayment for other intangible assets 735 1,659

ME - BRERZEBBESRE Prepayment for property, plant and equipment 56,405 9,517

1,438,665 1,185,973

BB E Impairment allowance (30,975) -

1,407,690 1,185,973

ENRETEERERKBIHER ZEHM Prepayments mainly represent down payments for investments and
e acquisition of new schools.

Ma): BRERNRBEEREUBHENECAZEKER
(TFBER]) 2 BB R ARY147,993,0007T

Note (i): Included in prepayment for investments is the down payment of RMB147,993,000 for
acquisition of Xinjiang Institute of Finance and Economics (“Xinjiang School”).
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OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS (CONTINUED)

During the financial year ended 31 December 2018, in relation to the
proposed acquisition of Xinjiang School, the Group announced that, in
view of certain closing conditions under the equity transfer agreements
not satisfied by the counterparties, and continuing to pursue the
proposed acquisition may not be in the best interest of the Group and
the shareholders, the Directors of the Company decided to terminate the
proposed acquisition in October 2018.

The Company engaged an external independent legal counsel to provide
professional advice to the Board in relation to the termination of Xinjiang
School matter, and to take appropriate actions, including but not limited to,
in following up with the counterparties for settlement of the prepayment
amount. The Company performed an impairment analysis assessment, as
supported by the legal opinion, by considering the probability of default
and estimated an expected credit loss by applying a loss rate approach
with reference to the current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions, as appropriate. The management estimates the impairment
allowance amounted to RMB30,975,000 as at 31 December 2018,
with appropriate legal action to recover the down payment from the
counterparties, and subsequent to the balance sheet date, the process
of negotiation with the counterparties is still in progress. Should there be
any development progress on this matter, the Company will release further
announcement as and when appropriate.

PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER
ASSETS

20184 20174

2018 2017

ARET T AR¥ET T

RMB’000 RMB’000

EAEEREMENLER Prepaid rent and other prepaid expenses 2,008 2,541
BE R E AU T Advance and other receivables 89,857 68,329
FELI&%ZE BRE Receivables from educational bureaus 11,586 1,413
BT8R Staff advances 2,487 757
B & R H b FE Uk T8 FhoE Deposits and other miscellaneous receivables 25,532 15,626
131,470 88,666

IIP

ZEFARRERERPREER-

TR EERBERRLRE LREHRBEN
TRHEERMPABENTHENBEYRKES
BEO

The amounts are interest-free and are not secured with collateral.
None of the above assets is either past due or impaired. The financial

assets included in the above balances relate to receivables for which there
was no recent history of default.
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BERAEFSEURCERAER

1. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED

DEPOSITS

20184 20175
2018 2017
AR¥T T AR¥ET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
BHERBITEER Cash and bank balances 294,630 73,648
EHER Time deposits 118,534 75,000
413,164 148,648
W ZPRER 1T A 8 Less: Restricted bank balances (63,534) (30,000)
ReENRESEEY Cash and cash equivalents 349,630 118,648

STERE: Denominated in:
AR RMB 340,082 109,801
ES usD 1,541 4,686
BT HKD 8,007 4,161
HERBEEEY Cash and cash equivalents 349,630 118,648

RER AEEUARETENRES KRR
“eh A A R%340,082,0007T (20178 : AR
109,801,00075) - ARME T EE B B 5B A H b
B o R RIBPE GMNEBBRG)D) & 4
E-EERNESERE) AEETUERE
REMRIELEFNRITHEARELABERA

RITASEBRESHRTERIRAENFZ
BANXRFE-EHERERNERBRFR
SENDEREFRMEMTE LRER
S EMERAEAE -RTEHRREER
ERDERREFIMENTHRAGEERY
YR AT

At the end of the year, the cash and bank balances of the Group
denominated in RMB amounted to RMB340,082,000 (2017:
RMB109,801,000). The RMB is not freely convertible into other
currencies, however, under the Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment
of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit
rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying periods depending
on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the
respective short term time deposit rates. The bank balances and pledged
deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.
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22. IEEUW A 22. DEFERRED REVENUE
20184 20175
2018 2017
AR¥T T AR®ET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
aRaE (mEo) Contract liabilities (Note (j)) 472,928 -
B Tuition fees -~ 224,629
EBEE Boarding fees - 24,970
472,928 249,599

Bratn) - W2018F12831H K2018F1A1E 2 &N B EH

Note (i): Details of contract liabilities as at 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2018 are as

BT : follows:
201851283180 201841818
31 December 2018 1 January 2018
AR T ARBT
RMB’000 RMB’000
25 Tuition fees 417,108 224,629
FEE Boarding fees 55,820 24,970
EHaBRE Total contract liabilities 472,928 249,599
EHEBREEBRAREE- Contract liabilities are tuition fees and boarding fees.

23 HbENREREGFTEH

23. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

BEME BERREH

FE A+ 5018

St TEA R ERE

mE4WEKEIEE B (f7520)) Miscellaneous expenses received

HA A RIE (et i)

FEEtE A

20184 20175
2018 2017
AR¥T T AREET T
RMB’000 RMB’000

Payables for purchase of property,
plant and equipment 70,677 19,029
Accrued bonus and social insurance 44,833 42,380
from students (Note (i) 83,530 63,016
Other payables (Note (i) 289,121 64,014
Accrued expenses 601 4,544
488,762 192,983
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23.

24,

HttENRERETER (&)

PRASRDEERRTHR - RER BRE
REARZEY HUREMRERESEBNEK
HESAHEQNFEMBSE-

Wit ERREDKBASLNRERA BRBLY
e

Hiati) . HtEMARELSMEIIRR T BEREHMALE
BEoRE HESREBHERERERS X
AR #80,000,000t AR R ABAMEREE
S5 A AR®S80,000,000TTH A REE -

T ERITR A (8K

23. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (CONTINUED)

The above balances are unsecured and non-interest-bearing. The
carrying amount of other payables and accruals at the end of the year
approximated to their fair value due to their short term maturity.

Note (i): The amount represents the miscellaneous expenses received from students which will
be paid out on behalf of students.

Note (ij): Included in other payables was the unsettled consideration for business combination
as described in note 31, which is to be settled by way of cash payment amounting to
RMB80 million to the Schools sponsors, and in the form of capital injection amounting
to RMB80 million into Henan School, respectively.

24. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER

BORROWINGS
2185 0175
2018 2017
BRAE®Y) L ARETR BRAEM) ) AR#ETR
Effective Effective
interest rate (%) Maturity RMB’000 interest rate (%) Maturity RMB'000
Ik Current
ERRERE (Hi2%) Finance lease payables (note 26) 7.28%-13.97% 2019 85,934 -
BRARTER Bank loans - secured 5.22%-6.37% 2019 156,837 5.22%-6.86% 2018 152,819
BEALMER Other loans - secured 10%-10.25% 2019 198,989 -
REGHEFRT Current portion of long term 4.99%-6.65%,
EXNAHDS hank loans - secured HIBOR+2.25% 2019 181,918 4.75%-7.13% 2018 55,000
ERMAEBEZMEEZS  Current portion of other loans - secured 10.31%-19.72% 2019 1,646 -
625,324 207,819
FHH Non-current
EARERE (M) Finance lease payables (ot 26) 7.28%-13.97% 2020-2023 168,261
BEARTER Bank loans - secured 4.99%-6.65%,
HIBOR+2.25% 2020-2023 474110 4.75%-7.13% 2019 144,440
ERAHMER Other loans - secured 10.31%-19.72% 2020-2029 27,187 -
RBBF Transaction costs (8,035) -
661,523 144,440
1,286,847 352,259
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STEETREMMER (E) 24. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)
20184 20175
2018 2017
AR¥T T AR¥ET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
DA Analysed into:
EEERTERREX: Bank loans and overdrafts repayable:
R—FRARZER Within one year or on demand 338,755 207,819
RE= In the second year 145,508 144,440
RE=ZFZFERHTF In the third to fifth years, inclusive
(BEEEME) 320,567 -
804,830 352,259
EEEZEEMEES: Other borrowings repayable:
R—FR Within one year 286,569 -
REZ In the second year 86,062 -
RE=ZFZFERF In the third to fifth years, inclusive
(BEEEMSE) 90,384 -
BBEE Beyond five years 19,002 -
482,017 -
1,286,847 352,259

FAESRITERBET IS ELRELERER:

0)

)

(i)
(iv)

(vi)

(vil)

(viil)

R2018F12A31EAEBEFT - REAR
HEEBLURETREZARTEENSA
R #219,024,0007T (HizE14) ;

EMAELSAGEELZAERLAT BE
A F] -~ #E12 A F) -~ Aspire Education Holding
Co., Ltd. K2 Aspire Education Information Co.,
Ltd. 2B A7 5

ME D TR73.91%MRKE
Z5 /A §]230,000,0000% 8 IR IR 17

ARAREBZRERBEE LT ([BX
T+ | FEECEB) BELANEAER (K
£¥35)

ARBAESTFREETNAEERASE
B EAREILNABER,

Aspire Education Management Co., Ltd%% 37 B9
DNAEAER R

REBRZES MA2018FE128318 £ %
B AR ®40,000,0007T (20175 : AR
30,000,0007T ) °

All of the bank loans are jointly secured and pledged by:

(i)

(i

(i)
(iv)

(vi)

(vil)

(viii)

the Group’s buildings, furniture and fixtures and electronic
devices with an aggregate net carrying amount of approximately
RMB219,024,000 as at 31 December 2018 (note 14);

all shares of Yunnan Daai Fangzhou Information Consultancy Co.,
Ltd., Enchang Company, Huihuang Company, Aspire Education
Holding Co., Ltd. and Aspire Education Information Co., Ltd.;

73.91% equity interest of Haxuan Company;
230,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company;

personal guarantees executed by Mr. Li, a director of the Company,
and Ms. Yang Xuging (“Ms. Yang”, spouse of Mr. Li) (note 35);

corporate guarantees executed by the Group and subsidiaries of the
Group, which are controlled by Mr. Li, a director of the Company;

corporate guarantees executed by Aspire Education Management
Co., Ltd.; and

deposits of the Group with an amount of RMB40,000,000 at as 31
December 2018 (2017: RMB30,000,000).
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25. EZE W &=

26.

25. DEFERRED INCOME

20184 20174

2018 2017

AR¥T T ARET T

RMB’000 RMB’000

RELD At beginning of year 32,725 32,634
FARE Additions during the year 6,808 6,686
WEHEB AT Acquisition of subsidiaries 13,758 -
BABZ Released to profit or loss (12,515) (6,595)
RER At end of year 40,776 32,725
¢ BN ER IR 40 Less: Current portion (9,775) (4,088)
JEBNHAER 1 Non-current portion 31,001 28,637

i 3E W 3 B8 WL T A S 518 15 B AT W BN AV B
BB Uk ERERRZRELENENIEE
ZERREPREREENE B UEAFH
W AELR -

EAmEHREE

FA2018F12B31H  EfmMEREAAREEHE
F=FHEQTAUERRAREEABER
EEMEEBREAFEARITINBMERZ
MEZHFETEREANIBALREERS
HMAEMERRAERBE - HREBEER
RAEARMI00TE AREE00T &N NRIEE
EER=ZZAFBHERRSNERITE
FhAEERESHTEBEEE AIRZE
NEREEEEXINNWHERESSE it
MEZHEARBEREBER FRHEBRFERZ
BB AT R

26.

Deferred income represents the government grants received for subsidies
in connection with certain leasehold improvements and the excess amount
arising from sales and lease back transactions. These government grants
are released to profit or loss over the expected useful lives of the relevant
assets.

FINANCE LEASE PAYABLES

Finance lease payables as at 31 December 2018 represent the borrowings
under financing arrangements entered into by the Group with third-party
leasing companies, in the form of a sale and leaseback transaction which
results in a finance lease and bears a repurchase option. The subjects
sold and leased back under the financing arrangements are the office
properties and office equipment owned by the Group. As the repurchase
prices are set at RMB100 and RMB300 which are minimal compared to
the expected fair values of the underlying assets at the end of the lease
periods of three to five years and the Group is certain that it will exercise
the repurchase option, and considering the amounts of the lease payments
to be paid on the selling prices, the above financing arrangements are
accounted for as collateralised borrowings at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.
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26, Ei®EHEE (&) 26. FINANCE LEASE PAYABLES (CONTINUED)
FA2018F 12831 MEBREE T RRKHKEKAE At 31 December 2018, the total future minimum lease payments under
ENRAERKERENT finance leases and their present values were as follows:

REHEE REHEE REHEE REHEE

(RN (BN HRERE FTRBRE
Present value Present value
Minimum Minimum of minimum of minimum
lease lease lease lease
payments payments payments payments
2018%F 20174 20184 20174
2018 2017 2018 2017
ARET R ARET R AR®T R AR®T R
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
£ Amounts payable:
R—FR Within one year 107,960 - 85,934 -
RE_F In the second year 98,417 - 84,446 -
RE=FZFELF In the third to fifth years, inclusive
(BEEEME) 92,575 - 83,815 -
BEREHEE[RELE Total minimum finance lease
payments 298,952 - 254,195 -
RRBE X H Future finance charges (44,757) -
BEN RSN EFE  Total net finance lease payables 254,195 -
PEARBEER D Portion classified as current
(Krat24) liabilities (note 24) (85,934) -
FEFHBE D (AFEE24)  Non-current portion (note 24) 168,261 -
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27. IEER1E 27. DEFERRED TAX
AEEAREBZELEHEEE2EFHNT : The movements in deferred tax liabilities of the Group during the year are
as follows:
20184
2018
WEEKE AR
BN BEEZATFERE et
Fair value
adjustments
arising from
acquisition of
Withholding taxes subsidiaries Total
AR¥T R AR¥T R ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
R20185F1 A1R At 1 January 2018 3,975 - 3,975
REERNFTABERAM  Deferred tax credited to the statement of
EIERIE profit or loss during the year (954) - (954)
REWBSEZRE Addition from acquisition - 46,398 46,398
20185128318 /Y Gross deferred tax liabilities at
FEEFEAEHELEE 31 December 2018 3,021 46,398 49,419
20174
2017
Rk
Withholding taxes
AR%ET
RMB’000
A2017F1A1H At 1 January 2017 =
AEERNREBRRANBRIIELERE Deferred tax charged to the statement of
profit or loss during the year 3,975
R2017F12B31BMIELERIBEE4%E  Gross deferred tax liabilities at 31 December 2017 3,975
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27. EEBIE (&) 27. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)

RE(FEAREFNBECERER L) R
EAhEIMIERECEOIFTRESRE
TREVER B BRI0%F RBAFENF - ZBEEB
20081 A1 H R4 BB AR2007F12 831
BEEBEN -HPERNGRIEREE T EE
BT UBWHE S RABEFBINBREE -5
AEEMS BABERBI0% Bt NEH
B E A E A b B R BB D T B 200851
B1BREFEEEFDRAKREHMFENS -

FA2018F 128318 AEBEBER R T R R
BT KB = FEEE A BT 2 A8 B8 IE I Ay
BHRHEEARB49419,0007T (2017F : AR
3,975,0007T) * & IR HA20184F Fh Hi & T M
BARD KA ZFENFE B AKK4,293,000
JT (20174 : A R #53,339,0007T)  BR R 4= & Bt
BREBIANSEN HEFBEHREHTE
MEARREMASN T R WIERE AIIE
REENERNFENH A A K H377,800,0007T
(20174 : AR #300,400,0007T ) 2 IE I
B-BEERAE ZEBTREINSREEHRER
WARAEELEWER BLEEHREQ
ARABENERITEITEIRZEHRTE
F o

HZEBRIBEEREBEE " BREBNKE
RAEERRBETATEEERT SR
AAEREFRESE MY RRZSEER
RR2018FE12A3BENELERBEEEARKE
11,328,0007T (20174 : AR #794,0007T) °

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding tax
is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the foreign
investment enterprises established in Mainland China. The requirement is
effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December
2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors.
For the Group, the applicable rate is 10%. The Group is therefore liable
for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries
established in Mainland China in respect of earnings generated from 1
January 2008.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group recognised relevant deferred income
tax liabilities of RMB49,419 thousand (2017: RMB3,975 thousand)
on earnings anticipated to be remitted by certain subsidiaries in the
foreseeable future, and also recognised withholding tax liabilities of
RMB4,293 thousand (2017: RMB3,339 thousand) on earnings distributed
by certain subsidiaries in 2018 interim. Other than the amount recognised
in the consolidated financial statements, deferred tax has not been
recognised for withholding taxes for the earnings of approximately
RMB377.8 million (2017: RMB300.4 million) expected to be retained
by the PRC subsidiaries and not to be remitted to a foreign investor in
the foreseeable future. In the opinion of the Directors, such remaining
earnings will be retained in Mainland China for the expansion of the
Group’s operation, so it is not probable that these subsidiaries will
distribute such remaining earnings in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets amounting to RMB11,328,000 as at 31 December
2018 (2017: RMB794,000) have not been recognised in respect of the
losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for
some time and it is not considered probable that taxable profits will be
available against which the taxable losses can be utilised.
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28. A 28. SHARE CAPITAL
iz 1 SHARES
20184 20175
2018 2017
ARET T AR¥ET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
BERITRHZ: Issued and fully paid:
1,431,100,0000% = i@ % 1,431,100,000 (2017: 1,431,100,000)
(20174 : 1,431,100,0008% ) ordinary shares 983 983
ANTWRAREE MO T A summary of movements in the Company's share capital is as follows:
R4 & E £8 £8
Number of
shares Amount Amount
ARET R
FEx 48
RMB’000
USD’000 Equivalent
2 Registered: 2,000,000,000 200 1,355
ERITRHAR: Issued and fully paid:
R2017F1 18 At 1 January 2017 14,311 = =
EREBRDEER Capitalisation of share premium account 1,144,865,689 114 786
BATH R Issue of new shares 286,220,000 29 197
2017F12B31B K At 31 December 2017 and
201851 A18 1 January 2018 1,431,100,000 143 983
720185128318 At 31 December 2018 1,431,100,000 143 983
& % R SHARE OPTIONS
AATBEREFERBEZEBRTETZ Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the share options
EBREFFHN T ERRMETE29 - issued under the scheme are included in note 29 to the financial
statements.
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29. BT & 29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

AATKE—HERETE ([H8)) B
AEWAEEEERINEENRSHEHERM
REARER - ZTENECERSEEEELR
AAEE (BRAKEEBIIHTES Hi
BERAEBERNRK 2 HER) - %518
20173208 X BRIFE B THUBHAEET
FASBEZAREMTF-

RBEZE BAIETRFHRTHEERE
WESHEEATERHEHERAQAASHITR
17 B910%89 = B HA (BR201754819H) - &
A+ —EAHBE REBEREQZEN
BEEERSHERTHROBRSEHE  F
PRI D B E B E 2 21T IR 1% o 4T
BHERENE - PREBREALCREK
F=£0

BYFAQAES THABIITERRIAHE
FABEANBEREAEBIFITESS
THE-WHIN RFAQXITETERRIAB Y
FUTESHEHEMABEANTABRE:
BBARAEMEEE BHTRON01%RA
B (REBEAQTDNAERHAHOROER) BB
TEBERT EEMTZEAAN AEKRRI
FoERRAE LET

ETBRENZEVNIREYEHET=TN
BRER THARAXNERZRERE R
T fIRHBREZTERIHESEE I
REZEZTFRBHERL RRFTERBR
BRENHPEFAFRFTEERBHTLE (K
REERE) -

B BRE 2 17 G B A MRS R
TRBEE (RADRG2AE: ()R2
B 19 B8 R A T2 9 B MR AE B9 SR AT 2 I MR
R (i) 2 AR RREELH A WA AR S
BB A 2 P W o

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Eligible participants
of the Scheme include the Company’s directors, including independent
non-executive directors, other employees of the Group and suppliers of
goods or services to the Group. The Scheme became effective on 20
March 2017 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in
force for 10 years from that date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently permitted
to be granted under the Scheme is an amount equivalent, upon their
exercise, to 10% of the shares of the Company in issue at the listing date,
i.e. 19 April 2017. The maximum number of shares issuable under share
options to each eligible participant in the Scheme within any 12-month
period is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time.
Any further grant of share options in excess of this limit is subject to
shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, are subject
to approval in advance by the independent non-executive directors. In
addition, any share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the Company, or to any of their
associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at
any time or with an aggregate value (based on the price of the Company’s
shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any
12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a
general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28 days
from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal consideration of HK$1
in total by the grantee. The exercise period of the share options granted
is determinable by the directors, and commences after a vesting period
of three to five years and ends on a date which is not later than five
years from the date of offer of the share options or the expiry date of the
Scheme, if earlier.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the directors, but
may not be less than the highest of (i) the nominal value of the Company’s
shares; (i) the Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares
on the date of offer of the share options; and (i) the average Stock
Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of offer.
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29.

% 3R R M E BE018FE12A31ALEE

BRESS (&)

BRELAETFHFEAURDBREIRARRK
EREZER -

RIEA RN B R2017F3A20 R ]R4 2 B IR EFT
B R0sEFHEBRESBNT

1) HR2018F3A1H AR ARITHEESL.55
BB REHNT 112,000 BIRE R
201810826 AR EHERKREXRIET
B—Bz2TFEE AEEBEZEER
e TR UL 2 1,385,70010 BB AR FERR A ©
B REBUTHEELI202B TR EH
5,726,30012 IR FEIE A BB -

2)  H2018F6H8H » EIR ARITHHE7.652
B 7T H R A1,674,50019 B8 IR AE o R
2018F 78128 AR AE T FEE7.95%8
JT % & 2 48404,20017 B8 PR E - 7A2018
FOASH AREKEREKRIETHE -
ZITEE NREBBUEZZ1,574,2001%
B8 AR A M © 3R U 2504,50017 B8 BR #E BR
SheoEE NREBUTEESNETESY
2,630,50017 i B #E » EL AR > 1,056,3008% F
AR ARERT1,574,20000 BB R EE E
AZECERERERBZERER -R
201810826 HRREE —F Kig
T AEEBXEER2018F9A3H
ERHNZE1,9191000 BIRE - HEE
BURH2 100 BRERETFAEEERE
27093000 BB ER N R AEE
LLAT 3£ {84.20258 JT #% Hi1,919,10017 B IR
EERE®R

3) M2018F9A11B KEBILEMH
12,000,000 BB EA R T AEB LR
BRRHERWBSESE ZARE S
TRERS - )A20185 128318 » sZ IR 14 &
ERG ZSERECEBREEARE
EREEZAER-

4)  FA2018F11H2H » 122,100 BB IR ERF H
I HEEAIRL32B TITHEEER -

29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote
at shareholders’ meetings.

Under the share option scheme adopted by the Company on 20 March
2017, details of share options granted in 2018 are as follows:

1)

On 1 March 2018, 7,112,000 share options were granted and
accepted by grantees at an exercise price of HK$5.55. On 26
October 2018, in order to lower the exercise price which is
corresponding to a significant decrease of share price, the Group
cancelled these share options, except for 1,385,700 share options
that were forfeited. Meanwhile, the Group granted 5,726,300 share
options with an exercise price of HK$4.202 as substitution.

On 8 June 2018, 1,674,500 share options were granted and
accepted by grantees at an exercise price of HK$7.652. And on
12 July 2018, 404,200 share options were granted and accepted
by grantees at an exercise price of HK$7.95. On 3 September
2018, in order to lower the exercise price which is corresponding
to a significant decrease of share price, the Group cancelled these
share options of 1,574,200, except for 504,500 share options that
were forfeited. Meanwhile, the Group granted 2,630,500 share
options with an exercise price of HK$5.92, among which 1,056,300
share options were granted to new grantees and the remaining
1,574,200 share options were designated as replacement award
for those cancelled original award. On 26 October 2018, arising
from a further significant decrease of share price, the Group
further cancelled those share options of 1,919,100 granted on 3
September 2018, except for 2,100 share options that were forfeited
and 709,300 share options that were granted to the chairman of
the Group. At the same time, the Group granted 1,919,100 share
options with an exercise price of HK$4.202 as substitution.

On 11 September 2018, the Group also announced 12,000,000
share options will be granted to some consultants of the Group, who
will provide consulting service relating to acquisitions in the future.
As of 31 December 2018, the services are not provided yet, vesting
conditions of these share options are also not fixed and accepted
by the grantees.

On 2 November 2018, 122,100 share options were granted and
accepted by grantees at an exercise price of HK$4.32.
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BRESTE (F) 29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)
UTARFEARARBHEIERITEZBERE: The following share options were outstanding under the Scheme during
the year:
20184
2018
MEFEIFTEE BRESE
Weighted average
exercise price Number of options
BRERT T B2
HK$ per share '000
M B1H At 1 January - -
FRERH Granted during the year 4.515 9,911
FRERK Forfeited during the year 5.293 (1,716)
MW12831H At 31 December 4.352 8,195

REEPREGRETEZBRETEERT

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options outstanding

fEHAZN T as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:
20184 2018
BREHE TEE
Number of options Exercise price  {T{EHARS Exercise period
F B BRAET
'000 HK$ per share
709 5920 2019 9A3H £2023F9A2H 3 September 2019 to 2 September 2023
2019 3H81HZE
7,367 4.202 2023F10H25H 1 March 2019 to 25 October 2023
201911 H2H &
119 4.320 2023F11H1H 2 November 2019 to 1 November 2023
8,195

REABREZCERELTEAARE
19,699,000t (MEFHESR AKRE1.99
o) HAPAREBENRE E2018F12831H L F

ERERERER S ARYS5,772,0007T °

The fair value of the share options granted during the year was
RMB19,699,000 (weighted average of RMB1.99 each), of which the Group
recognised a share option expense of RMB5,772,000 during the year

ended 31 December 2018.
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29.

30.

BT S (&)
RERURES G BRELTFEEHA=E
REREE S RBREGRR G RE
Hio TRIIMAARRS ZBABE:

29.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted during the year
was estimated as at the date of grant using a binomial model, taking into
account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted.
The following table lists the inputs to the model used:

IR 22 (%)

B 8 (%)

$2  Bex R == (%)
EEBRESES (F8)
MEFIRE (BRARE)

Dividend yield (%)
Volatility (%)

Risk-free interest rate (%)
Expected life of options (year) 5
Weighted average share price (RMB per share)

20184
2018

27%-30%
46%-53%
1.65%-2.33%

1.99

BRECETAIEAFHDUEERERER
ARERE A -ERTERERZTEENZ
B AHIKIE R R RBEKE T REB
BrER U -—ERBBRER-

AEAFEREEMARMRHBREZEM
HA e

REREBR RDQ TR IBEZTEIHEAES,195,200
BEATEZERE- REAQIENER
R BETENRTEZEREBEHRR
A 7] B 178,195,200 8% 58 /b 18 IR A% 19 & %8 oh
B A<819.52% T (#1TRAZAT) ©

it 8
FEBRAFERNNHBESERLBDEY
BRERNGARBLDRNZS -

EXf#EE
AEENEARBEASENE QA RER
BEEANBRRIE-AFEANRTEESL
SEMBARRKREFEABIINIEDH
ERA(R2IEFREHIEMBLAAR,
AEBHAFTAEZADHABESNAHELR
B) AFEANANRBEASERBEF LER
HEZHTEBSHRMELAREEKN
EEFEBD -

30.

The expected life of the options is based on the management’'s best
estimate and is not necessarily indicative of the exercise patterns that may
occur. The volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is
indicative of future trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual
outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into the
measurement of fair value.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 8,195,200 share
options outstanding under the Scheme. The exercise in full of the
outstanding share options would, under the present capital structure of
the Company, result in the issue of 8,195,200 additional ordinary shares
of the Company and additional share capital of US$819.52 (before issue
expenses).

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for the
year are presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity of
the financial statements.

CAPITAL RESERVE

The capital reserve of the Group represents the capital contributions from
the then equity holders of the Group’s subsidiaries. The additions during
the year represent the injection of additional paid-up capital by the then
equity holders of the Group’s subsidiaries, which were consolidated from
the earliest date presented or since the date when the subsidiaries and/or
businesses first came under the common control of Mr. Li. The deduction
during the year represents the decrease in the Group’s net assets
resulting from the acquisition of equity interests in subsidiaries from Mr. Li
for business combination under common control.
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B (E)
EEREMBBES

REFREELE AQ2ANFTEWE QT
BEBOBRBRENIBEFTDIRFRES (B
BEHHARTENBLARANESEEE) -
ZERBRE()VEREMED T — R E )
ERNBERES

) REPEIFE AEEETHBERR
ERRERE ZXRBEFETEES
ERIFEENRREEFNN10%D B E
HEBNEEBHHBE E2REETD
HEBEMEARMS0% - EHEQEE
FrEisE TIRBIMBRRT 3405 E BER
RETERRAS HEERNCBRNEHRT
EREMEAEI25% °

i) REPENEBEERER BRERS
BEOHNRBER ARAEERTD
Res%m s (REFBEQADETE
AEE) 7 BRERRET -BRESAR
ERMNERREERNHBERBHREA
e

x¥%a6f

REZE2018F 12831 B LB RFEER  KEH
ERUBITEERERLER - ZSEKWES
7 82 [ B P Bl 7 b 2B - AR R K BR b EB B AN
TEAEREZE2EBE - TEERE—- AR
FERAINEHENEENERSSERK
REERBE-FRFPERINERERENRS
ZEFEHERB - ZSEWBREEFEAKRER
SEBIER o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

30. RESERVES (CONTINUED)

31.

CAPITAL RESERVE (CONTINUED)

Statutory and other surplus reserves

Pursuant to the relevant laws in the PRC, the Company’s subsidiaries in
the PRC shall make appropriations from after-tax profit to non-distributable
reserve funds as determined by the boards of directors of the relevant
PRC subsidiaries. These reserves include (i) general reserve of the limited
liability companies and (i) the development fund of schools.

i) In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC, certain
subsidiaries of the Group which are domestic enterprises are
required to allocate 10% of their profit after tax, as determined in
accordance with the relevant PRC accounting standards, to their
respective statutory surplus reserves until the reserves reach 50%
of their respective registered capital. Subject to certain restrictions
set out in the Company Law of the PRC, part of the statutory
surplus reserve may be converted to share capital, provided that
the remaining balance after the capitalisation is not less than 25%
of the registered capital.

i) According to the relevant PRC laws and regulations, for private
schools that require reasonable returns, they are required to
appropriate to the development fund not less than 25% of the
net income of the relevant schools as determined in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles in the PRC. The
development fund is for the construction or maintenance of the
schools or the procurement or upgrade of educational equipment.

BUSINESS COMBINATION

During the financial year ended 31 December 2018, the Group completed
acquisitions of Henan School and Northeast School. These acquisitions
were part of the Group’s strategy to expand school network in capital
cities in the northwestern, central and northeastern of the PRC. The Henan
School is a private higher education institution established in the PRC
providing junior college education, and the Northeast School is a private
institution of formal higher education established in the PRC focusing on
applied sciences. These acquisitions have been accounted for using the
acquisition method.

As detailed in the Company announcement, on 8 October 2018, the Group
completed the acquisition of 55% school sponsor’s interest in Henan
School from two individuals and Henan Rongyu, independent third parties
and sponsors of Henan School, at a consideration of RMB395,500,000.
The purchase consideration for the acquisition comprises
RMB101,500,000 payable to Mr. Rong and Ms. Kong for their 55% equity
interest in Henan Rongyu, and the remaining of RMB294,000,000 was
in the form of capital injection into Henan School. As at 31 December
2018, RMB285,500,000 out of the total consideration was paid, and the
remaining of RMB110,000,000 is to be settled within the next twelve
months of the balance sheet date.
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31.

BUSINESS COMBINATION (CONTINUED)

As detailed in the Company announcement, on 10 December 2018, the
Group completed the acquisition of 73.91% school sponsor’s interest
in Northeast School from five individuals, independent third parties and
sponsors of Northeast School, at a consideration of RMB381,865,000. As
at 31 December 2018, RMB331,865,000 out of the total consideration
was paid, and the remaining of RMB50,000,000 is to be settled within the
next twelve months of the balance sheet date.

The Group engaged an external independent appraiser to perform the
valuation with the identification and determination of fair values to be
assigned to the acquirees’ assets and liabilities as at acquisition date.

HENAN SCHOOL

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Henan School as
at the date of acquisition were as follows:

R B

ZAFEE

Fair value

recognised on

acquisition

KraE ARET T

Notes RMB’000

ME - BERZE Property, plant and equipment 14 378,185

BREWE Investment properties 15 68,500

BT ERE Prepaid land lease payments 16 39,043

HMWELEE Other intangible assets 18 1,593

Ht3EREBEE Other non-current assets 53,257

RERBITER Cash and bank balances 3,402

FENAFE - HtEWFEEREMERE  Prepayments, other receivables and other assets 220,474

BENAIEERWBFIE Receivables for tuition and boarding fee 6,347

EEWA Deferred revenue (132,728)

HttENRERESER Other payables and accruals (225,227)

STERITRAEMEE — B H Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings — current (2,917)

IERE Y = — BNER Deferred income — current 25 (2,076)

FEASH1R Tax payable (30)
STERTEEMEES - Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings —

non-current (11,530)

I 3 UK % — JE BN AR Deferred income — non-current 25 (5,060)

EEHEEE Deferred tax liabilities (27,350)

BAFEFEZAHBIEEFELE Total identifiable net assets at fair value 363,883

FERER Non-controlling interests (163,747)

R B2 Goodwill on acquisition 17 195,364

ERESEN Satisfied by cash 285,500

FEARE Consideration payable 23 110,000

395,500
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31. BUSINESS COMBINATION (CONTINUED)
NORTHEAST SCHOOL

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Northeast School
as at the date of acquisition were as follows:

R B

ZAFE

Fair value

recognised on

acquisition

iok=d ARBET T

Notes RMB’000

ME - BRERZE Property, plant and equipment 14 394,483
REME Investment properties 15 46,000
AL HEERE Prepaid land lease payments 16 70,801
HihBmEEE Other intangible assets 18 477
BERBITLER Cash and bank balances 91,400
EAFE-HtEWREREMERE  Prepayments, other receivables and other assets 160,192
BERIBEERERNRE Receivables for tuition and boarding fee 52
EEWA Deferred revenue (95,697)
HiEARBERETER Other payables and accruals (126,389)
JEFE W 2= — BN ER Deferred income — current 25 (1,583)
IEFE W 2 — FE BN HR Deferred income — non-current 25 (5,039)
EERIEEE Deferred tax liabilities (19,049)
BAFEFEZTRBNEEFEEBEE Total identifiable net assets at fair value 515,648
FERER Non-controlling interests (134,533)
R EEEE Goodwill on acquisition 17 750
EBESEN Satisfied by cash 331,865
EARE Consideration payable 23 50,000
381,865

CHRACHEIZRARUBEE ZERX
BiEME HETEREI - HECHEIH
BEMBAEH AED -

AEECEELAMEMABRIZATREE
EFEE L ERERLGIGEFERES -

The goodwill recognised is primarily attributed to the expected business
synergies arising from the acquisitions, which is not separately recognised.
None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible for income
tax purposes.

The Group has elected to measure the non-controlling interests in two

schools set out above at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share
of the identifiable net assets.
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31.
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31. BUSINESS COMBINATION (CONTINUED)

NORTHEAST SCHOOL (CONTINUED)

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of subsidiaries
is as follows:

R2018BEERFEENRE
CWBE S RIBTES

AARARREEDREREZRER
BeSEYRLEFE

AREET T

RMB’000

Cash consideration paid in 2018 (285,500)

Cash and bank balances acquired 94,802
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents included in

cash flows used in investing activities (190,698)

REBBUHRELERER (B [
BH WEMBRENERBE T RTEH
B (tWERETER—F) HMEBMERNK
BHYCFELE (MAR)XEERER
ZETHITEBECEERBRNHAER AR
BIREINSHETTHE

BWEBSEEUR TEERERRLERS 5
B 7 & B W &= B Bk A R #47,565,000T &2 A
F 19,623,000t - B R & £2018%12831H
LFERAEBGZESENDINEMARE
22,781,0007t & A K #3,852,0007T ©

MTRmERRRILEREGHANREDE £ A
AEEFRKRES D BB AR ¥635,938,000
TR AR %683,267,0000 FRAREERZF D
BB AR #251,754,00070 & A R 284,259,000
TTo

In accordance with HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combinations, the
amounts recorded for the acquisition are provisional and are subject to
adjustments during the measurement period of not exceeding one year
from the acquisition date if new information is obtained about facts and
circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date and, if known, would
have affected the measurement of the amounts recognised as of that
date.

Since the acquisition, Henan School and Northeast School contributed
RMB47,565,000 and RMB19,623,000 respectively to the Group’s
revenue; and contributed RMB22,781,000 and RMB3,852,000
respectively to the Group’s consolidated profit for the year ended 31
December 2018.

Had the combination of Henan School and Northeast School taken place
at the beginning of the year, the revenue of the Group for the year would
have been RMB635,938,000 and RMB683,267,000 respectively, and the
profit of the Group for the year would have been RMB251,754,000 and
RMB?284,259,000 respectively.
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32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS

(A) MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

There were no major non-cash transactions during the current

financial year.

METBHELEEEETH (B) CHANGES IN LIABILITIES ARISING FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
20184
2018
BIOREMER Ef@MERE =
Bank and Finance lease
other loans payables Total
AR T AR T ARE T
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
201851818 At 1 January 2018 352,259 = 352,259
BMERESREZED Changes from financing cash flows 665,948 254,194 920,142
REUWEHE DT 2 Increase arising from acquisition

of subsidiaries 14,446 - 14,446
R2018%12A31H At 31 December 2018 1,032,653 254,194 1,286,847
20174
2017
RITR EAMfER
Bank and
other loans
AR®EF T
RMB’000
20171818 At 1 January 2017 578,628
MEREREZEH Changes from financing cash flows (226,369)
M20175F12831H At 31 December 2017 352,259
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REHERE
EHHAA

AEBRBELHEZHHAERENE
HENAEBENF - FE2ETAF-HEMRRK
BETEREFXARES ARBEEA D
MERHBESHELHAE-

FA2018F 128310 REBR KR B EE H A
FHEINTAUHECLEHEBEBTHRRERE
HERERNREHAZBENT

33. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

AS LESSOR

The Group leased its investment properties under operating lease
arrangements, with leases negotiated for terms ranging from one to
sixteen years. The terms of the leases generally also require the tenants to
pay security deposits and provide for periodic rent adjustments according
to the then prevailing market conditions.

At 31 December 2018, the Group had total future minimum lease
receivables under non-cancellable operating leases with its tenants falling
due as follows:

20184 20174

2018 2017

ARET T AREET T

RMB’000 RMB’000

—FR Within one year 26,893 16,886
—FUEEFEBRF After one year but not more than five years 40,978 21,613
EEUE More than five years 7,884 280
75,755 38,779

ERAEBAA

AEERBEEHEZHRBEBTFRAE
MEHENREBNTF-—E=F MP LR
BHREMNF—ZEt+F-

2018512831 H » AN E B BN % 2 HR 89 1 1]
HREEEETHWARREEERERRESZ
ZEWT

AS LESSEE

The Group leases certain of its buildings and motor vehicles under
operating lease arrangements. Leases for properties are negotiated for
terms ranging from one to three years, and those for office equipment are
for terms ranging from one to ten years.

At 31 December 2018, the Group had total future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases falling due as follows:

20184 20174

2018 2017

ARET T AR¥ET T

RMB’000 RMB’000

—FR Within one year 7,824 5,243
—FEEFRBBRE After one year but not more than five years 19,542 4,790
27,366 10,033
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34. COMMITMENTS

In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in note 33 above,
the Group had the following capital commitments as at the end of the

year:
20184 20174
2018 2017
ARET T AR¥ET T
RMB’000 RMB’000

EHEXEEST R Contracted but not provided for:
M BENKE Property, plant and equipment 72,310 30,935
K& Investments 123,000 124,000
195,310 154,935

FA2018F12A31H  AEBITEERCIRERE
RETHEAEIE (20175 1 )

B S X5 RA&ER

ARREERR RAFE UTEE /D8
REXEEERZ NG ERMBEH S

A BBEBRE

HEAEER
B A ANA 2R
R4 EZEXE
Bt Z S EBE
Aspire Education /NN

Management Co., Ltd. BRz—

(B) HEABAE cHMRX S :

MM F24FTE > ANEBE Tt E8RT
REMEBEFBAARAQATESET L £
Z= 50 4 BB 18 B & £ K Aspire Education
Management Co., Ltdit B #E4R o

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had no significant capital
commitments authorised but not contracted for (2017: Nil).

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

The directors of the Company are of the view that the following parties/
companies are related parties that had transactions or balances with the
Group during the year.

(A) NAME AND RELATIONSHIP
Relationship with the

Name of related parties Group and the Company

Mr. Li Chairman of the Board

Ms. Yang Spouse of Mr. Li

Aspire Education One of the shareholders
Management Co., Ltd. of the Company

(B) OTHER TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED
PARTIES:

As set out in note 24, certain of the Group’s interest-bearing bank
and other loans were jointly guaranteed by Mr. Li, a director of
the Company, Ms. Yang, spouse of Mr. Li and Aspire Education
Management Co., Ltd.
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3. BBAEXRZ R & (&)

C) *EEXEEBAENME

35.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES
(CONTINUED)

(C) COMPENSATION OF KEY MANAGEMENT
PERSONNEL OF THE GROUP

20184 20174

2018 2017

ARET T ARET T

RMB’000 RMB’000

EHEERER Short term employee benefits 5,759 5,554
EBRE B Contributions to the pension scheme 96 91
LAIRFESZ (SR BBIRMEBI X Equity-settled share option expense 2,848 -
8,703 5,645

FREERTETRAEMENE S
HIREN P RRMEE -

36. eMIENSSE
RAFEER SESBMIANERENT

36.

Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s emoluments are
included in note 9 to the financial statements.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as

20185 12H31H
SREE

at the end of the year were as follows:

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2018

Financial assets

FPAENRIR A EWRER
HtEENERERE

[=E:EEEERAN

BREBENRE

ReERBTEEY

Financial assets included in prepayments,
other receivables and other assets

Pledged deposits

Prepayment for investments

Cash and cash equivalents

REHERAGTE
ZERMEE
Financial assets at
amortised cost

AR®T T
RMB’000

129,462
63,534
1,283,467
349,630

1,826,093

200
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C EBMITENDE(F) 36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
(CONTINUED)
20185128318 (&) AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED)
cRAas Financial liabilities
REBERAE
ZeREa s
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
ARET T
RMB’000
SFAEMEMRERESERN Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals
SRAas 443,929
FFERITREMER Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 1,286,847
1,730,776

201712831 H AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2017
EWMEE Financial assets
ERKERRIE
Loans and
receivables
AR¥ET T
RMB’000
FFATEMARIE HttERRIER Financial assets included in prepayments,

HttEENESREE other receivables and other assets 86,125
2B ER Pledged deposits 30,000
REFENRIE Prepayment for investments 1,019,667
HERHEEZEEY Cash and cash equivalents 118,648

1,254,440
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36. EMT AN E (&)

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

20175128318 (&)
tHMAE

(CONTINUED)
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2017 (CONTINUED)

Financial liabilities

SFAHMENRARESTERN
EWas
HERITRAEMER

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings

REHEARTE
ZEmasE
Financial

liabilities at
amortised cost
AREET T
RMB’000

Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals

150,603
352,259

502,862

3. EMIENAFERLAFEER

AEEEMITANKEERAFE (REE
AREEMATEFEZE)NT:

37. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial instruments,
for those with carrying amounts that require recurring fair value
measurement, are as follows:

b | Group
CREE Financial liabilities

FERTERREMER Interest-bearing bank loans and

other borrowings

EHE ATE

Carrying amount Fair value
20185 20174 20185 2017
2018 2017 2018 2017
ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
1,286,847 352,259 1,286,847 352,259

EEECHME RERRSEEY CERE
SREVEAERAD ~ SF A TR FOR - b B IRE R
HWEENESRMEE TALMEBEMRER
BERNEREEN A FEEAREEMN
A IRRHRZETANHRE

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, the current portion of pledged deposits, financial assets
included in prepayments, other receivables and other assets, and financial
liabilities included in other payables and accruals approximate to their
carrying amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these
instruments.
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37. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

37.

?E&EE%H&$EU§Q%HEE%1
ML
AEEUMBEERENTEHEER SR
TENATFENAEEERRREF MBL
BoERUiBEEEER - NEFER UK
HEINMERTEANBEZBIEE ARG
ENFTEBARB -HECHERUKEE
TEARCSEHME-

TMEEREENATFEUAZTAERBRER
SHEBANRSZ (REFBEHERN) B
MRXZEWAKR TXHI ARG FE
M HERBRER

FTERITREMMERIENHBHOHNAFEIR
BEREGRR - CERBRRERSBTEHIAN
REA AL EZUMRERARRRESRETE
KL MA2018F 12831 - AEBFERT
REMERNTHBELONRB T K

DFEER
TRHUPFEESHTANATEFEER:

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

The Group’s finance department headed by the finance manager is
responsible for determining the policies and procedures for the fair value
measurement of financial instruments. The finance manager reports
directly to the chief financial officer. At the end of each of the year, the
finance department analyses the movements in the values of financial
instruments and determines the major inputs applied in the valuation. The
valuation is reviewed and approved by the chief financial officer.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at
the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current
transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation
sale. The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the
fair values:

The fair value of the non-current portion of interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings has been calculated by discounting the expected
future cash flows using rates currently available for instruments with
similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The Group’s own
non-performance risk for interest-bearing bank and other borrowings as at
31 December 2018 was assessed to be insignificant.

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of the
Group’s financial instruments:

EEAFENARE Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed
AFEFERARE
20185 2018 Fair value measurement using
RER EATERE EAFTEE
2018  WENKRE BAE BAE
128318 -8 -t F=R
Quoted prices in Significant Significant
active observable unobservable
31 December markets inputs inputs
2018 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
ARETR  ARETR ARETR ARETR
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
FERTERREMMEF  Interest-bearing bank loans
and other borrowings 1,286,847 - 1,286,847 -
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37.

38.

EMITENAFERAFEREBR

(IIE)

RFEER(HE)

37.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (CONTINUED)

BEEATENESE (&) Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed (Continued)
AFEFERARE
2017% 2017 Fair value measurement using
RER EATERE EBEAFTEE
017  HHENKRE BARE BAYE
128318 -8 et =
Quoted prices in Significant Significant
active observable unobservable
31 December markets inputs inputs
2017 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
ARBTR AR®Tn AR®Tx AR®Tx
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
FERTERKREMMET  Interest-bearing bank loans
and other borrowings 352,259 - 352,259 -

REBZE2018F12A31BLFE F—RMRE=
PoeBUTEANFEFTEER ME=ZRLF
EffErEHREBRNER -

FA2018F12A3IH A ABT BT MEMEE
FEBRAFEFE-

MBERBEEBERBX

AEENTESHIABREFRRTER
HiENHE HMURBHEMEE BERkR
TEEYRCERER - ZEEMITANE

AEEESRTAGRNEIZER AT RER -
SRR FERBRADESRR -EFE
8 %R A b 2 B R 1 E A9BSR AR A 40
T e

38.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, there were no transfers
between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements, and no transfers
into and out of Level 3 fair value measurements.

The Company did not have any financial assets and liabilities measured at
fair value as at 31 December 2018.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise interest-bearing bank
borrowings, other payables, other current financial assets, cash and cash
equivalents and pledged deposits. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest
rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The board of
directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks
which are summarised below.
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38. MBEREEEERERE (&) 38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

kY

AEEHENTSNZEHNARERRES
SENFZERTEREB -BRNANERE
B A M 24 5R o

7 g2 [ 3 45 32 R 4 {0 ) 2.5 B9 b 3 b L T
B R SE L B o
TRUPEFEL S BEBTBHERT

RE(BEFEEBRAENEE)WT:

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
INTEREST RATE RISK

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates
relates primarily to the Group’s bank borrowings with floating interest
rates. The interest rates and terms of repayments of the borrowings are
disclosed in note 24.

The Group has not used any interest swaps to hedge its exposure to
interest rate risk.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonable possible
change in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, of the
Group’s profit before tax (through the impact on floating rate borrowings)
as follows:

EH(THE) R %4 A% A
=2 (m2) /#m
(Decrease)/
Increase/ increase
(decrease) in profit
in basis points before tax
AR¥T T
RMB’000
BE2018F12A31BLLEE Year ended 31 December 2018
ARYE RMB 50 (5,126)
AR RMB (50) 5,126
HZE2017F12A3BLEEE Year ended 31 December 2017
ARHE RMB 50 (1,628)
AR RMB (50) 1,628
HMNEE R B FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

AEBEHRZERRR - ZEERTE
BERTREMEBERMELE - ERIIBESIL
AR HREE cERHEB - ARENBER
RSHEARANBTITLERSN-

AEBNRREZEHPITE T BARZREK
Fo ¥ ¥ 010 B AVIRRR AR EE PR AN E -

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures arise
from interest-bearing bank and other borrowings. The foreign currency
forward contracts must be in the same currency as the hedged item. It
is the Group’s policy not to enter into forward contracts until a —firm
commitment is in place.

It is the Group’s policy to negotiate the terms of the hedge derivatives to
match the terms of the hedged item to maximise hedge effectiveness.
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MEERE (&)

TRELERARBEEARBLERNSG
EUggy THAHMSERETENE
MT HAEERREBRORBAER (B
REBEERAEENLATVEEEZY) RAKH
ER (EREHNEBSANATEEZE)H
BRE Do

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK (CONTINUED)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of the reporting
period to a reasonably possible change in the exchange rate of RMB
against USD and HKD, with all other variables held constant, of the
Group’s profit before tax (due to changes in the fair value of monetary
assets and liabilities) and the Group’s equity (due to changes in the fair
values of forward currency contracts).

EnRkER
& = B B4 A0 32 R i
(T&)/ tH# 2,/ CR) #m,/ CGA)
(Decrease)/ Increase/
increase in (decrease) Increase/
USD and in profit (decrease)
HKD rate before tax in equity
% AR®BETT AR®BET
% RMB’000 RMB’000
20184 2018
HMARBEETERE If RMB weakens against USD (5) 77 =
HARMNETHE If RMB strengthens against USD 5 7 -
MARSNBTEME If RMB weakens against HKD (5) (27,450) -
HARBNBITHME If RMB strengthens against HKD 5 27,450 -
20174 2017
HMARBEETERE If RMB weakens against USD (5) 656 -
HMARBEETHE If RMB strengthens against USD 5 (656) -
MARBERBIRE If RMB weakens against HKD (5) 187 -
HMARBEEBTHAHE If RMB strengthens against HKD 5 (187) -
=Bk CREDIT RISK

FEEERNZEFERFNE=ZFTETX
S ARENHRBHBREFERIET
SHNRERERSFEERETEERERERF
o BUREEASKEBEEEERZALR
EEGAERAFER-ZRAFUBEEE
EEUDREMEEBITENRZ AEEER
SREEEHNBEIEMENTSREGEER

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties. It
is the Group’s policy that all students and cooperative schools who wish
to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In
addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis and the
Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant. For transactions that are
not denominated in the functional currency of the relevant operating unit,
the Group does not offer credit terms without the specific approval of the
Head of Credit Control.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIHEXREBERAT



Bf 7% 3 R Mt 5F B 22018F 12831 L FE
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

38. MBEREEEERERE (&) 38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

EERBK (&)
BZE2018F12A3BENESEARNMELIH

TRETTREXAEENEABERREHRNE

RENMERAEARRHO ZBXETER
RBEWBHER RIAMERERIETBL
E2ERARIBEANBERTIESH URE
Z2018F12A3HNFR B E - 2K
THEATREELAREERERNESRIER
EHZEERRK-

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
CREDIT RISK (CONTINUED)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at 31 December 2018

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum exposure to
credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which is mainly based on
past due information unless other information is available without undue
cost or effort, and year-end staging classification as at 31 December
2018. The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial
assets and the exposure to credit risk for the financial guarantee
contracts.

BEBHEE
B 5k
Lifetime ECLs
Simplified
approach
ARET T
RMB’000
BEBAMRE HttEKRRER Financial assets included in prepayments,
HthEETANEMEE other receivables and other assets
—EE* — Normal* 131,470
[ g Pledged deposits
— 14 5K 181 5P — Not yet past due 63,534
ReERBRSEE Cash and cash equivalents
— [ SRR — Not yet past due 349,630
REFENRIE Prepayment for investments
—E&E* — Normal* 1,166,449
— Al &+ — Doubtful* 117,018
1,828,101

- BREEANTE HOBERRERAMEEEANE
MEENEARERAARIERIEMMNER
BEIPNRBENRAELHEEARIBERIUR
HERRBEEZEN TR SMEENEAR
BRABRIAE]

M2017E12B31 BB RKEAR

rEFHMEREE (BERERAETEE
MR EMERFE)NEERRDERS Y
FENEI BAREBEAERZEIANK
E{E °

HRASEERNERGEERFNE=TE
TG BUBREMEFR FERBRES
EREF HFH HERTEEE -&A&H
TESEETFNEERR-

The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other
assets is considered to be “normal” when they are not past due and there is no information
indicating that the financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be “doubtful”.

Maximum exposure as at 31 December 2017

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which comprise cash
and cash equivalents and other receivables, arises from default of the
counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amounts of
these instruments.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties, there is no requirement for collateral. Concentrations of credit
risk are managed by customer/counterparty, by geographical region and
by industry sector. There are no significant concentrations of credit risk
within the Group.
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38.

MHEEREEERERBEE (&)

RBETER

AEENAEEMRDESTHETAEEH
E4ERNAR ZTAZELHBERS
MEEPN - HttesMEE)MENIBRE
MEREEEEBNEASHERE

ARBEEEBRARTARENESHE
PEEREE 2 T o

TREBAAEERFRERSORBRALR
NEmeEIHER-

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

LIQUIDITY RISK

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a recurring
liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the maturity of both its financial
investments and financial assets (e.g., other financial assets) and
projected cash flows from operations.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of
funding and flexibility through the use of bank loans.

The tables below summarise the maturity profile of the Group’s financial
liabilities at the end of the year based on contractual undiscounted

20185128318 31 December 2018

FERTREMER Interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings

SARMEMTERESER  Financial liabilities included in

Hemas other payables and accruals
2017F128318 31 December 2017
ARRTRAMER Interest-hearing bank and

other borrowings
FAHMBEMATRERESER  Financial liabilities included in
Hemes other payables and accruals

payments.
=z
RERK =EAR +=fA —-ERE @t
Less than 3to12 1105
On demand 3 months months years Total

ARBTR ARETR AREBTR ARBTRT ARET:R
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

= 115,812 539,770 795,245 1,450,827
443,929 = = = 443,929
443,929 115,812 539,770 795,245 1,894,756

- 19,909 197,313 166,858 384,080
150,603 - - - 150,603
150,603 19,909 197,313 166,858 534,683

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIHEXREBERAT
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38. MBEREEEERERE (&) 38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

BEXREHE CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

AEBEAEENTIEEZEBRAEEN The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
FREKCEREIREFBENE R R U X safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to
BHEBAFERREER AL maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and

maximise shareholders’ value.

AEERBERERINEBREHFEENE The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it
BEHREBEEERNEBUHEEHBAE. in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics
BEBSAZRELRER AEEHLERAER of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
FTTIFREORE REERFRRNEITH Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital
BH - AEBRZIEMIRBEMHERER- to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not subject to any
RER XEENEREEEEZ BHEXIER externally imposed capital requirements. No changes were made in the
BB s - objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the year.
RERNEEEBLZENT : The debt-to-asset ratios at the end of the year were as follows:
20184 201746
2018 2017
AR T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
EERE Total liabilities 2,374,298 845,048
EE®E Total assets 4,653,509 2,569,903
EEAEBLE Debt-to-asset ratios 51% 33%
39. MEHEEE 39. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
AR A T QA EFEATE B20185F 98148 As detailed in the Company announcement, on 14 September 2018,
AEBTIREHZE ([HE]) AREHRE the Group entered into Shareholders’ Agreement (the “Agreement”) in
RERENEOREHARBESR EAK relation to the school sponsor’s interest in Guangxi Yinghua International
MNEZEERBESNERRET K ERRE Occupation College (EE P L ZE B PRI 2 2Pt ) , Guangxi Qinzhou
¥EFWBEPE ([BERERPzEH% B Yinghua International Occupation and Technology School ( & 78 R M &
EEERIRREHZEER fINKEEE R R R T 2242 ) and Guangxi Yinghua International Occupation
B -FEEM BEIBR AXNEMELRRHK Middle School (EEPE EZEREIMR B X LB B 2) (the “Guangxi
Ao Schools”), and the Guangxi Schools cover undergraduate education in

various disciplines such as economics and management, information
technology, construction engineering, humanities and arts.

REEZBZE AEEEHRUABEREAR Pursuant to the Agreement, the Group would acquire 51% school
%5146,721,00070 Y B8 & 70 E2AR51% 2 B2 4% 82 iy sponsor’s interest of Guangxi Schools for total purchase consideration
ERED HPZZASEHASHE S RGEYS of RMB146,721,000, of which the completion was subject to closing
FEEKEEBEMERER RERHBZER conditions of the Agreement and applicable approvals from the relevant
EZGEGE EREBRERAEREERBEE authorities. Upon fulfillment of the conditions stipulated in the Agreement,
2EWMBAT - the Guangxi Schools will become indirect non wholly-owned subsidiaries

of the Group.
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39. MEHREE (&)

40.

41.

39. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
(CONTINUED)

ZUWBEER2019F 1B T/l REBH1E T The acquisition was completed in January 2019, and the Group is in
MNBEENS ST A E N2019FHE the process of assessing the initial accounting for the acquisition and

HEENBEENRFEMBRERR-

will incorporate the relevant financial information in FY2019 interim and
annual financial statements.

RPQ T BRI T 40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY
A201845 20178
12831H 128318
As at As at
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
AR¥ET T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
ERBEE NON-CURRENT ASSETS
N ENGIE Interests in subsidiaries 446,239 446,239
FRBEELE Total non-current assets 446,239 446,239
REBEE CURRENT ASSETS
RENRESEEY Cash and cash equivalents 3,627 994
FE W B B A ) Due from subsidiaries 27,568 705,238
REEEHE Total current assets 31,195 706,232
EEFE Net assets 477,434 1,152,471
i EQUITY
i@ Share capital 983 983
BEARFE Capital reserve 476,451 1,151,488
HRER Total equity 477,434 1,152,471
B A& SRR 41. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B BRERER2019FIFOHEESEHAER The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the
REEEM - board of directors on 29 March 2019.
CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIHEXREBERAT



MBEHE

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
REXE BZ12ANALEE
Results of operations Year ended December 31
20145 20154 20165 201745 20185
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARETT AR¥TT
RMB in RMB in RMBin RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands thousands thousands thousands
g Income 206,495 273,994 340,996 414,405 561,450
EF Gross profit 100,770 135,627 163,587 227,500 286,421
ERER Profit for the year 81,308 103,821 112,197 233,322 254,268
KRBLA (ffi21) Adjusted net profit (nofe 7) 81,308 103,821 130,051 259,443 285,243
BAREREAAEN Attributable to equity
holders of the parent 81,308 103,823 111,755 233,368 242,530
Har . EKABRANDEFERZNIEFH EHHZ (BMAREE—  MNte?:  The adjusted net profit as calculated based on the adjusted profit for the year and listing
EILEMIEE) AERTHESE expenses (the non-recurring expenses of the year).
B L & BENANBLEE
Financial ratios Year ended December 31
20145 20155 20165 20175 20184
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
ERZE ) Gross profit margin (%) 48.8% 49.5% 48.0% 54.9% 51.0%
AR (%) Net profit margin (%) 39.4% 37.9% 32.9% 56.3% 45.3%
R BRI R (%) Adjusted net profit margin (%) 37.8% 38.9% 38.1% 62.6% 50.8%
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MBEBE

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
EEREE BENAMALEE
Assets and liabilities Year ended December 31
20145 20155 20165 20175 20185
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
ARETT ARETRT ARETR ARETT ARET T
RMB in RMB in RMB in RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands thousands thousands thousands
FRBEE Non-current assets 757,485 1,044,878 1,727,133 2,326,642 4,103,810
REEE Current assets 356,549 171,815 285,465 243,261 549,699
TEaf Current liabilities 401,456 681,541 563,442 667,996 1,632,355
RBEEFHE Net current liabilities (44,907) (509,726) (277,977) (424.735) (1,082,656)
BEEAERNRBER Total assets less current liabilities 712,578 535,152 1,449,156 1,901,907 3,021,154
e =L Non-current liabilities 331,520 153,528 506,640 177,052 741,943
AR Total equity 381,058 381,624 942,516 1,724,855 2,279,211
ME BERR Property, plant and equipment 601,786 728,270 867,240 985,301 2,116,119
BeRESEEY Cash and cash equivalents 299,170 82,979 178,785 118,648 349,630
EEWA Deferred revenue 138,908 180,019 217,047 249,599 472,928
FERTREMER Interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings 417,795 450,996 578,628 352,259 1,286,847
B L & BZE12ANE/BENANBLEE:
Financial ratios As of December 31/for the year ended December 31,
20145 201545 20164 20175 20185
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
ARETT ARETRT ARETRT ARETR ARET T
RMB in RMB in RMB in RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands thousands thousands thousands
TEN = Current Ratio 09 0.3 05 0.4 0.3
B E (fiF2) Gearing ratio (Vote 2) 109.6% 118.2% 61.4% 20.4% 56.5%
HiaFe . RELRENEREELERUEESZ -BEMATE M2 Gearing ratio equals total debt divided by total equity as of the end of the year. Total debt
STERITER R HEMER refers to all interest-bearing bank loans and other borrowings.
Be¢RE BZ12A31BLEE
Cash flows Year ended December 31
20145 20154 20164 20174 20184
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
ARETT AR¥TR AR®T=x ARETT ARETT
RMB in RMB in RMB in RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands thousands thousands thousands
RETHHEREFE Net cash from operating activities 156,160 254,364 225,100 287,060 456,736

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIHEXREBERAT



[EEAL

“affiliate(s)”

[ESERMAA
LN

“Articles of Association” or

“Articles”

[BEA

“associate(s)”

[EE Q7]

“Bei Ai Company”

=34
“Board” or “Board of
Directors”

[EBEFH=]

“Business Cooperation
Agreement”

[&%H ]

“Business Day” or
“business day”

[REEEREHS ]
“BVI”

[N 242

“California School”

[EHRER

“Central China School”

B
DEFINITIONS

REMEEATIMS FTANEEREEEFHEEALIREESIEESIHEZS
RZHEESBEELREFNEMA L

with respect to any specific person, any other person, directly or indirectly, controlling or
controlled by or under direct or indirect common control with such specified person

AATR017EIA20B ERS4FEMANEABSERMA (B LT AERBERAR
TEHEET)

the articles of association of the Company conditionally adopted on 20 March 2017, as
effective upon the Listing Date and as amended from time to time

BB LEmRBFFET RS
has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

TREBEREHERERRET LR —ER2012F10B16 A RIEFBEEER L
WERLAR HEEREEZERG - LELARABRHBEERENEBETIHRE
P R EE I E

Beijing Aiyinsheng Education Investment Co., Ltd* (It RERH4AHBEREBREMT A
AJ) , a limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on 16 October 2012,
and wholly owned by Yun Ai Group. Bei Ai Company will act as the school sponsor of the
Gansu College upon the official establishment of the Gansu College

KATESE
the board of Directors of the Company

BEAR FESEHBEERRTERREN2016F9A8H 20185F10A8H -
2018F 128108 R2019F1 A1 B HTNEK S EHZE

the business cooperation agreement entered into by and among Huihuang Company, the PRC
Consolidated Affiliated Entities and the Registered Shareholders dated 8 September 2016, 8
October 2018, 10 December 2018 and 11 January 2019

EERIT-ROAZHERNEXEENEF (EBRX -EHASEELRBRAR
M)

a day on which banks in Hong Kong are generally open for business to the public and which
is not a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday in Hong Kong

REERRES
the British Virgin Islands

AEEBRMAGEEEMNRINERSSEHERE
a private higher education institute to be established by the Group in the State of California

HMARBERBFEER  —BR2003FEREBEFEEENINSEHEKE-
Science and Technology College of Hubei Minzu University* (Gt R iR 2B RIF 255 ) |
an institution of higher education established under the laws of the PRC in 2003.

2018 ANNUAL REPORT &% 213



214

B=
DEFINITIONS

[EREREFHZ

“Central China School

Cooperation Agreement”

[EHBERBR
SIREE R

“Central China School

Sponsor Right Transfer

Agreement”

[ B
“China” or “PRC”

[T A
“close associate(s)

»

NG
“Companies Ordinance”

(A8 CBER
B TE AR 3 1R 451
“Companies (WUMP)
Ordinance”

[A2F ]

“Company”

[BAEAZL]

“connected person(s)”

MR AR R

“Controlling Shareholder(s)”

RxZBRERF ATAINR2014F4A28EREFERBIT NS EHE (BEREMN
HAERKRERRBEEBRNESERE) Bl BEFATREXABEPERNE
EERERE

the cooperation agreement in respect of the Central China School ( B8 A2 ¥¥ 58 1t R R 2
BRI EBR S EREE) dated 28 April 2014, entered into between Minzu College and
Enhao Company, pursuant to which Enhao Company agreed to become a joint school sponsor
of the Central China School

Bina HBEREEQNTN2015F8 268 3T NER BN EEERZE Bk
B AARBEREAREREFERSEHBETHEINRSEIEETR
N

the school sponsor right transfer agreement dated 26 August 2015, entered into between
Enhao Company, Guo Hui ( ZB#&) and Enchang Company, pursuant to which Enhao Company
and Guo Hui (EB#&) agreed to transfer their rights and obligations under the Central China
School Cooperation Agreement to Enchang Company

REARANE BAREMS TEEEE - BFSITHRERASE
the People’s Republic of China excluding for the purpose of this report, Hong Kong, the
Macau Special Administrative Region and Taiwan

AEELWRAFMETHESR
has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BEBEBEC22E A BGRE - BT W R AE MG BN
the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) as the same may be
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

ERBEPERELAT CEBRRBEMSEO KA KFFET R UEME
ERCE

the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Chapter 32 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) as the same may be amended, supplemented or otherwise modified
from time to time

FEFSHEEERAT —BR2016FE7AHEHERETMALNERR
BRAH

China New Higher Education Group Limited (‘P EI#T & B EB AR 2 7)) , an exempted
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability on 8 July 2016

ERLETRAMETNRE

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

EELTRAUAFBETFHNERZ RBRXESEMEMN EXATZERRE B
Aspire Education Technology ~ Aspire Education Management + Aspire Education Consulting *
Aspire Education International & 2= 5t 4

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules and unless the context requires
otherwise, refers to the controlling shareholders of the Company, namely Aspire Education
Technology, Aspire Education Management, Aspire Education Consulting, Aspire Education
International and Mr. Li

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIHEXREBERAT



(O BEAL]
“core connected person(s)’

[E=]

“Director(s)”
[EERESE

“Directors’ Powers of
Attorney”

[BRELQF]

il

“Enchang Company”

B 7 49 17 %

“Equity Pledge Agreement”

[BERZBERG R
“Exclusive Call Option

Agreement”

[ %8 =R B9l AR 75 |2
BB AW E
“Exclusive Technical
Service and Management
Consultancy Agreement”

[BRAE]

“Fangzhou Company”

[H@EEk]

“Gansu College”

B=

DEFINITIONS
BEELMRBFABRFHES
has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules
KABES
the directors of the Company
BHEHEEERESE Y HHR20165F9A8H ~20185F1088H ~2018F 12810

AR2019F 1B 11BN ERESRES

the school directors’ power of attorney executed by each of the directors of each PRC
Operating School dated 8 September 2016, 8 October 2018, 10 December 2018 and 11
January 2019

EHEANESHERRAEREMELT  —EAN2014E11B13ERETB AR
RINERAFR -EHEEEEZEHE REEAHBERABELRERDERR
BEEHMBLE BELARABRAZEFERNESEREHRE

Enshi Autonomous Prefecture Changging Education Development Co., Ltd.* ( B 7E B 3& M
EEHERREAMEMEAT), a limited liability company established under the laws
of the PRC on 13 November 2014. It is wholly owned by Yun Ai Group. Enchang Company
will be a joint school sponsor of Central China School pending final approval of the MOE and
registration with the provincial civil affairs authorities

HNERR ZEEEBERKEBE QA N20165F988H 2018510880 20185128
108 R2019FF1 B11BRT Y IR EE | R

the equity pledge agreement entered into by and among the Registered Shareholders, Yun
Ai Group and Huihuang Company dated 8 September 2016, 8 October 2018, 10 December
2018 and 11 January 2019

BEAR -KMWHIEGREHEBEERRTERRERFMN201659A88H 2018
F10A8H 2018F12A10B R2019F 1 A1TBRT YN B RA B ENE

the exclusive call option agreement entered into by and among Huihuang Company, our PRC
Consolidated Affiliated Entities and the Registered Shareholders dated 8 September 2016, 8
October 2018, 10 December 2018 and 11 January 2019

BEARARERMANTESREHEERS S S5 M201659H8H +2018F10H8A »
2018F 12 A10B R2019F1AMBARI LN BREMBREREBZAG =

the exclusive technical service and management consultancy agreement entered into by and
among Huihuang Company and our PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities dated 8 September
2016, 8 October 2018, 10 December 2018 and 11 January 2019

EEMAELAGEZAERLAA —BER2016F3F16ARBEFBEEERILH
IEBELE UTAAEENZENE LA

Yunnan Daai Fangzhou Information Consultancy Co., Ltd.* (EEAZ A A EEZHE
PR 2 =) ) , a wholly foreign owned enterprise established under the laws of the PRC on 16
March 2016, and a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group

BMNEIXREBEMIRER  —BR04FEREFEEERNINBLISEHE
BB

College of Technology and Engineering* (BAMEB T KE2BE M TR EPT), an
independent institution of higher education established under the laws of the PRC in 2004

2018 ANNUAL REPORT &% 215



216

B=
DEFINITIONS

(A& | = [#AM]

“GI’OUDH, “we” or “us”

[BAZR

“Guangxi Schools”

[EMNER

“Guizhou School”

BUI=ES -3

“Henan Rongyu”

[SARER]
“Henan School”
(B & EWL]
“HK$”, “Hong Kong

dollar(s)”, “HKD" or
“cents”

[EBUEHREER
“HKFRSs”

[&#&]
“Hong Kong” or “HK”

RV NSl

“Huihuang Company”

KAT EFRENHEBAG HPEEEERRGEHBER IR FXEFFE
BRAATHNBEAMBARNEZERATZANHEMEREERELE R
SEBAFEKNER

the Company, its subsidiaries, our PRC Operating Schools and the consolidated affiliated
entities from time to time, or, where the context so requires in respect of the period before
the Company became the holding company of our present subsidiaries, the entities which
carried on the business of the present Group at the relevant time

ERAXEERBEER EAXAEEMBERNTERREAREABRBESR
RMTBPEZHE
together, Guangxi Yinghua International Occupation College* ( EE PR L ZE B PR B £ 2205 ) |
Guangxi Yinghua International Occupation and Technology School* ( /B 78 & 2 B PR B 2 12
MTE24% ) and Guangxi Yinghua International Occupation Middle School* ( & 78 2% 2 B B
BEZRHEBTE)

EMNIEBEZR —BA02F7AERBEFEEERYNRFSZEEH
BHE HERENERZHNEZEEZEHES AL RANGEHEER
Guizhou Technology and Business Institute* ( & M TRk ZE 8% ) |, a private institution of
formal higher education established under the laws of the PRC on 3 July 2012, of which the
school sponsor’s interest is wholly owned by Yun Ai Group and a consolidated affiliated entity
of the Company

MEREHAEEABTRAR — AR tF=ZA-HBRPERIZER
NE

Henann Rongyu Education Consulting Co., Ltd.* G & BB BEZHERLT), a
limited liability company established in the PRC on 2 March 2017

BERERESR — AR Z=ZFRXARBPEEEN I RIS EE
BB S

Luoyang Science and Technology Vocational College* (G& IS RI L BEZE 25 ) | a private
institution of formal higher education established under the laws of the PRC in June 2013

DRBBIREBN EERENEEEY
Hong Kong dollars and cents respectively, the lawful currency for the time being of Hong
Kong

BB REAEL
the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard(s)

FEEEBFITHRERE
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

FARAERBEENRKEERAT —BR2016F8ASBRBEFBEEEKRILINE
R A

Tibet Daai Huihuang Information and Technology Co., Ltd.* (A AZEEEERIESE
FR/AE)) , a limited liability company established on 5 August 2016 under the laws of the
PRC
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[ 3 1% 0 i

“Independent Third
Party(ies)”

[ £
“Listing”

[Em B
“Listing Date”

[Em#R A
“Listing Rules”

[ &K1 %

“Loan Agreement”

EXW

“Main Board”

[EEERAHA] R

PN
“Memorandum of
Association” or
“Memorandum”

[5x4
“Mr. Li"

[RAEER]

“Northeast School”

[Fadb &4 |
“Northwest School”

B=
DEFINITIONS

BYRAAT -HHBARAMNEE FETBRAESIFERR(EXR LT
RANFIKERANBBEAREREGEFAE (ERRLTRDVEARA
=

an individual(s) or a company(ies) who or which is/are independent of and not connected
with (within the meaning of the Listing Rules) any Director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder (within the meaning of the Listing Rules) of the Company, its subsidiaries or any
of their respective associates

IR A B SX P EAR £
the listing of our Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange

201754 B 19R
19 April 2017

R TE S LR A (BREEET)
The Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange, as amended from time
to time

BEANR - FEEEEREEZEEER2016F9A8HT LNER I H
a loan agreement entered into by and among Huihuang Company, the PRC Operating
Schools, and Yun Ai Group dated 8 September 2016

BXAMRENBSTEZM(TEEHEMS) BN XAGEME EH I 1T
E1E

the stock exchange (excluding the option market) operated by the Stock Exchange which is
independent from and operated in parallel with the GEM of the Stock Exchange

ARATR0N7EIB20AKANABERKE (KBLIFERT)

the memorandum of association of the Company adopted on 20 March 2017 and as
amended from time to time

ZEHEE  RANARA - HP—BERBRR EEEXTFERIITES
Mr. Li Xiaoxuan (Z=Z&F) , our founder, one of our Controlling Shareholders, chairman of
the Board and an executive Director

BRBEEEER —ER004FREFPEEZERINBYIKE RIELERAR
AEAMNGEHEEE

Harbin Huade University* (M EEBZE/EEFT ) |, an independent institute established under
the laws of the PRC in 2004. Northeast School is a consolidated affiliated entity of the
Company

it TR 2R
Northwest Technology and Business Institute* ( 78 4t T 7B 2 22 f% )
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[FEGEHEEE]

“PRC Consolidated
Affiliated Entities”

[HEEEZR]

“PRC Operating Schools”

[HARER]
“Prospectus”

[ 8RN 28 2 |

“Qinzhou Yinghua”

[E&RR]

“Registered Shareholders”

[AREE]
“RMB” or “Renminbi”
[EREEYE

“School Sponsors”

[ERERER
ESENETHE]

“School Sponsors’
and Directors’ Rights
Entrustment Agreement”

[ERB|RERES

“School Sponsors’ Powers
of Attorney”

[ REBE KRG
“SFO” or “Securities and
Futures Ordinance”

NEMANERERERTEEEER SEARLAANGREHESE
namely, our School Sponsors and our PRC Operating Schools, each a consolidated affiliated
entity of the Company

TEBHNGEHEER NEHER - EMNER THER RILBERER
BR

our consolidated affiliated entities, namely, Yunnan School, Guizhou School, Henan School,
Northeast School and Guangxi Schools

AATHEA2017F4AANEBRER
the prospectus of the Company dated 5 April 2017

PMREABEHEREERLAT —AR=Z2—tFNA-+HEBREDH
EERIZBRAT

Qinzhou Yinghua Datang Education Investment Company Limited (/N3 ZE K EHF R
EHBPMRATF ), a limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on 25
August 2017

EEEEMRE D24 HEHE - BRE AEe¥ BERE BERE-
LFBEBAXERFTHEAF

the shareholders of Yun Ai Group, namely Mr. Li, Pai Dui Pai, Ba Mu Pu, Daai Partnership,
Huihuang Investment, Chengxin Investment, Shanghai Taifu and Zhongyi Company

AR® HERENEEEY
Renminbi, the lawful currency for the time being of the PRC

REERENEEZEE TERE KHFELIR - FTIMEEURRKERER
ERERATARILERF

the current school sponsors, Yun Ai Group, Henan Rongyu, Haxuan Company, Qinzhou
Yinghua and the future school sponsor, Enchang Company and Bei Ai Company

ZESE - LEAT TALEER SPELEEERES R D TRN016
F9H8H ~2018%1088H ~2018F 128108 R2019F1 A 11 A FH TN ER B &
RESRMNETHZR

the school sponsors’ and directors’ rights entrustment agreement entered into by and
among Yun Ai Group, Bei Ai Company, the PRC Operating Schools, the directors of each PRC
Operating School and Huihuang Company dated 8 September 2016, 8 October 2018, 10
December 2018 and 11 January 2019

BEREBEREURBELNTNAZTR AR A A2016F988H 2018F10A8H -
20185128100 & 201918118

NERERERES

the school sponsors’ power of attorney executed by the School Sponsors in favor of Huihuang
Company dated 8 September 2016, 8 October 2018, 10 December 2018 and 11 January
2019

EREFENERSRPEGRS BFRBEITIRER
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as amended
and supplemented from time to time

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIHEXREBERAT



[ B ]
“Share(s)”

[BRER
“Shareholder(s)”

[RREEE

“Shareholders’ Powers of
Attorney”

R EN Z i

“Shareholders’ Rights
Entrustment Agreement”

[HE7R
“Southwest China”

[ e 3 7 |

“Spouse Undertakings”

[ B 32 P |
“Stock Exchange”
[EBHEE

“Structured Contracts”

(B8 23] J

“subsidiary(ies)”

[ERBR]

“substantial Shareholder(s)”

B=
DEFINITIONS

AATBBRAPEREENIETHEBR
ordinary share(s) of US$0.0001 each in the share capital of the Company

ROFEA
holder(s) of the Share(s)

CERRREESEEUBEARAS R AR I B A2016F9AHA MR RE
EE

the shareholders’ power of attorney executed by the Registered Shareholders and Yun Ai
Group in favor of Huihuang Company dated 8 September, 2016

HERR BREREREEDTR2016F9A8H ~2018F10H8H K 201951
BNBAETNREENZTHZ

the shareholders’ rights entrustment agreement entered into by and among the Registered
Shareholders, the School Sponsors and Huihuang Company dated 8 September 2016, 8
October 2018 and 11 January 2019

BEOINE - BNEREEEUREED
comprises Sichuan, Guizhou and Yunnan Provinces and Chongging Municipality

ZHEERNESH LT R20165F9H8H ~2018F 10888 K2019F1B11BHE LM
i {8 A 5

the spouse undertakings executed by Ms. Yang, the spouse of Mr. Li, dated 8 September
2016, 8 October 2018 and 11 January 2019

ERBERZABRAR
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

X(XBEFEHE BREMBRBEREEZAHE BRIABHEDGSE REER
HE RREMNETHZ BEREPERESEINZTHE ERERERRE
E EERREE RREREE EXBERBBEAENSR

collectively, the Business Cooperation Agreement, the Exclusive Technical Service and
Management Consultancy Agreement, the Exclusive Call Option Agreement, the Equity
Pledge Agreement, the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement, the School Sponsors’
and Directors’ Rights Entrustment Agreement, the School Sponsors’ Powers of Attorney, the
Directors’ Powers of Attorney, the Shareholders’ Powers of Attorney, the Loan Agreement and
the Spouse Undertakings

BEELTRAMBFHNERZ ARER WEBLAAEBRTEEEERRERE
W&

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules. For the avoidance of doubt, the
Subsidiaries include the PRC Operating Schools and the School Sponsors

EELMRBIMETFHIRSE
has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules
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[ #7522 B

“Xinjiang School

[EEEE] f5
“Yun Ai Group”
[EFMER] 5

“Yunnan School”

% | B
oy

FEMSREFKER —BR2003FEREFEEZENINRNISEERHE
i

Xinjiang University of Finance and Economics Business School ( #iB Bt & K25 ER ) |
a private higher education institution established in 2003 under the PRC law

EMERRAEREEEERAR (AR EHEERREERAAIRIE
MERAREEEERALAA])  —BR2005FIF19BREBEPEEERLINE
AT BELELE HHE BAB AZE6R BERE HERE-LBX
ENTZE AT D BIHEE29.8806%20.0568%5.7305%22.8102%1.2956%1.32%
15.5265% 8% 3.3822% - HAEMERR EMNERNWERENEH

Yunnan Einsun Education Investment Group Co., Lid* (EEEF KB BFREEBHR
A A1) (formerly known as “Yunnan Einsun Investment Co., Lid* (EmEHAZKREER
AF]) ” and “Yunnan Einsun Investment Group Co., Lid* (EEEREHZKREEEER
AA]) "), a limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on September
19, 2005, which is owned as to 29.8806% by Mr. Li, 20.0568% by Pai Dui Pai, 5.7305%
by Ba Mu Pu, 22.8102% by Daai Partnership, 1.2956% by Huihuang Investment, 1.32% by
Chengxin Investment, 15.5265% by Shanghai Taifu and 3.3822% by Zhongyi Company. It is
the school sponsor of the Yunnan School and the Guizhou School

EHIFER (FIREREERRMBEER [R42Kk]) - —BR2005F
IAVERBHBEEZERNINRNSSEREANEMRE HERERERZHE
EEER2EHRE AALANGEEHEER

Yunnan Technology and Business University* (ZE® T RIE2BT) (formerly known as Yunnan
Einsun Software Vocational College* ( E 7 B K R ¥ B £ 2 f ) (“Software College”)),
a private institution of formal higher education established under the laws of the PRC on
September 29, 2005, of which the school sponsor’s interest is wholly owned by Yun Ai Group
and a consolidated affiliated entity of the Company

Aotk
per cent

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIHEXREBERAT
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